Genetic evaluation of young adults with cancer

by

Maria Valeria Freire Chadrina

A thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Medicine University of Liege in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctorate in Medical Sciences

Supervised by Prof. Vincent Bours



2025

Abstract

The oligogenic coinheritance of heterozygous pathogenic variants (PVs) in cancer-related genes is a poorly studied event. Currently, due to the increment of cancer survivors and the the wide-spreading of next generation sequencing (NGS) methods, the probability of presenting multiple primary cancers (MPCs) and uncommon cancer-gene associations is higher.

This study included young MPCs patients and patients with single or MPCs and multiple PVs. NGS sequencing techniques of germline and tumoral DNA were used.

Ten patients with MPC were included in the study and presented a mean of three cancers per patient. Whole exome sequencing (WES) of the germline DNA identified 1-3 variants possibly related to the disease in each patient, and most of them were classified as variants of uncertain significance. Additionally, six patients from five MPCs families who coinherited PVs in two cancer predisposition genes, and three patients with metastatic colorectal cancer that were heterozygous for a previously known *BRCA1* nonsense variant were described.

The sequencing of patients with early cancers, family history and multiple tumors is already a standard of care. However, the growing evidence suggests that patient's assessment should not stop at the identification of one PV in a cancer predisposition gene.

Résumé

La co-hérédité oligogénique de variants pathogènes (VP) hétérozygotes dans les gènes liés au cancer est un événement peu étudié. Actuellement, en raison de l'augmentation du nombre de survivants du cancer et de la large diffusion des méthodes de séquençage de nouvelle génération (NGS), la probabilité de présenter plusieurs cancers primaires (PCP) et des associations rares de gènes de cancer est plus élevée.

Cette étude a inclus de jeunes patients atteints de PCP et des patients présentant un ou plusieurs PCP et plusieurs VP. Des techniques de séquençage NGS de l'ADN germinal et tumoral ont été utilisées.

Dix patients atteints de PCP ont été inclus dans l'étude et présentaient en moyenne 3 cancers par patient. Le WES de l'ADN germinal a identifié 1 à 3 variants possiblement liés à la maladie chez chaque patient, et la plupart d'entre eux ont été classés comme variants de signification incertaine. De plus, six patients de cinq familles PCP qui ont co-hérité de VP dans deux gènes de prédisposition au cancer, et trois patients atteints d'un cancer colorectal métastatique qui étaient hétérozygotes pour un variant non-sens *BRCA1* précédemment connu ont été décrits.

Le séquençage des patients présentant des cancers précoces, des antécédents familiaux et des tumeurs multiples constitue déjà une norme de soins. Cependant, de plus en plus de preuves suggèrent que l'évaluation du patient ne devrait pas s'arrêter à l'identification d'un variant pathogène dans un gène de prédisposition au cancer.

Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to those who have supported me throughout my PhD journey. First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. Vincent Bours, for his guidance, encouragement, and nurturing support over the years. This work would not have been possible without his mentorship. I am also thankful to my thesis committee for their valuable review and guidance.

I am extremely grateful to Télévie for their funding, which made this research possible. I would also like to extend my sincere thanks to Dr. Maria del Carmen Cabezas for igniting my passion for research and introducing me to the academic environment at Liege University.

A special thanks goes to Marianne Fertons for warmly welcoming me to Belgium and for her immense support during my initial months of settling in. Her kindness and guidance made a significant difference during a challenging time.

I am also grateful to Claire Josse and Aimé Lumaka for their invaluable guidance throughout my research. To all the members of the lab who have been there for me throughout this journey, thank you for your help and collaboration. I am fortunate to have worked alongside such talented and supportive colleagues.

On a personal note, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my parents, Fausto Freire and Olga Chadrina, whose example inspired me to pursue a PhD. I owe my strength and perseverance to them.

I also wish to thank my best friend, Francisco Yanez, for his constant moral support throughout this journey, and my husband, Dimitri Astashka, for his patience, love, and unwavering support. Their belief in me has been my greatest source of motivation.

Copyright © 2024 by Maria Valeria Freire, Université de Liège, Faculté de Médecine, Quartier Hôpital, Avenue Hippocrate 15, 4000 Liège, Belgium.

All right reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means, without the prior written permission of the author and supervisor.

This work has received funding from the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique – FNRS « Grant F.R.S.-FNRS – Télévie » (grant agreement 7451419F).

Table of contents

List of AbbreviationsIX
List of FiguresXI
List of TablesXII
Introduction1
Multiple primary cancers1
Definition1
Epidemiology4
Risk factors5
Diagnosis7
Screening and genetic counseling7
Genetic testing techniques23
Genomic instability and DNA damage response26
DNA damage
DNA repair
Genetics of multiple primary cancers
MPC development mechanisms
Monogenic inheritance. Cancer predisposition genes and syndromes
Digenic inheritance and oligogenic inheritance63
Polygenic risk scores and mutational signatures69
MPCs without familial predisposition71
Overview of the project and aim of the thesis73
Project structure
Objectives74
Uncommon cancer-gene associations74
Digenic inheritance
Multiple primary cancers74
General methods
Patient selection and data collection75
Genetic evaluation
Ethical approval
Part 1. Uncommon cancer-gene associations77
Part 2. Digenic inheritance
Part 3. Multiple primary cancers
General Discussion
BRCA1 germline variants can be involved in CRC development through HRD

Double heterozygous patients with PVs in HRD-related CPGs have a very high risk of cancer 112
The simultaneous presence of multiple germline variants can confer a significant cancer risk 113
Genetic cancer predisposition is a spectrum 114
Genetic counseling for multiple primary cancers 115
Limitations and future directions
Concluding remarks
Perspectives
Conclusions
References
AnnexesXIII
Digenic Inheritance of Mutations in Homologous Recombination Genes in Cancer Patients.
Supplementary data XIII
Genetic evaluation of patients with multiple primary cancers. Supplementary data XIX
Gene panel. Cancer-related genesXX
PostersXXVII

List of Abbreviations

ACMG	American College of Medical Genetics	IARC	International Agency for Research on
AD	Autosomal Dominant		Cancer
AP	Apurinic/Apyrimidinic	ICL	Interstrand Crosslinking
AR	Autosomal Recessive	LOH	Loss of Heterozygosity
BCC	Basal Cell Carcinoma	MAP	MUTYH-Associated Polyposis
BER	Base Excision Repair	MEN1	Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1
BHD	Birt–Hogg–Dubé	MEN2	Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 2
CMA	Chromosomal Microarray Analysis	MINAS	Multilocus Inherited Neoplasia Alleles
CNVs	Copy Number Variants		Syndrome
CPGs	Cancer Predisposition Genes	MMEJ	Microhomology Mediated End Joining
CPS	Cancer Predisposition Syndromes	MMR	Mismatch Repair
CRCs	Colorectal Cancers	MPCs	Multiple Primary Cancers
DDR	DNA Damage Response	MPM	Multiple Primary Melanoma
DR	Direct Repair	MSI	Microsatellite Instability
DSBs	Double-strand Breaks	NCCN	National Comprehensive Cancer
dx	Diagnosis		Network
ExAC	Exome Aggregation Consortium	NER	Nucleotide Excision Repair
FA	Fanconi Anemia	NF1	Neurofibromatosis Type 1
FA/BRCA	Fanconi Anemia/Breast Cancer	NGS	Next Generation Sequencing
FAP	Familial Adenomatous Polyposis	NHEJ	Nonhomologous End Joining
FFPE	Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded	OGM	Optical Genome Mapping
FISH	Fluorescence in situ Hybridization	P/LP	Pathogenic or Likely Pathogenic
GG	Global Genome	PARPi	Poly (ADP-ribose) Polymerase Inhibitor
GIST	Familial Gastrointestinal Stromal	PET-CT	Positron Emission Tomography-
	Tumor		Computed Tomography
GWAS	Genome-Wide Association Studies	PGL/PCC	Hereditary Paraganglioma-
HBOC	Hereditary Breast-Ovarian Cancer		Pheochromocytoma
HDGC	Hereditary Diffuse Gastric Cancer	PJS	Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome
HDR	Homology-Directed Repair	PKcs	Protein Kinase catalytic subunit
HLRCC	Hereditary Leiomyomatosis and Renal	PPAP	Polymerase Proofreading-Associated
	Cell Cancer		Polyposis
HR	Homologous Recombination	PRS	Polygenic Risk Scores
HRD	Homologous Recombination	PVs	Pathogenic Variants
	Deficiency	RCC	Renal Cell Carcinoma

ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species	TC	Transcription-Coupled
RTK	Receptor Tyrosine Kinases	TSC	Tuberous Sclerosis Complex
SEER	National Cancer Institute Surveillance,	US	United States of America
	Epidemiology, and End Results	UV-DDB	UV-Damaged DNA-Binding Protein
	Program	VHL	Von Hippel-Lindau
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism	VUS	Variants of Uncertain Significance
SNVs	Single Nucleotide Variants	WES	Whole Exome Sequencing
SSA	Single-Strand Annealing	WGS	Whole-Genome Sequencing
SSBs	Single-Strand DNA Breaks	XL	X-linked

List of Figures

Figure 1. Ten most common primary sites among men and women diagnosed with more than one
cancer alive as of January 1, 20054
Figure 2. Multiple primary cancer risk factors5
Figure 3. Overview of genetic testing techniques23
Figure 4. Types of DNA damage factors27
Figure 5. Types of DNA lesions and mutations with estimated frequencies in human cells29
Figure 6. Activation of DNA pathways during different cell cycle phases
Figure 7. DNA repair pathways
Figure 8. Multiple primary cancers development mechanisms and hereditary syndromes
Figure 9. Circos plots illustrating combinations of cancer predisposition genes involved in individual
cases of MINAS (n = 385)64
Figure 10. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a colorectal cancer family65
Figure 11. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a colorectal cancer family66
Figure 12. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a family with a proband with multiple cancers66
Figure 13. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a family with a proband with multiple colorectal
cancers
Figure 14. Spectrum of distribution of susceptibility alleles according to their frequency and strength
of genetic effect
Figure 15. Cancer predisposition spectrum

List of Tables

Table 1. Multiple primary cancers definition and classification according to different authors	1
Table 2. The main differences between the SEER and IARC MPCs classification of solid tumors	3
Table 3. Criteria for considering genetic testing	8
Table 4. Asessment of cancer predisposition by tumor type	9
Table 5. Endogenous and exogenous DNA damaging agents	.28
Table 6. List of hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes	.38
Table 7. Nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome criteria	.43
Table 8. Tumors associated with Lynch syndrome	.44
Table 9. Tumors associated with Li–Fraumeni syndrome	.45
Table 10. Tuberous sclerosis complex criteria	.46
Table 11. Cowden syndrome diagnostic criteria	.47
Table 12. Birt–Hogg–Dubé syndrome criteria	.48
Table 13. HBOC and candidate HBOC genes predisposing genes	.50
Table 15. Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer criteria	.56
Table 16. Inclusion criteria for the studies	.75
Table 17. Genetic evaluation in the studies	76

Introduction

Multiple primary cancers

Cancer is a leading cause of premature death worldwide, and the global cancer burden is expected to exceed 27 million new cancer cases per year by 2040 (1). In recent years, advances in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer have increased the probability of survival of the patients, making the development of a subsequent cancer a growing concern (2).

Definition

Multiple primary cancers (MPCs) are generally defined as two or more malignant tumors that are histologically distinct and arise in the same or a different organ (3). Historically, Renaud and Rokitansky reported the first MPC patient in 1855 (4). However, it was Theodor Billroth in 1889 who proposed the first diagnostic criteria for MPCs (5,6), followed by Warren and Gates (7) in 1932. Moertel considered Billroth's criteria to be too rigid, while Warren's criteria were subjected to an excessively liberal interpretation. Consequently, in 1977 Moertel published his classification (6) with examples of each category (see Table 1).

Table 1. Multiple primary cancers definition and classification according to different authors

Billroth criteria, 1889

- 1. Each tumor must have a distinct microscopic morphology.
- 2. Each tumor should generate its own metastases.

Warren and Gates Criteria, 1932

- 1. Each tumor must be histologically proven as malignant.
- 2. Each tumor must be anatomically distinct.
- 3. The probability of one being a metastatic lesion originating from the other must be ruled out.

Moertel criteria, 1977

- I. Multiple primary malignant neoplasms of multicentric origin.
 - A. The same tissue and organ (for example, multiple epitheliomas of the skin).

- B. A common, contiguous tissue shared by different organs (for example, a squamous cell carcinoma of the pharynx and a squamous cell carcinoma of the larynx).
- C. The same tissue in bilaterally paired organs (for example, bilateral breast cancer).
- II. Multiple primary malignant neoplasms of different tissues or organs (for example, an adenocarcinoma of the breast and an osteogenic sarcoma, or a squamous cell carcinoma of the mouth and a squamous cell carcinoma of the cervix).
- III. Multiple primary malignant neoplasms of multicentric origin plus a lesion(s) of a different tissue or organ (it is a combination of I and II).

The American Cancer Society in 2009 proposed a more detailed list of criteria (2) for considering each tumor as a separate primary. These conditions include:

- A cancer in a different site and histologic type from the original is considered a separate primary.
- Same-site cancers of different histological types are considered separate primaries regardless of the time of diagnosis.
- The threshold for considering a cancer of the same histology in the same site as a separate tumor is 2 months unless a recurrent or metastatic disease is specifically stated in the medical record.
- In paired organs, each one is considered a separate site.
- Most histological types of prostate and urinary bladder cancer are exceptions multiple tumors are reported as a single primary in these cases.
- The rules to define MPCs in the lymphatic and hematopoietic systems are different.

The development of epidemiological cancer surveillance and the creation of cancer registries created a need for more strictly defined criteria for MPC. Currently, for reporting purposes two main sets of criteria are used: the National Cancer Institute Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program (SEER) (8) mainly in the United States of America (US) and the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) (9) in the rest of the world. Both classifications use different rules for solid tumors and hematological malignancies.

The SEER generally defines as MPCs separate/non-contiguous tumors in different primary sites excluding metastasis and separate/non-contiguous tumors in the same primary site but of different histology regardless of time. The SEER and IARC classifications have some differences which are further explained in Table 2.

Criteria Topography codes of the	National Cancer Institute Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results Program (SEER)(8) Each group is considered one	International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)(9) Several groups are considered
International	site (e.g. tumors of different parts	one site (e.g. the whole colon is
Classification of	of the colon are considered	considered one site)
Diseases for Oncology	MPCs)	
The time between the original diagnosis/last recurrence and the new tumor	5 years for breast, head, and neck cancer 3 years for urinary tissue, lung, and kidney cancer 1 year for colon and other cancers	Time is not a defining criterion
Paired organs or tissues	Separate/non-contiguous tumors in paired organs are considered MPCs	Only one tumor is recognized in each paired organ or tissue
Multifocal tumors	Can be considered MPCs depending on histology*	Are always considered one tumor
Skin cancer	Multiple skin tumors are	Only the first tumor of a specific
	considered MPCs (even with the	histological type is considered an
	same histology)	incident tumor during a person's lifetime

MPCs – multiple primary cancers. *Specific histological subtypes that are considered MPCs: micropapillary urothelial carcinoma and urothelial carcinoma of the bladder; at least one small cell carcinoma (or its subtypes/variants) combined with a non-small cell carcinoma (or its subtypes/variants) irrelevant of laterality; the combination of a first glial tumor followed by a glioblastoma multiforme; subsequent small cell carcinoma of the prostate >1 year following a diagnosis of acinar adenocarcinoma or its subtypes; follicular and papillary tumors in the thyroid gland diagnosed >60 days; anaplastic thyroid gland carcinoma combined with a tumor of any other histology.

MPCs can also be divided into synchronous and metachronous according to the time between the diagnosis of the tumors. SEER defines synchronous cancers as those present within 2 months since the diagnosis of the first tumor (8), while the IARC sets this threshold at 6 months (9).

Epidemiology

The increased cancer survival due to improvements in early detection, supportive care, and treatment augmented over time the probability of developing more than one cancer (10,11). As of January 2005, 880 300 of the 11 million cancer survivors in the US were diagnosed with more than one cancer (2). Furthermore, the risk of developing a second primary malignancy is different in each cancer site (see Figure 1).

Figure 1. Ten most common primary sites among men and women diagnosed with more than one cancer alive as of January 1, 2005



Note: Adapted from (2) and created with BioRender.com.

The frequency of MPCs in epidemiological studies varies between 2-17% (12–16). The variation in the reported numbers may stem from differences in the applied definition of MPCs, the duration of followup (where longer observation periods are associated with an increased likelihood of subsequent cancer development), and the characteristics of the studied population (11).

In the period 2004-2017, MPCs accounted for 12.2% of cases in Belgium. About 90% of these MPCs were a second primary cancer, while 9% were a third primary cancer. The fourth or higher primary cancer represented less than 1% of all the MPCs. In the same period, 67 344 (8.3%) of patients had at least two primary cancers, and 5 804 patients (8.6% of patients with at least two primary cancers) had the first

and second primary cancer diagnosed on the same day. The majority (70.2%) of MPC patients in Belgium had the same cancer site for their first and second cancer, primarily breast and colorectal cancer (CRC) for women and CRC and head and neck cancers for men (17).

Risk factors

The probability of developing MPCs in the cancer patient population is higher than the incidence of primary malignancies in the general population. In most of the patients from the National Cancer Institute of the US registry who survived their first cancer, a second cancer was expected even if the cancer survivors had the same risk of disease as the general population. The likelihood of a person developing more than one cancer depends on the initial cancer type (the first primary site), treatment, lifestyle factors, environment, host factors, and gene-gene or gene-environment interactions (2) (See Figure 2).



Figure 2. Multiple primary cancer risk factors



Lifestyle factors

Lifestyle risk factors for the development of MPCs include smoking status, alcohol consumption, and dietary patterns, among others. Tobacco and tobacco smoke contain over 9500 chemical compounds, 83 of which are known carcinogens (19). Exposure to these substances over time can trigger field cancerization, leading to the formation of multiple patches of transformed cells, mainly in the respiratory and urinary systems. These cells can later evolve into second or subsequent cancers (20).

Smoking is a well-established risk factor for developing new malignancies and cancer recurrence (21). Both former and current smokers face elevated risks of developing MPCs compared to those who have never smoked (22). Furthermore, individuals who continued smoking after their initial cancer diagnosis exhibited a 35% increased risk of developing smoking-related cancers (23).

Similar to tobacco, alcoholic beverages contain many carcinogens, with ethanol serving as their primary carcinogenic compound. The IARC classified alcohol consumption and ethanol in alcoholic beverages as carcinogenic (24). Alcohol consumption was linked to various cancers, including those of the oral cavity, oro- and hypopharynx, larynx, esophagus, colon, rectum, liver, intrahepatic bile duct, and female breast (1). Alcohol intake contributes to 8% of cancer incidence in France (25), 3% in Australia (26), and 4% in the UK (27).

Environmental influences

Environmental factors such as geography, contamination, pathogens, and occupation play significant roles in cancer development. Areas of radon exposure have shown an increased risk of lung cancer. Additionally, infections caused by pathogens such as human papillomavirus and Epstein-Barr virus have been linked to cancer development. Certain professions, like those involving asbestos handling, are linked to cancers such as mesothelioma (28). In France, infections ranked fifth (accounting for 4.0% of cancer incidence), while environmental exposures ranked sixth (3.6% of cancer incidence) among the leading causes of cancer in 2015 (25).

Host factors

Host risk factors associated with developing MPCs encompass age, sex, genetics, immune function, hormonal profile, and other factors. Age is a non-modifiable risk factor for MPC development. Moreover, among individuals who have survived cancer, one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality was the emergence of a second cancer (29). Studies have revealed that people who survived childhood cancer had a six-fold increased risk of developing cancer compared to the general population (30). In the US, those diagnosed with cancer before the age of 18 had 9.4% higher odds of having two or more cancers (p = 0.0057) compared to the reference age group (18-29 years). In the same study, the individuals who developed their first cancer at 30-49 years and 50-64 years had 20.5% and 13.7% higher odds of developing more than one cancer (p < 0.0001 in both cases). On the contrary, people who developed their first cancer after 65 years old had 11.6% lower odds of having MPCs than those 18-29 years old (p < 0.0001) (22).

Gender is another non-modifiable host risk factor significantly associated with the number of cancers (22). Data from 1995-2008 revealed higher rates of MPCs among females compared to males, with 17.2% according to SEER rules and 14.5% according to IARC rules for females versus 15.8% (SEER) and 14.4% (IARC) for males (14). Furthermore, individuals undergoing prolonged immunosuppression, such as organ transplant recipients, face a higher risk of developing skin, lung, and head and neck cancer (31).

6

Diagnosis

The development of new imaging methods allowed the early detection of tumors that were previously ignored. The techniques that allow a better view of soft tissue, such as positron emission tomography-computed tomography (PET-CT) have enhanced the detection of additional malignant tumors. After a PET-CT scan in 1912 patients, 4.1% of suspicious lesions were identified, 1.2% of which were histologically confirmed second primaries (32). These tumors were in the thyroid, colon, breast, esophagus, bile duct, and head and neck. In 200 patients who underwent a PET-CT scan for esophageal cancer staging, a synchronous MPC was identified in 17% of them (33).

An atypical metastatic spread is one of multiple clinical characteristics that can indicate a high possibility of MPCs. Tumor metastases can be atypical in terms of their characteristics or site (prostate cancer with radiologically lytic bone metastases), number (head and neck cancer with a single pulmonary nodule), and chronology (new metastatic spread years after initial diagnosis). Other features that may suggest a high likelihood of MPCs are the recurrence in patients exposed to environmental carcinogens, atypical values in tumor markers (prostate cancer with low prostate-specific antigen and extensive liver metastases), and imaging (discovery of suspicious lesions during staging or follow-up). Previous treatment of the individuals is also important. Hematological malignancy in patients with previous chemotherapy or secondary malignancies (especially if in the same site) after radiotherapy can be a sign of high MPC risk (28).

When MPCs are suspected, histological confirmation is important. When the primary cancer tissue is available for diagnosis, it makes the diagnosis easier, especially in cases of undifferentiated histology (28).

Screening and genetic counseling

Cancer genetic risk assessment and counseling involve a comprehensive process to identify and advise high-risk cancer patients and their families. Advancements in cancer genetics, including the expanded adoption of multigene panel testing, have transformed the clinical approach to screening high-risk patients and their families. Strategies that streamline the screening process are the search for a known pathogenic variant (PV) identified in a relative or testing of individuals with early-onset disease, multiple relatives with cancer, or MPCs (See Table 3). Generally, genetic testing is recommended for those with personal or family history suggestive of genetic cancer susceptibility when the results will aid in risk management and treatment (34).

Table 3. Criteria for considering genetic testing

- A relative presenting a confirmed pathogenic germline variant associated with increased susceptibility to cancer.
- Diagnosis of cancer at an early age, such as colon cancer before age 50.
- Occurrence of multiple distinct cancer types in the same individual.
- Cancer diagnoses across multiple relatives, particularly with patterns such as:
 - Several first-degree relatives affected by the same type of cancer.
 - Family history, including breast or ovarian cancer.
 - Family history, including both colon and endometrial cancer.
- Cancer affecting both paired organs, such as the two kidneys or breasts.
- Diagnosis of male breast cancer, adrenocortical carcinoma, carcinoid tumors, diffuse gastric cancer, fallopian tube/primary peritoneal cancer, leiomyosarcoma, medullary thyroid cancer, paraganglioma/pheochromocytoma, renal cell carcinoma of chromophobe, hybrid oncocytotic, or oncocytoma histology, sebaceous carcinoma, or sex cord tumors with annual tubules.
- Presence of birth defects linked to recognized inherited cancer syndromes, such as specific non-cancerous conditions or physical anomalies.
- Being a member of a racial or ethnic group with documented increased susceptibility to specific inherited cancer syndromes, and having one or more of the above features as well

Note: Adapted from (35,36)

Predictive genetic testing identifies inherited gene PVs, enabling the prediction of an individual's susceptibility to specific types of cancer and future disease risks (37). Unlike traditional diagnostic tests, these assessments are designed to detect potential health issues before the onset of symptoms, allowing for the early identification of individuals at risk (38)

Multigene testing can detect pathogenic or likely pathogenic (P/LP) variants that remain undetected by single-gene testing. This strategy is particularly beneficial when multiple genes could explain an inherited cancer syndrome, making phenotype-directed testing through a multigene panel more efficient and/or cost-effective based on personal and family history. It may also be considered for individuals with suggestive family history despite negative testing for a specific syndrome (34,39–41).

Genetic counseling for patients with MPCs should adhere to several key principles. Firstly, if a PV is identified, relatives should be offered testing for that specific PV, and subsequent counseling should be tailored accordingly. In instances where no PV is found, counseling should be based on the individual tumor types observed in the proband, rather than the combination. For instance, if a woman has experienced multiple primary colon and breast cancers, her daughters should be provided with appropriate screening for both colon and breast cancer, tailored to the age at which their mother was diagnosed (42). Table 4 includes common tumor sites and the criteria that warrant assessment for cancer predisposition with the most frequent genes.

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
Basal cell carcinoma	>5 cumulative BCCs or BCC dx at age <30 and one	Nevoid basal cell	AD	PTCH1	109400
(BCC)	additional nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome	carcinoma syndrome		SUFU	607035
	criterion (See Table 7) in the same person				
Brain	Brain tumor dx at age <18 if any of the following criteria	Constitutional	AR	MLH1, PMS2,	276300,
	are met:	mismatch repair		MSH6, MSH2	600259,
	–Café-au-lait macules and/or other signs of NF1, or	deficiency syndrome			600678,
	hypopigmented skin lesions				609309
	-Consanguineous parents				
	–Family history of Lynch syndrome-associated cancer				
	–Second primary cancer				
	–Sibling with a childhood cancer				
	Brain tumor and two additional cases of any Lynch	Lynch syndrome	AD	MSH2, MLH1,	120435,
	syndrome-associated cancer (See Table 8) in the same			PMS2, MSH6	120436,
	person or relatives				600259,
					600678

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	Brain tumor and one additional Li-Fraumeni syndrome tumor (See Table 9) in the same person or two relatives, one dx at age ≤45	Li-Fraumeni syndrome	AD	TP53	151623
	Astrocytoma and melanoma in the same person or two first-degree relatives	Melanoma-astrocytoma syndrome	AD	CDKN2A	155755
	Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma and one additional Tuberous sclerosis complex criterion (See Table 10) in the same person	Tuberous sclerosis complex	AD	TSC1, TSC2	191100, 191092
	Medulloblastoma and ≥10 cumulative adenomatous colon polyps in the same person	Familial adenomatous polyposis	AD	APC	175100
	Medulloblastoma (Primitive Neuro Ectodermal Tumors) dx at age <18 and one additional nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome criterion (See Table 7) in the same person	Basal cell nevus syndrome	AD	PTCH1	109400

AD – autosomal dominant, AR – autosomal recessive, BCC – Basal cell carcinoma, dx – diagnosis, NF1 – neurofibromatosis type 1, RCC – renal cell carcinoma, XL – X-linked. *Note:* adapted from: (57)

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
Breast cancer,	Breast cancer dx at age ≤50	Hereditary breast and	AD	BRCA1, BRCA2,	604370,
female	Triple-negative breast cancer dx at age ≤60	ovarian cancer		PALB2	612555,
	≥2 primary breast cancers in the same person	syndrome			610355
	Ashkenazi Jewish ancestry and breast cancer at any age			7050	454000
	≥3 cases of breast, ovarian, pancreatic, and/or	LI-Fraumeni syndrome	AD	1P53	151623
	aggressive prostate cancer in close relatives, including				
	the patient				
	Breast cancer and one additional Li-Fraumeni syndrome				
	tumor (See Table 9) in the same person or in two				
	relatives, one dx at age ≤45				
	Breast cancer and \geq 1 Peutz-Jeghers polyp in the same	Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome	AD	STK11	175200
	person				
	Lobular breast cancer and diffuse gastric cancer in the	Diffuse gastric and	AD	CDH1	137215
	same person	lobular breast cancer			
	Lobular breast cancer in one relative and diffuse gastric	syndrome			
	cancer in another, one dx at age <50				

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	Breast cancer and two additional Cowden syndrome criteria (See Table 11) in the same person	Cowden syndrome	AD	PTEN	158350
Breast cancer, male	Single case present	Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndrome	AD	BRCA1, BRCA2, PALB2	604370, 612555, 610355
Colorectal cancer	Colorectal cancer dx at age <50 Colorectal cancer dx at age ≥ 50 if there is a first-degree relative with colorectal or endometrial cancer at any age Synchronous or metachronous colorectal or	Lynch syndrome	AD	MSH2, MLH1, PMS2, MSH6	120435, 120436, 600259, 600678
	endometrial cancers in the same person Colorectal cancer showing mismatch repair deficiency on tumor screening Colorectal cancer and two additional cases of any	Mismatch repair cancer syndrome	AR	MLH1	276300
	Lynch syndrome-associated cancer (See Table 8) in the same person or close relatives	<i>MUTYH</i> -associated polyposis	AR	МИТҮН	608456

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	Colorectal cancer and two additional Cowden syndrome criteria (See Table 11) in the same person	Cowden syndrome	AD	PTEN	158350
	Colorectal cancer and one additional Li-Fraumeni syndrome tumor (See Table 9) in the same person or two relatives, one dx at age ≤45	Li-Fraumeni syndrome	AD	TP53	151623
	Colorectal cancer with ≥10 cumulative adenomatous colon polyps in the same person	<i>MUTYH</i> -associated polyposis	AR	МИТҮН	608456
		Familial adenomatous polyposis	AD	APC	175100
Endometrial cancer	Endometrial cancer dx at age <50	Lynch syndrome	AD	MSH2, MLH1,	120435,
	Endometrial cancer dx at age \geq 50 if there is a first-			PMS2, MSH6	120436,
	degree relative with colorectal or endometrial cancer at				600259,
	any age				600678
	Synchronous or metachronous colorectal or				
	endometrial cancer in the same person				

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	Endometrial cancer showing mismatch repair deficiency on tumor screening Endometrial cancer and 2 additional cases of any Lynch syndrome-associated cancer (See Table 8) in the same person or in close relatives				
	Epithelial endometrial cancer and two additional Cowden syndrome criteria (See Table 11) in the same person	Cowden syndrome	AD	PTEN	158350
Gastric cancer	 ≥2 cases of gastric cancer, one dx at age <50 in close relatives ≥3 cases of gastric cancer in close relatives Diffuse gastric cancer dx at age <40 Diffuse gastric cancer and lobular breast cancer in the same person Diffuse gastric cancer in one relative and lobular breast cancer in another, one dx at age <50 	Diffuse gastric and lobular breast cancer syndrome	AD	CDH1	137215

AD – autosomal dominant, AR – autosomal recessive, BCC – Basal cell carcinoma, dx – diagnosis, NF1 – neurofibromatosis type 1, RCC – renal cell carcinoma, XL – X-linked. *Note:* adapted from: (57)

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ОМІМ
	Gastric cancer and 2 additional cases of any Lynch	Lynch syndrome	AD	MSH2, MLH1,	120435,
	syndrome -associated cancer (See Table 8) in the same			PMS2, MSH6	120436,
	person or in close relatives				600259,
					600678
Leukemia	Leukemia dx at age <18, if any of the following criteria	Constitutional	AR	MLH1, PMS2,	276300,
	are met:	mismatch repair		MSH6, MSH2	600259,
	-Café-au-lait macules and/or other signs of NF1, or	deficiency syndrome			600678,
	hypopigmented skin lesions				609309
	-Consanguineous parents				
	-Family history of Lynch syndrome-associated cancers				
	-Second primary cancer				
	-Sibling with childhood cancer				
	Leukemia and one additional Li-Fraumeni syndrome	Li-Fraumeni syndrome	AD	TP53	151623
	(See Table 9) in the same person or 2 close relatives,				
	one dx at age ≤45				

AD – autosomal dominant, AR – autosomal recessive, BCC – Basal cell carcinoma, dx – diagnosis, NF1 – neurofibromatosis type 1, RCC – renal cell carcinoma, XL – X-linked. *Note:* adapted from: (57)

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
Melanoma	 ≥3 cases of melanoma and/or pancreatic cancer in close relatives ≥3 primary melanomas in the same person Melanoma and pancreatic cancer in the same person Melanoma and astrocytoma in the same person or 2 	Familial atypical mole and malignant melanoma Melanoma-astrocytoma syndrome	AD AD	CMM1 CDKN2A	155600 155755
Ovarian/Fallopian tube/primary peritoneal cancer	Single case present in the patient or a first-degree relative	Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndrome	AD	BRCA1, BRCA2, PALB2	604370, 612555, 610355
		Lynch syndrome	AD	MSH2, MLH1, PMS2, MSH6	120435, 120436, 600259, 600678
Pancreatic cancer	Pancreatic cancer dx at any age, if any of the following criteria are met: -≥2 cases of pancreatic cancer in close relatives	Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndrome	AD	BRCA1, BRCA2, PALB2	604370, 612555, 610355

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	 -≥2 cases of breast, ovarian, and/or aggressive prostate cancer in close relatives -Ashkenazi Jewish ancestry 				
	Pancreatic cancer and ≥1 Peutz–Jeghers polyp in the same person	Peutz-Jeghers Syndrome	AD	STK11	175200
	Pancreatic cancer and two additional cases of any Lynch syndrome -associated cancer (See Table 8) in the same person or close relatives	Lynch syndrome	AD	MSH2, MLH1, PMS2, MSH6	120435, 120436, 600259, 600678
	≥3 cases of pancreatic cancer and/or melanoma in close relatives Pancreatic cancer and melanoma in the same person	Familial atypical mole and malignant melanoma	AD	CMM1	155600
Prostate cancer	\ge 2 cases of prostate cancer dx at age \le 55 in close relatives	Hereditary prostate cancer	AD	RNASEL HOXB13	601518 610997
	≥3 first-degree relatives with prostate cancer		XL	AR Xq27-q28	176807 300147

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	Aggressive (Gleason score >7) prostate cancer and ≥2 cases of breast, ovarian, and/or pancreatic cancer in close relatives	Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndrome	AD	BRCA1, BRCA2, PALB2	604370, 612555, 610355
Renal cancer	RCC with clear cell histology, if any of the following criteria are met: -dx at age <50	von Hippel-Lindau syndrome	AD	VHL	193300
	-Bilateral or multifocal tumors -≥1 close relative with clear cell RCC	Birt-Hogg-Dube syndrome	AD	FLCN	135150
	RCC with papillary type 1 histology	Hereditary papillary renal cancer		PRCC MET	605074 605074
	RCC with papillary type 2 histology RCC with collecting duct histology RCC with tubulopapillary histology	Hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer	AD	FH	150800
	RCC with Birt-Hogg-Dube-related histology (chromophobe, oncocytoma, oncocytic hybrid)	Birt-Hogg-Dube syndrome	AD	FLCN	135150

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ОМІМ
	Urothelial carcinoma (or transitional cell carcinoma) and 2 additional cases of any Lynch syndrome- associated cancer (See Table 8) in the same person or in relatives	Lynch syndrome	AD	MSH2, MLH1, PMS2, MSH6	120435, 120436, 600259, 600678
	RCC and 2 additional Cowden syndrome criteria (See Table 11) in the same person	Cowden syndrome	AD	PTEN	158350
	Angiomyolipomas of the kidney and one additional Tuberous sclerosis complex criterion (See Table 10) in the same person	Tuberous sclerosis complex	AD	TSC1, TSC2	191100, 191092
Thyroid cancer	Medullary thyroid cancer, OMIM	Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2	AD	RET	171400, 155240, 162300
	Nonmedullary thyroid cancer and one additional Carney complex criterion in the same person: -Spotty skin pigmentation on lips, conjunctiva and inner	Carney complex	AD	PRKAR1A	160980

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	or outer canthi, and/or vaginal or penile mucosa				
	-Myxoma (cutaneous and mucosal)				
	-Cardiac myxoma				
	-Breast myxomatosis or fat-suppressed magnetic				
	resonance imaging findings suggestive of this diagnosis				
	-Acromegaly due to growth hormone–producing				
	adenoma				
	-Large cell calcifying Sertoli cell tumor or characteristic				
	calcification on testicular ultrasonography				
	-Primary pigmented nodular adrenocortical dysplasia				
	-Thyroid carcinoma (nonmedullary) or multiple				
	hypoechoic nodules on thyroid ultrasonography in a				
	young patient				
	-Psammomatous melanotic schwannoma				
	-Blue nevus, epithelioid blue nevus (multiple)				
	-Breast ductal adenoma (multiple)				
	-Osteochondromyxoma				

AD – autosomal dominant, AR – autosomal recessive, BCC – Basal cell carcinoma, dx – diagnosis, NF1 – neurofibromatosis type 1, RCC – renal cell carcinoma, XL – X-linked. *Note:* adapted from: (57)

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
	Nonmedullary thyroid cancer and 2 additional Cowden syndrome criteria (See Table 11) in the same person	Cowden syndrome	AD	PTEN	158350
	Papillary thyroid cancer (cribriform-morular variant)	Familial adenomatous polyposis	AD	APC	175100
Sarcoma (non-Ewing sarcoma)	Sarcoma and one additional Li-Fraumeni syndrome tumor (See Table 9) in the same person or in 2 close relatives, one dx at age ≤45 -Sarcoma dx at age <18	Li-Fraumeni syndrome	AD	TP53	151623
Pheochromocytoma/	Single case present in the patient or a first-degree	Hereditary	AD	SDHB	115310
paraganglioma	relative	pheochromocytoma/	AD	SDHD	168000
		paraganglioma	AD	SDHC	605373
		syndrome	AD	SDHAF2	601650
			AD	MAX	154950
			AD	TMEM127	613403

Cancer in the patient or first- degree relative	Genetic counseling reference criteria	Syndrome(s) to consider	Inheritance	Gene/locus	ΟΜΙΜ
		von Hippel-Lindau syndrome	AD	VHL	193300
		Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2	AD	RET	171400
Retinoblastoma	Single case present in the patient or a first-degree relative	Hereditary retinoblastoma	AD	RB1	180200

22
Genetic testing techniques

Genetic testing techniques for cancer predisposition include cytogenetics, microarrays, DNA and RNA sequencing (See Figure 3). Classical cytogenetic studies rely on two main methods: karyotyping and fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH). These two methods involve microscopic examination of chromosomes in individual cells or tissues fixed on a microscope slide (43). A karyotype is a visual representation of the number and structure of chromosomes, offering a low-resolution, genome-wide screening method for detecting chromosomal variants. This method is limited to living, actively dividing cells analyzed during metaphase, when chromosomes are at their most condensed state. A karyotype can identify numerical and structural chromosomal abnormalities visible under a microscope, such as gains or losses of chromosomes, as well as deletions, insertions, duplications, and translocations spanning approximately 5–10 megabases. Notably, this method enables direct evaluation of genomic complexity, clonal evolution, and unrelated clones within individual cells, facilitating the classification of abnormalities within a clone and distinguishing between related or unrelated clones. A key advantage of a karyotype lies in its ability to detect clones present at very low frequencies in a sample, particularly in myeloid neoplasms (43,44).





CMA – Chromosomal Microarray, CNV – Copy Number Variant, FISH – fluorescence in situ hybridization, MLPA – Multiplex Ligation-Dependent Probe Amplification, NGS – Next-Generation Sequencing, OGM – Optical Genome Mapping, SNV – Single Nucleotide Variant, WES – Whole Exome Sequencing, WGS – Whole Genome Sequencing.

FISH utilizes fluorescently labeled DNA probes specifically designed to target recurrent, clinically significant chromosomal rearrangements or copy number variations. Unlike karyotyping, FISH does not provide an overview of the entire chromosomal composition of a cell but focuses solely on genomic regions complementary to the chosen probes. This technique complements karyotyping by enabling analysis in non-dividing cells, including paraffin-embedded tissues, and delivering rapid detection of specific chromosomal or genetic abnormalities. Such findings can assist in diagnosing conditions like gene fusions in leukemias and gene rearrangements in lymphoma. With higher resolution than karyotyping, FISH can detect submicroscopic abnormalities and permits the rapid examination of numerous cells. This capability is particularly advantageous for identifying low-level clones, such as in cases of minimal residual disease or early relapse (43,45).

DNA microarrays are used to identify copy number alterations throughout the genome. This testing can be performed using two distinct approaches: chromosomal microarray (CMA, previously known as array-CGH) and single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) arrays.

CMA provides valuable complementary information to karyotype and FISH analyses. In certain tumors where copy number alterations, rather than gene rearrangements, play a pivotal role in disease management (such as neuroblastoma, Wilms tumor, and most central nervous system tumors) CMA may serve as the primary diagnostic tool. By hybridizing tumoral DNA to whole-genome copy number or SNP microarrays, DNA gains, losses, and amplifications that might go unnoticed with conventional cytogenetic techniques are detected. Furthermore, SNP probes allow the identification of regions with copy-neutral loss of heterozygosity, which could contain critical tumor-related genes. CMA offers a resolution of several hundreds to thousands of base pairs, depending on the number of probes used (46,47).

In CMA, patient and reference DNA are labeled with distinct fluorescent dyes, typically green for patient DNA and red for reference DNA. An array slide is prepared with oligonucleotide DNA probes—short DNA sequences designed to hybridize to specific genomic regions. The probes are unevenly distributed, with some providing general "backbone" coverage and others focusing on gene-rich areas, syndrome-associated regions, or specific genes of interest. The labeled DNA samples are applied to the array slide, where they competitively bind to the probes. Following hybridization, the slide is washed to remove unbound DNA and scanned to measure fluorescence at each probe location. The intensity and color of the fluorescence are analyzed by computer software: yellow indicates equal amounts of patient and reference DNA, red signifies more reference DNA than patient DNA (suggesting a deletion), and green represents more patient DNA than reference DNA (suggesting a duplication) (48).

A SNP array slide is prepared using allele-specific DNA probes designed to target regions of SNP variation among individuals. Patient DNA is hybridized to the slide, where it binds to the probes.

Following hybridization, the slide is scanned to measure the fluorescence at each probe location. The intensity of the fluorescence indicates the alleles present at the targeted SNP sites in the patient's genome. Specialized software analyzes this data to identify regions of copy number variation by evaluating the nucleotides present at each SNP site. At each SNP, an individual may be heterozygous (AB or BA) or homozygous (AA or BB). Regions with deletions are characterized by a loss of signal intensity and the appearance of homozygous SNPs across the affected area. In contrast, regions with duplications exhibit altered allele ratios compared to normal regions, leading to an increase in signal intensity (48).

Hybrid arrays integrate SNP and oligonucleotide probes to overcome the uneven genomic distribution of SNPs, which can create coverage gaps in standard SNP arrays. By incorporating oligonucleotide probes alongside SNP-specific probes, these arrays achieve more uniform genomic coverage. Additionally, this design allows for targeted analysis of regions or genes associated with specific syndromes, thereby increasing their value for both diagnostic and research purposes (48).

Sequencing technologies enable the determination of nucleic acid sequences. To date, three generations of sequencing technologies can be distinguished. The first generation includes methods developed in the mid-1970s, such as the Maxam-Gilbert chemical degradation method (49) and the Sanger method (50), which relies on polymerase arrest using dideoxynucleotides. The second generation encompasses high-performance sequencing technologies commercialized in the mid-1990s, which, despite varying principles, require signals derived from multiple identical DNA molecules (short-read sequencing). These include sequencing by hybridization (Affymetrix, now largely displaced) (51), sequencing by ligation (Polonator, by Dover/Harvard), pyrosequencing (currently discontinued), sequencing by synthesis (Illumina), and ion semiconductor sequencing (Ion Torrent, Thermo Fisher Scientific) (52). More recently, third-generation sequencing (long-read sequencing) technologies have emerged such as RS II system from Pacific Biosciences (Menlo Park, CA, USA) and Oxford Nanopore Technologies (ONT, Oxford, UK), capable of detecting signals from single nucleic acid molecules (53).

Sanger sequencing, short-read sequencing, and long-read sequencing, are highly effective for detecting various genetic alterations, including single-nucleotide variants (SNVs), copy number variants (CNVs), and rearrangements. They have a range of potential clinical applications, including whole genome sequencing (WGS), whole exome sequencing (WES), gene panel testing, and single-gene testing. RNA sequencing is particularly efficient for identifying gene fusions, while DNA sequencing can detect SNVs, CNVs, and fusions depending on the assay design. Long-read sequencing, which requires fresh or frozen tissue samples, can be clinically applied to identify large or complex structural rearrangements and to assess methylation status (46).

Optical genome mapping (OGM) is a cytogenomic tool that facilitates genome-wide analysis of copy number alterations, balanced rearrangements (such as translocations, inversions, and insertions), and complex structural rearrangements with high resolution. This method relies on the use of linearized strands of high molecular weight DNA, which are much longer than the DNA sequences analyzed by current second- and third-generation sequencing technologies, achieving average read lengths greater than 200 kilobases. In comparison, the RS II system from Pacific Biosciences has an average read length of 10–16 kilobases, while Oxford Nanopore Technologies devices are practically limited to about 20 kilobases when significant human genome coverage is required. However, with substantial effort, an N50 read length of 100 kilobases can be achieved for low-coverage human genome analysis. The use of long DNA molecules in OGM facilitates the mapping of repetitive and complex regions more effectively than with shorter molecules. This capability allows for the creation of genome maps that can span entire chromosomal arms while still detecting insertions and deletions as small as 500 bp. Other CNVs require a minimum size of 30 kilobases to be detected (46,47).

Finally, there are polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-derived methods also used in the evaluation of cancer predisposition. These include testing for MSI using PCR (54) and multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) evaluation of cancer predisposition genes such as *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* in breast cancer patients (55).

MLPA employs pairs of oligonucleotide probes that can be multiplexed in a single reaction, enabling the screening of all exons in a gene, for example. Each probe pair binds exclusively to its target sequence, and if the probes are adjacent, their ends ligate. Each probe in the pair contains a primer binding site at its end, so PCR amplification occurs only if the probes are ligated. The resulting amplification products are separated by size using capillary electrophoresis. The amount of amplification product correlates with the quantity of the target sequence in the sample. By comparing the peak heights of the amplification products from the sample with those from a reference sample with a known copy number, dosage abnormalities such as exon deletions or duplications can be identified (56).

Genomic instability and DNA damage response

Preserving genomic stability is critical for cell survival and reproduction. Damage to the DNA molecule can compromise genomic stability, leading to a higher-than-normal rate of mutation in the cells (genomic instability), and inducing carcinogenesis. This process comprises a cascade response of triggering proto-oncogenes (e.g. *EGFR*, *MYC*, and *RAS* families) while simultaneously suppressing antioncogenes (e.g. *TP53*) (58–60).

DNA damage

DNA damage can occur through either a direct or indirect pathway, both culminating in the disruption of the molecule's chemical bonds and the alteration of DNA's structure and properties. Direct damage occurs when either endogenous or exogenous materials directly contact with the molecule. At the same time, in the indirect pathway, these substances activate other products (e.g. free radicals) that subsequently damage DNA. Nonetheless, certain DNA-damaging agents, like UV light, can act as both direct and indirect agents (via reactive oxygen species) (59–61).

DNA damage factors vary in their origins, nature, and the types of alterations they generate (See Figure 4).





Endogenous factors, such as oxidative phosphorylation, tend to be more severe and/or extensive compared to exogenous factors (e.g. environmental influences). Moreover, endogenous factors are more common than exogenous ones (See Table 5). Eukaryotic cells typically lose several thousand bases daily due to base hydrolysis alone. Based on their nature, DNA damage factors can be divided into physical (such as UV radiation, ionizing radiation, and, under certain circumstances, infrared, microwaves, and radio waves) and chemicals (including alkylating agents, oxidizing agents, and chemicals that create DNA-DNA or DNA-protein crosslinks). Content-altering agents typically act at a nucleotide level (e.g. mismatch), while structure-altering agents affect higher-order structures (such as Z-conformation or triple-strand DNA). Finally, cytotoxic agents damage the entire cell, whereas genotoxic ones specifically target DNA (62).

Endogenous	Exogenous
Replication errors	Ionizing radiation
DNA base mismatches	UV radiation
Topoisomerase-DNA complexes	Chemical agents
Spontaneous base deamination	 Alkylating agents
Abasic sites	- Dietary components
Oxidative DNA damage	- Tobacco smoke
DNA methylation	- Biomass burning
	- Industrial processing
	- Chemotherapeutic agents
	 Crosslinking agents
	- Cyclophosphamide
	- Cisplatin
	- Psoralen
	 Aromatic amines
	- 2-aminofluorene
	- N-acetyl-2-Aminofluorene
	 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
	- Benzo[α]pyrene
	 Reactive electrophiles
	- 4-Nitroquinoline 1-oxide
	 Toxins
	- Aflatoxin B1

Table 5. Endogenous and exogenous DNA damaging agents

Solar UV radiation reaching the Earth's surface includes UVA (315–400 nm) and long UVB (290–315 nm) wavelengths, while shorter wavelengths (short UVB and UVC) are blocked by the ozone layer. UVB is carcinogenic, inducing mutagenic DNA damage through photon absorption that generates covalent bonds between adjacent pyrimidines. These bonds can occur at all potential dipyrimidine sites (CC, CT, TC, and TT), resulting in two major UVR-induced DNA lesions: cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPDs) and pyrimidine (6-4) pyrimidone photoproducts (6-4PP). CPDs are particularly mutagenic and play a central role in UVR-induced skin cancers. They account for 70% of UVB-induced DNA lesions and are responsible for the formation of the UV signature mutations (C \rightarrow T transitions) at dipyrimidine sites, particularly at sites containing cytosine (CT, TC, and CC) (64).

It is well established that, unlike UVB radiation, the less energetic UVA photons primarily exert their biological effects on cells and skin through oxygen-dependent mechanisms. These effects target a broad range of cellular components, including membranes, proteins, and DNA. Exposure to UVA radiation induces oxidative DNA damage in cells and human skin, primarily generating 8-oxo-7,8-dihydroguanine (8-oxoGua), along with smaller amounts of oxidized pyrimidine bases and oligonucleotide strand breaks (65).

On average, each human cell is subject to approximately 70 000 DNA lesions daily. Most of these lesions are single-strand DNA breaks (SSBs), followed by a formation of an abasic site (depurination/depyrimidination). Double-strand breaks (DSBs) are the least frequent yet most severe lesions for the cells (61,66) (See Figure 5).

T T T G T C G T T T G A C A G G A A T A C A C T A A A C A C A A G C T G T C U T T A T G T T A						
Damage	Single-strand break	Depurination/ depyrimidination	8-oxoG	Deamination	Double- strand break	Mismatch
Estimated frequency (per cell per day)	55000	12000/600	2800	192	25	N/d

Figure 5. Types of DNA lesions and mutations with estimated frequencies in human cells

8-oxoG - 8-hydroxyguanine, N/d - not determined. Note: Adapted from (61).

DNA repair

Cells are equipped with multiple systems to reduce the deleterious effects of DNA damage, namely DNA repair, damage tolerance, cell cycle checkpoints, and cell death pathways. DNA damage response (DDR) pathways sense DNA damage, signal its presence, and physically remove the damage. Five main DNA repair pathways act through different stages of the cell cycle (See Figure 6), including base excision repair (BER), nucleotide excision repair (NER), mismatch repair (MMR), homologous recombination (HR), and nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ). Additionally, a few specific lesions can be removed by direct repair (DR) and interstrand crosslinking (ICL) repair(63).





Direct repair, short-patch BER, and global genome NER are active through all the cell cycle phases. Nonhomologous end joining acts during G_0 , G_1 , and early S phases, while long-patch BER, mismatch repair, and transcription-coupled NER act during the S phase. Cell cycle phases: G_0 – resting phase, G_1 – growth, S – DNA synthesis, G_2 – growth and preparation for mitosis, M – mitosis. BER – base excision repair, NER – nucleotide excision repair. *Note:* (67).

Except for direct repair, all DNA repair pathways involve five main steps: recognition, reinforcement/recruitment, removal, reconstruction, and reinstatement (See Figure 7). In the initial recognition step, glycosylases and helicases detect and locate the damage. Subsequently, during the reinforcement/recruitment phase, the damage site is stabilized, and additional proteins are attracted to aid in repair by scaffolding and stabilizing proteins. During removal, endonucleases and lyases eliminate damaged bases from the DNA strand, preparing the site for new bases. Polymerases and progressivity factors then insert new nucleotides during the reconstruction step, while exonucleases and ligases restore the correct DNA configuration in the reinstatement phase (67).

Figure 7. DNA repair pathways



DR – direct repair, BER – base excision repair, MMR – mismatch repair, NER – nucleotide excision repair, NHEJ – nonhomologous end joining, HR – homologous recombination, GG – global genome NER, TC – transcription-coupled NER, LP – long-patched BER, SP – short-patched BER. *Note:* (67)

The direct repair mechanism relies on a single protein to eliminate DNA damage and lesions, making it less error-prone and efficient in maintaining genetic information without involving incisions in the sugarphosphate backbone or base excision (68). Direct repair primarily refers to the repair of pyrimidine dimers caused by UV exposure or other factors and the repair of alkylated bases (69). In humans, direct repair is carried out by two different pathways: the O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) and the alkylated DNA repair protein B (AlkB) homologs. The MGMT pathway is present in all cells. Its mechanism involves the direct transfer of the alkyl group from the oxygen in the DNA to a cysteine residue in its active site. This reaction reverses the base damage, but the alkylation of MGMT results in its inactivation, followed by ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation. Alternatively, the AlkB homolog pathway reversibly removes numerous modified bases but principally 1-methyladenine and 3-methylcytosine residues (70,71).

BER is activated in response to oxidative, alkylating, and deamination DNA damage. This mechanism operates through two common pathways: short-patch (repairing a single nucleotide) and long-patch (repairing at least two nucleotides) (72,73). Four key proteins are involved in BER – DNA glycosylase,

apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) endonuclease, DNA polymerase, and DNA ligase (74). Currently, at least 11 distinct mammalian DNA glycosylases have been identified, excluding mitochondrial isoforms, which typically arise from alternative splicing. DNA glycosylases are classified as monofunctional or bifunctional based on their activities. Monofunctional glycosylases, such as uracil-DNA glycosylase, have only glycosylase activity, creating apurinic/apyrimidinic sites, while bifunctional glycosylases, like NTHL1 and NEIL1, also have β -lyase and β , δ -lyase activity, respectively. Cleavage of the DNA strand via β -elimination or β , δ -elimination produces ends that must be processed before base excision BER can continue. (75,76).

NER is a versatile repair mechanism that removes various types of lesions, including UV-induced damage, bulky chemical adducts, and intrastrand cross-links. In eukaryotes, NER can be divided into two distinct pathways, the global genome (GG-NER) and the transcription-coupled NER (TC-NER). GG-NER can take place anywhere in the genome, whereas TC-NER specifically targets and accelerates the repair of lesions on the transcribed strand of active genes. GG-NER is initiated by the GG-NER specific factor XPC-RAD23B, sometimes assisted by UV-DDB (UV-damaged DNA-binding protein). In contrast, TC-NER initiates when RNA polymerase stalls at a lesion, with assistance from TC-NER-specific factors CSA, CSB, and XAB2. GG-NER and TC-NER rely on the core NER factors to complete the excision process (77–79).

Two main mechanisms repair DNA double-strand breaks: HR and NHEJ. NHEJ uses enzymes such as nucleases, DNA polymerases, and ligases, which have multifunctional roles in DNA repair (80). This pathway employs various proteins to identify, remove, polymerize, and ligate DNA ends (81). Endogenous damage from reactive oxygen species (ROS) causes 10-50 DSBs per cell daily in tumor cells (82). NHEJ is the primary pathway in mammalian cells for repairing DSBs from ionizing radiation, which can lead to chromosomal translocations and genomic instability if not repaired correctly (83). Major NHEJ proteins include KU70 (XRCC6), KU80 (XRCC5), dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA-PKcs), XRCC4-XLF, and ligase 4. DNA-PKcs inhibitors prevent DSB re-joining and stimulate cytotoxicity, and defects in NHEJ cause sensitivity to ionizing radiation and lymphocyte excision (84,85).

HR involves various proteins and is highly accurate, repairing collapsed replication forks, single-ended DSBs, and ICLs, thus re-establishing genomic stability (86). Pathogenic variants in one or more genes encoding HR proteins can impair the entire pathway. Tumor-suppressor genes like *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, and *ATM* are involved in HR, and DSBs caused by ionizing radiation, and topoisomerase I poisons (Camptothecin, Irinotecan and Topotecan) occur more frequently in tumors with defective HR, enhancing the efficacy of cytotoxic drugs. Additionally, HR deficient tumors are more vulnerable to platinum-based therapies (87,88).

Crucial steps in HR include RAD51 phosphorylation and accumulation, dependent on the protooncogene *ABL1*, with ABL1 inhibitors increasing cell responsiveness to crosslinking agents and ionizing radiation (89,90). ATM is needed for the initiation of the DSB repair by HR. Upon DNA damage, ATM is recruited to the damaged site and leads to subsequent check-point activation during the G1/S checkpoint. ATM and ATR phosphorylate multiple downstream targets such as p53, H2AX, and BRCA1 either directly or via *CHEK2* gene coding checkpoint kinase 2 protein activation (91,92). The central reaction of HR is the homology search and DNA strand invasion mediated by the Rad51-ssDNA presynaptic filament, which aligns the invading 3'-end with a homologous template duplex to initiate repair synthesis. Rad51 catalyzes both the homology search and DNA strand exchange. Among the mediator proteins, the tumor suppressor BRCA2 is particularly significant. BRCA2 is essential for radiation-induced Rad51 focus formation in vivo and serves as a critical regulatory hub within the HR pathway (93).

The association and colocalization of BRCA1 with RAD51 in nuclear foci of mitotic cells provided early evidence of BRCA1's role in HR repair. These foci are observed both before and after DNA damage, highlighting BRCA1's involvement in repairing both intrinsic and induced DNA damage. The interactions of BRCA1 and BRCA2 with RAD51 suggest a functional link among these proteins in RAD51-mediated DNA damage repair. While BRCA2 directly facilitates RAD51-mediated repair, BRCA1 appears to function through a more complex mechanism, involving interactions with additional proteins (94).

MMR recognizes and repairs erroneous insertions, deletions, and base mis-incorporations that occur during DNA replication and recombination, as well as some forms of DNA damage. Defects in MMR increase the spontaneous mutation rate and induce multistage carcinogenesis (95). The MMR pathway corrects DNA mismatches generated during replication, preventing permanent mutations in cell divisions. Many human cancers, hereditary or non-hereditary, are linked to MMR inactivation, with some DNA damage requiring MMR for cell cycle arrest or programmed apoptosis. MMR plays a crucial role in the DNA damage response, eradicating severely damaged cells and suppressing short-term mutagenesis and long-term tumorigenesis (96). The MMR system was first identified in Escherichia coli, where mismatches in DNA triggered a repair response upon transformation into the bacterial cell. Key E. coli genes implicated in this process include MutS, MutL, MutH, and uvrD (ultraviolet repair protein D). Comparative studies in model organisms, such as bacteria and Saccharomyces cerevisiae, have demonstrated that MMR mechanisms and proteins are highly conserved across species, from prokaryotes to humans. In E. coli, MMR begins with the MutS protein, which detects mismatches in double-stranded DNA. Upon binding the lesion, MutS undergoes a conformational change, forming a homodimer and stabilizing its interaction with the mismatch. It then recruits MutL, which mediates interactions with downstream proteins such as MutH and uvrD. MutH, an endonuclease, cleaves the

newly synthesized strand at hemimethylated GATC sites, ensuring strand-specific repair. uvrD, a helicase, unwinds the DNA for mismatch removal. While prokaryotes rely on DNA methylation for strand discrimination, this mechanism remains unclear in eukaryotes (97). Microsatellite instability (MSI), a hypermutator phenotype resulting from MMR deficiencies, is associated with various tumors, including those associated with Lynch syndrome (98).

In response to specific DNA damage, one or multiple repair pathways are activated. Mismatched bases resulting from replication are addressed by the MMR. The Fanconi anemia (FA) pathway restores ICLs generated by natural or synthetic compounds. UV radiation, environmental mutagens, endogenous DNA damaging agents, and ROS cause SSBs that are repaired with BER and NER. DSBs triggered by ionizing radiation are handled either by NHEJ if the DNA ends are protected by the Ku70/Ku80 complex, or by homology-directed repair (HDR)/microhomology-mediated end joining (MMEJ)/single-strand annealing (SSA), depending on the length of the homology DNA fragments available (77,99).

Genetics of multiple primary cancers

The emergence of genomic analysis using genetic technologies and next-generation sequencing (NGS) has significantly broadened our understanding of cancer susceptibility and genomic changes within cancer cells. It is now recognized that malignant tumor development requires the emergence of a new cell population harboring a diverse array of genetic and epigenetic changes, some of which will be driver mutations. These driver mutations can initiate tumorigenesis by conferring selective advantages over the neighboring cells, as they occur in specific cancer driver genes. Since the establishment of genetics, one of the main goals has been the identification of these cancer-driver genes (1,100).

Mutations targeting oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes, including "caretaker" genes (= DNA repair genes) directly involved in MPCs are the main genetic factors contributing to the development of MPCs. Additionally, the increasing number of genome-wide studies has shed light on the potential influence of common genetic markers shared among diverse tumors (pleiotropic loci) and low penetrance variants that elevate the risk of MPCs. A pleiotropic locus can increase the probability of developing MPCs in an individual while also influencing the risk of various cancer types. Furthermore, cancer treatment can alter the risk of developing MPCs if DNA-repair genes are altered, particularly in cases of treatment-exposure-related MPCs (101,102).

MPC development mechanisms

The mechanisms involved in MPC development include MSI, p53 inactivation, alterations in the receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK)-RAS pathway, and in the DSB repair systems, and others (See Figure 8).

Microsatellites are intrinsically hypermutable short and simple repeating DNA sequences that are repaired with the MMR mechanism. In cases of impaired MMR, the excess of replication errors alters the microsatellite length and is called MSI. MMR abnormalities have been linked to MPCs, especially digestive tumors. Five percent of cancer patients are diagnosed with multiple colorectal cancers (CRCs). Metachronous CRCs have a higher rate of MSI compared to synchronous CRCs and have mainly a hereditary pattern with inactivation of MMR genes (101,103).

DSB repair abnormalities can also significantly increase the risk of MPCs. HR is one of the main DSB repair mechanisms, which are crucial for preserving genomic integrity and normal cellular function. Key driver genes, such as Breast cancer type 1 (*BRCA1*), and Breast cancer type 2 (*BRCA2*) genes, play significant roles in the HR repair process (101).

Germline PVs in *BRCA1/2* occurred in 42.9% of breast cancer patients with a second primary tumor. This percentage dropped to 22.7% when the subsequent cancer was not ovarian but soared to 84.4% if the second primary cancer originated in the ovary. Additionally, genes like Cadherin 1 (*CDH1*), Phosphatase and tensin homolog (*PTEN*), Serine/threonine kinase 11 (*STK11*) and *TP53* can be mutated in cases of hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (104).

CHEK2 is an important protein in the DDR network in an ATM-dependent manner. This gene plays a crucial role in regulating cell cycle checkpoints, halting cell division to facilitate repair processes. When phosphorylated, *CHEK2* can trigger apoptosis through TP53-dependent or independent pathways. Recognized for its high prevalence of germline PVs, *CHEK2* is commonly incorporated into diagnostic NGS panels (101).

The p53 protein is pivotal in tumor suppression, serving as a central hub for various signaling pathways. Somatic PVs in *TP53* are present in over 50% of cancers, leading to the survival and proliferation of damaged cells, and ultimately promoting cancer invasion and metastasis. Although there is notable variability, malignancies induced by p53 inactivation consistently follow a predictable pattern of genome evolution. This leads to deficient repair mechanisms and genetic instability, which are thought to be significant contributors to MPCs (105,106).

Figure 8. Multiple primary cancers development mechanisms and hereditary syndromes



Note: (107-112)

Monogenic inheritance. Cancer predisposition genes and syndromes

Hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes encompass a diverse range of genetic diseases that increase the risk of developing tumors. Among these, some severe inherited disorders involve widespread organ failures, with cancer susceptibility being just one aspect of their clinical presentation (examples include Bloom syndrome, Fanconi anemia, Nijmegen breakage syndrome, and ataxia-telangiectasia). Most of these syndromes are caused by the inactivation of genes crucial for DNA repair and often manifest with severe immune deficiency (113,114). In contrast, individuals affected by "genuine" hereditary cancer syndromes typically do not exhibit noticeable physical abnormalities; their distinction from healthy individuals lies primarily in their markedly heightened predisposition to develop cancer in specific organs (See Table 6) (115).

Hereditary cancers appear to be the most prevalent category of disorders with vertical transmission. Unlike well-known genetic diseases such as cystic fibrosis or phenylketonuria, which are typically rare, conditions like *BRCA1/2*-related hereditary breast-ovarian cancer or *MLH1/MSH2*-associated Lynch syndrome are much more common, with a population frequency about 8-30 times higher, approaching approximately 1 in 300 to 1 in 400 people (116,117). It is estimated that at least 2% of apparently healthy individuals carry inherited variants associated with significantly increased and often life-threatening risks of specific types of cancer, with these figures potentially higher in populations where there is a strong founder effect (118,119).

Most hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes mainly involve cancers specific to certain organs or tissues. However, with the advent of hereditary cancer registries and large datasets, it has become evident that many hereditary cancer syndromes are linked to a broader range of cancers than initially recognized, although most of the newly discovered associations show only a slight increase in lifetime cancer risk. For instance, *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* were originally identified as genes associated with breast and ovarian cancers. Recent findings suggest that individuals with PVs in *BRCA1/2* may also face a borderline elevated likelihood of developing nearly all major types of cancer (120–126).

Table 6. List of hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes

Syndrome	Prevalence	Inheritance	Involved Genes
Hereditary paraganglioma-	1–9:1,000,000	AD (SDHA, SDHB,	SDHA, SDHAF2, SDHB,
pheochromocytoma		SDHC, TMEM127)	SDHC, SDHD, MAX,
syndrome		Probable paternal	TMEM127
		inheritance (SDHD,	
		SDHAF2, MAX)	
Carney Complex	U	AD	PRKAR1A
Neurofibromatosis type 1	1:2600	AD	NF1
Neurofibromatosis type 2	1:60,000	AD	NF2
Schwannomatosis	1:70,000	AD	SMARCB1, LZTR1
Multiple endocrine	1:10,000	AD	MEN1
neoplasia type 1			
Multiple endocrine	1:44,000	AD	RET
neoplasia type 2A			
Multiple endocrine	1:700,000	AD	RET
neoplasia type 2B			
Familial medullary thyroid	1:233,000	AD	RET
carcinoma			
Multiple endocrine	<1:1,000,000	AD	CDKN1B
neoplasia type 4			
Hyperparathyroidism-jaw	U	AD	CDC73
tumor syndrome			
Parathyroid carcinoma	U	AD	CDC73
syndrome			
Nijmegen Breakage	1:100,000	AR	NBN
syndrome			
Von Hippel–Lindau	1:36,000	AD	VHL
syndrome			

AD - autosomal dominant, AR - autosomal recessive, M - mixed, U - unknown, X - X-linked. Note: (127)

Syndrome	Prevalence	Inheritance	Involved Genes
Hereditary papillary renal	U	AD	HPRC
carcinoma syndrome			(<i>MET</i> protooncogene)
Hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cancer cell syndrome	<1:500	AD	FH
Tuberous Sclerosis Complex	1:5800	AD	TSC1, TSC2
Birt–Hogg–Dubé syndrome	1:500,000	AD	FLCN
Li–Fraumeni syndrome	1:3500	AD	TP53
Bloom syndrome	U	AR	BLM
Familial GIST	U	AD	KIT, PDGFRA
BRCA1- and BRCA2- associated hereditary cancer syndrome	1:500 (<i>BRCA1</i>) 1:225 (<i>BRCA2</i>)	AD	BRCA1, BRCA2
CHEK2-associated hereditary cancer syndrome	1:937 (<i>CHEK2</i> R95)	AD	CHEK2
PALB2-associated hereditary cancer syndrome	1:1250	AD	PALB2
RAD51C-associated hereditary cancer syndrome	1:1600	AD	RAD51C
RAD51D-associated hereditary cancer syndrome	U	AD	RAD51D
ATM-associated hereditary cancer syndrome	1:100	AR	ATM
Ataxia telangiectasia	1:40,000–300,000	AR	ATM

AD – autosomal dominant, AR – autosomal recessive, M – mixed, U – unknown, X – X-linked. *Note:* (127)

Syndrome	Prevalence	Inheritance	Involved Genes
Peutz–Jeghers syndrome	1:25,000–280,000	AD	STK11
BARD1-associated hereditary cancer syndrome	U	AD	BARD1
<i>BRIP1</i> -associated hereditary cancer syndrome	1:500	AD	BRIP1
Fanconi Anemia	1–9:1,000,000 The carrier frequency of FA is 1/181 in the general population in North America and 1:93 in Israel. Specific populations have a founder effect with increased carrier frequencies (1 per 100 or less)	M (AR, X)	 AR: FANCA, FANCC, FANCD1/BRCA2, FANCD2, FANCE, FANCF, FANCG (XRCC9), FANCI, FANCJ/BRIP1, FANCL, FANCM, FANCN/PALB2, FANCP/SLX4, FANCQ/ERCC4, FANCR/RAD51, FANCS/BRCA1, FANCU/XRCC2, FANCV/REV7, FANCW/RFWD3, and FANCY/FAP100 X: a hemizygous pathogenic variant in FANCB
Familial atypical mole- malignant melanoma syndrome	U	AD	CDKN2A, CDK4

AD - autosomal dominant, AR - autosomal recessive, M - mixed, U - unknown, X - X-linked. Note: (127)

Syndrome	Prevalence	Inheritance	Involved Genes
Nevoid basal cell carcinoma	1:31,000–164,000	AD	PTCH1, SUFU
Xeroderma pigmentosum	1:1,000,000 (EU, USA), 1:22,000 (JAP)	AR	DDB2 (XPE), ERCC1, ERCC2 (XPD), ERCC3 (XPB), ERCC4 (XPF), ERCC5 (XPG), POLH (XPV), XPA, XPC
<i>BAP1</i> tumor predisposition syndrome	U	AD	BAP1
Shelterin complex genes hereditary cancer syndrome	U	AD	POT1, ACD, TERF2IP
<i>TERT</i> hereditary cancer syndrome	U	AD/AR	TERT
DICER1 tumor predisposition syndrome	U	AD	DICER1
Lynch syndrome	1:279	AD	MLH1, MSH2, MSH6, PMS2, EPCAM
<i>RPS20</i> -associated hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer syndrome	U	AD	RPS20
Familial adenomatous polyposis	1:8000	AD	APC
Attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis	U	AD	APC
Gastric adenocarcinoma and proximal polyposis of the stomach	U	AD	APC

AD - autosomal dominant, AR - autosomal recessive, M - mixed, U - unknown, X - X-linked. Note: (127)

Syndrome	Prevalence	Inheritance	Involved Genes
Polymerase proofreading- associated polyposis	U	AD	POLE, POLD1
<i>MUTYH-</i> associated polyposis	1:20,000 (carrier 1:100)	AR	МИТҮН
NTHL1 tumor syndrome	U	AR	NTHL1
MSH3-associated polyposis	<1:1,000,000	AR	MSH3
MLH3-associated polyposis	U	AR	MLH3
Juvenile polyposis syndrome	U	AD	BMPR1A, SMAD4
Hereditary mixed polyposis syndrome	U	AD	GREM1
Sessile serrated polyposis cancer syndrome	U	AD	RNF43
Cowden syndrome	1:200,000	AD	PTEN
Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer syndrome	U	AD	CDH1
Hereditary pancreatitis	1–9:1,000,000	AD (PRSS1, CFTR, SPINK1, CPA1, CTRC, CASR, CEL) X (CLDN2) AR (CFTR, SPINK1, TRPV6)	PRSS1, SPINK1, CFTR, CTRC, CLDN2, CPA1 (Putative genes: CEL, CELP, CASR, GGT1, TRPV6)
Howel–Evans syndrome	<1:1,000,000	AD	RHBDF2
EGFR-associated genetic susceptibility	U	AD	EGFR
NBN hereditary cancer syndrome	U	AD	NBN

AD – autosomal dominant, AR – autosomal recessive, M – mixed, U – unknown, X – X-linked. *Note*: (127)

The main syndromes that increase the risk of developing multiple primary cancers are described below.

Nevoid basal cell carcinoma

Nevoid basal cell carcinoma, also known as Gorlin-Goltz syndrome, is an autosomal dominant multisystemic disease marked by the appearance of multiple jaw keratocysts, typically starting in the second decade of life, and/or basal cell carcinomas (BCCs), which usually begin in the third decade (See Table 7). Many affected individuals have a distinctive appearance, characterized by macrocephaly, frontal bossing, coarse facial features, and facial milia. Most also exhibit skeletal anomalies, such as bifid ribs and wedge-shaped vertebrae. Ectopic calcification, particularly in the falx cerebri, occurs in 90% of affected individuals by age 30. Cardiac fibromas occur in about 2% of individuals, while ovarian fibromas are seen in approximately 20%. About 5% of children with this disease develop medulloblastoma, usually the desmoplastic subtype. The risk of developing medulloblastoma is significantly higher in individuals with a pathogenic variant in the *SUFU* gene (33%) compared to those with a *PTCH1* pathogenic variant (less than 2%), with peak incidence occurring at one to two years of age. Life expectancy for individuals with nevoid basal cell carcinoma is generally not significantly different from the average. Approximately 20%-30% of individuals with the disease harbor *de novo* PVs, while 70%-80% of patients inherit the disease from an affected parent. The estimated prevalence varies from 1/57,000 to 1/256,000, with a male to female ratio of 1:1 (128,129).

Table 7. Nevoid	basal cell	carcinoma	syndrome criteria	ł
-----------------	------------	-----------	-------------------	---

Major criteria
Lamellar calcification of the falx in an individual younger than age 20
Jaw keratocyst
Palmar or plantar pits
Multiple basal cell carcinomas (>5 in a lifetime) or a basal cell carcinoma diagnosed before age 30
(excluding basal cell carcinomas that develop after radiotherapy)
First-degree relative with nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome
Minor criteria
Childhood medulloblastoma (primitive neuroectodermal tumor)
Lymphomesenteric or pleural cysts
Macrocephaly (occipital frontal circumference >97th percentile)
Cleft lip or cleft palate
Vertebral or rib anomalies observed on x-ray

Preaxial or postaxial polydactyly

Ovarian or cardiac fibromas

Ocular anomalies (cataracts, developmental defects, and pigmentary changes of the retinal

epithelium)

Note: adapted from (57)

Lynch syndrome

Lynch syndrome is the most common hereditary form of CRCs, resulting from autosomal dominant PVs in the mismatch repair genes *MLH1*, *MSH2* (including methylation due to a deletion of the 3' end of *EPCAM* including the polyadenylation signal), *MSH6*, or *PMS2* (130). Lynch syndrome is associated with increased lifetime risks for colorectal (40–80%), endometrial (25–60%), ovarian (4–24%), and gastric (1–13%) cancers (131,132). Lynch syndrome accounts for 2% to 4% of all CRCs and approximately 2.5% of endometrial cancer cases (130). Additionally, individuals with Lynch syndrome have elevated risks for urothelial carcinoma, glioblastoma, and sebaceous, biliary, small bowel, and pancreatic adenocarcinomas (133–135) (See Table 8). The lifetime cancer risks are generally lower in those with *MSH6* and *PMS2* PVs. Most tumors (77–89%) in individuals with Lynch syndrome exhibit MSI due to defective mismatch repair (136).

Table 8. Tumors associated with Lynch syndrome

Colorectal adenocarcinoma
Endometrial adenocarcinoma
Urothelial carcinoma (ureter and renal collecting ducts)
Gastric cancer
Ovarian cancer
Small bowel cancer
Glioblastoma
Sebaceous adenocarcinoma
Biliary tract cancer
Pancreatic cancer
Note: adapted from (57)

Li-Fraumeni syndrome

Li-Fraumeni syndrome is an autosomal dominant cancer predisposition syndrome caused by PVs in the *TP53* gene. It is characterized by a higher risk of developing five primary types of tumors: adrenocortical carcinomas, breast cancer, central nervous system tumors, osteosarcomas, and soft-tissue sarcomas (See Table 9), often before the age of 50, with many patients developing MPCs (137,138). The lifetime risk of cancer for these individuals is over 70% for men and over 90% for women (139).

	Table 9.	Tumors	associated	with Li–	Fraumeni	svndrome
--	----------	--------	------------	----------	----------	----------

Soft-tissue sarcoma Osteosarcoma Brain tumor Breast cancer (often early onset) Adrenocortical tumor Leukemia Bronchoalveolar cancer Colorectal cancer

Early diagnosis, particularly before age 30, and specific types of malignancies, such as adrenocortical tumors or choroid plexus tumors diagnosed before age 18, are strong indicators of a *TP53* PV, with the likelihood of identifying a PV approaching 80% and 100%, respectively (138,140,141). Children diagnosed with sarcoma also have a higher likelihood of having Li-Fraumeni syndrome (142).

De novo germline *TP53* pathogenic variants are found in approximately 7% to 20% of cases (139). Genetic evaluation is recommended for individuals with a personal or family history (first-degree relative) that includes: two or more close relatives with a Li-Fraumeni syndrome spectrum tumor, one diagnosed at or before age 45, breast cancer diagnosed before age 30, two or more Li-Fraumeni syndrome tumors in the same person, one diagnosed at or before age 45, adrenocortical tumors, choroid plexus tumors, childhood sarcoma (57).

Tuberous sclerosis complex

Tuberous sclerosis complex (TSC) is an AD disorder caused by PVs in the *TSC1* and *TSC2* genes. It is characterized by the development of tumors in the brain, kidneys, and heart, along with various skin and neurological abnormalities (143,144). Brain lesions in TSC are diverse and include subependymal nodules, cortical hamartomas, focal cortical hypoplasia, and heterotopic gray matter. Renal lesions,

such as angiomyolipomas and cysts, typically appear during childhood and become more common with age (144,145). Approximately two-thirds of newborns with TSC have one or more cardiac rhabdomyomas, which are largest at birth and tend to regress over time (146). Skin lesions are observed in nearly all individuals with TSC, though none are unique to the disease (144).

Interestingly, about two-thirds to three-fourths of TSC cases result from *de novo* PVs (147). Clinical diagnosis is based on a combination of major and minor criteria (see Table 10). Referral for genetic evaluation should be considered for any individual with a personal or family history (first-degree relative) of any two major or minor diagnostic criteria (57).

Fable 10. Tuberous	sclerosis comp	lex criteria
--------------------	----------------	--------------

Major criteria
Facial angiofibromas or forehead plaque
Nontraumatic ungual or periungual fibroma
Hypomelanotic macules (≥3)
Shagreen patch (connective tissue nevus)
Cortical tuber in the brain
Subependymal glial nodule
Subependymal giant cell astrocytoma
Multiple retinal nodular hamartomas
Cardiac rhabdomyomas, single or multiple
Lymphangiomyomatosis
Renal angiomyolipoma
Minor criteria
Multiple, randomly distributed pits in dental enamel
Hamartomatous rectal polyps
Bone cysts
"Confetti" skin lesions
Multiple renal cysts

Nonrenal hamartoma

Cerebral white matter radial migration lines

Retinal achromic patch

Gingival fibromas

Note: adapted from (57)

Cowden syndrome

Cowden syndrome, also known as PTEN hamartoma tumor syndrome, is an AD cancer predisposition syndrome characterized by multiple hamartomas and an increased risk of malignant transformation. These lesions can arise in tissues derived from any of the three embryonic germ layers (148). The estimated prevalence of the disease is 1 in 250,000, though this may be underestimated due to the syndrome's variable expression and the subtlety of its features, which can occur in the general population and be easily overlooked (149). There is a higher prevalence in females and most reported cases are in Caucasians (150). Diagnosis of Cowden syndrome typically occurs between the ages of 13 and 65 (151).

Cowden syndrome is caused by PVs in the *PTEN* gene and is associated with benign skin findings and significantly increased lifetime risks of several cancers: breast cancer (30–85%, often early-onset), follicular thyroid cancer (10–38%), renal cell cancer (34%), endometrial cancer (5–28%), colorectal cancer (9%), and possibly melanoma (6%) (152–155). The mucocutaneous manifestations of Cowden disease are so common that some of them are considered pathognomonic, such as facial trichilemmoma, acral keratosis, and papillomatous lesions (156). Clinical diagnosis is based on a combination of major and minor criteria (See Table 11). It is recommended to refer individuals who meet any three criteria from the major or minor diagnostic lists for genetic evaluation (57).

Major criteria
Breast cancer
Endometrial cancer (epithelial)
Thyroid cancer (follicular)
Gastrointestinal hamartomas (including ganglioneuromas but excluding hyperplastic polyps; \geq 3)
Lhermitte–Duclos disease (adult)
Macrocephaly (≥97th percentile: 58cm for adult women, 60cm for adult men)
Macular pigmentation of the glans penis
Multiple mucocutaneous lesions (any of the following):
Multiple trichilemmomas (≥3, at least 1 proven by biopsy)
Acral keratoses (\geq 3 palmoplantar keratotic pits and/or acral hyperkeratotic papules)
Mucocutaneous neuromas (≥3)
Oral papillomas (particularly on tongue and gingival), multiple (\geq 3) OR biopsy proven OR
diagnosed by a dermatologist

 Table 11. Cowden syndrome diagnostic criteria

Minor criteria

 Autism spectrum disorder

 Colon cancer

 Esophageal glycogenic acanthosis (≥3)

 Lipomas (≥3)

 Intellectual disability (i.e., intelligence quotient ≤75)

 Renal cell carcinoma

 Testicular lipomatosis

 Thyroid cancer (papillary or follicular variant of papillary)

 Thyroid structural lesions (e.g., adenoma, multinodular goiter)

 Vascular anomalies (including multiple intracranial developmental venous anomalies)

Birt-Hogg-Dubé syndrome

Birt–Hogg–Dubé (BHD) syndrome is an AD disorder caused by PVs in the *FLCN* gene, characterized by a combination of skin lesions, renal tumors, and lung cysts (See Table 12) (157). The skin lesions, which include fibrofolliculomas, perifollicular fibromas, trichodiscomas, angiofibromas, and acrochordons, typically appear in the 30s and 40s and increase with age. The median age at diagnosis for renal tumors is 48 years, with a range from 31 to 71 years (57). Renal tumors occur in 12-34% of individuals with BHD, with the mean age of onset between 46-52 years, though cases have been reported in patients as young as 20 years (158–160). The risk of developing renal tumors is seven times higher in individuals with BHD compared to their unaffected siblings (161). In BHD individuals, the most common renal cell carcinoma (RCC) type is the hybrid oncocytic tumor (50%), featuring characteristics of chromophobe RCC and renal oncocytoma. Additionally, BHD patients may develop chromophobe RCC (35%), clear cell RCC (9%), and, less frequently, renal oncocytoma (5%) (162,163). Multiple bilateral lung cysts, often associated with spontaneous pneumothorax, are also a characteristic feature of BHD syndrome.

Table 12. Birt-Hogg-Dubé syndrome criteria

- ≥5 Birt–Hogg–Dubé–associated facial or truncal papules
- Early-onset (<50 years old), bilateral or multifocal clear cell renal carcinoma
- Renal cancers with Birt–Hogg–Dubé histology (chromophobe, oncocytoma, or oncocytic hybrid)
- Lung cysts associated with multiple spontaneous pneumothoraxes.

Note: (57)

Constitutional mismatch repair deficiency

Constitutional mismatch repair deficiency is a recessive condition caused by biallelic PVs in MMR genes (*MLH1*, *MSH2*, *MSH6*, and *PMS2*), including *MSH2* methylation due to a deletion of the 3' end of *EPCAM* including the polyadenylation signal. The tumor spectrum of this syndrome can be categorized into four main groups: hematological malignancies, brain tumors, Lynch syndrome-associated tumors, and other malignancies (164,165). Individuals with this deficiency often exhibit neurofibromatosis type 1– like features, such as café-au-lait macules, which are observed in most cases, and skinfold freckling, Lisch nodules, neurofibromas, and tibial pseudoarthrosis, which are reported in fewer cases. Notably, a family history of cancer is not always present in individuals with constitutional mismatch repair deficiency (57,165).

Referral for evaluation should be considered for anyone with a personal history of or a first-degree relative with Lynch syndrome-associated cancer in childhood or another type of childhood cancer accompanied by one or more of the following features:

- Café-au-lait macules, skinfold freckling, Lisch nodules, neurofibromas, tibial pseudoarthrosis, or hypopigmented skin lesions
- Family history of LS-associated cancer
- A second primary cancer
- A sibling with a childhood cancer
- Consanguineous parents (57).

Familial adenomatous polyposis and attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis

Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) and attenuated FAP are AD disorders caused by PVs in the *APC* gene. Both are characterized by adenomatous colon polyps and a significantly increased lifetime risk of CRC: nearly 100% for individuals with FAP and 70% for those with attenuated FAP (166,167). Classic FAP is clinically diagnosed when an individual has more than 100 adenomatous polyps in the colon, while attenuated FAP is characterized by having 30 to 100 polyps (168).

In addition to CRC, individuals with FAP have increased risks for other cancers, including duodenal cancer (4–12%), pancreatic cancer (~2%), cribriform morular variant of papillary thyroid cancer (1–2%), hepatoblastoma by age 5 (1–2%), and medulloblastoma (<1%) (169–172). They may also exhibit extracolonic manifestations such as congenital hypertrophy of the retinal pigmented epithelium, osteomas, dental abnormalities, benign cutaneous lesions like epidermoid cysts and fibromas, and desmoid tumors. *APC* PVs were identified in 80% of patients with 1,000 or more adenomas, 56% of those with 100–999 adenomas, 10% with 20–99 adenomas, and 5% with 10–19 adenomas (173).

Referral for genetic evaluation should be considered for individuals with a personal history of or a firstdegree relative with any of the following:

- 10 or more adenomatous colon polyps, with or without CRC or other FAP-associated cancers
- Cribriform morular variant of papillary thyroid cancer
- Desmoid tumor
- Hepatoblastoma diagnosed before age 5.

Familial gastrointestinal stromal tumor

Familial gastrointestinal stromal tumor (GIST) is an AD disease linked to PVs in the *KIT*, *PDGFRA*, *SDHB*, and *SDHC* genes. People with germline *KIT* PVs may exhibit hyperpigmentation, mast cell tumors, or dysphagia, while large hands are associated with *PDGFRA* PVs (174,175). NF1 patients are also prone to developing GISTs (176). GIST tumors can occur throughout the gastrointestinal tract but are most found in the stomach and small intestine, and less frequently in the colorectum and esophagus (177). Rarely, tumors may arise in the mesentery and omentum, known as extra-GISTs (178). Sporadic GISTs can also occur outside of familial and syndromic contexts, and these multiple tumors may be mistakenly identified as recurrent or metastatic disease (179–181).

Hereditary breast-ovarian cancer syndrome (HBOC)

The most common breast cancer susceptibility genes, *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*, are well known for their association with the risk of developing ovarian and pancreatic cancer. However, with advances in NGS analysis technology, researchers have identified several non-BRCA genes that also contribute to the risk of breast and ovarian cancers (See Table 13) (182).

Gene	Cancer type	Relative cancer risk (95%CI)	Absolute cancer risk (95%CI)
		(p value)	
BRCA1	Female Breast	OR 9.25 (8.20-10.30) (<0.0001)	>60%
	cancer		Primary: 72% (65-79%) by age
			80y, Contralateral: By 20y after
			diagnosis of primary: 40% (35-
			45%)
			~55% by age 80y

Table 13. HBOC genes and candidate HBOC predisposing genes

Gene	Cancer type	Relative cancer risk (95%CI)	Absolute cappor rick (85% CI)
Gene		(p value)	
	Male Breast	OR: 1.80 (0.30-6.80) (0.30)	0.2-1.2%
	cancer	RR: 4.30 (1.09-16.96) (0.04)	1.2% (0.22-2.8%) to age 70y
			0.40% (0.10-1.50%) by age 80y
	Ovarian cancer	OR 35.26 (29.60-42.00)	>39-58%
		(<0.0001)	44% (36-55%) by age 80y
		SRR 11.78 (10.42-13.28)	
		(<0.0001)	
	Pancreatic	OR 2.58 (1.54-4.05) (0.002)	≤5%
	cancer	RR 2.36 (1.51-3.68) (<0.001)	Males: 2.90% (1.90-4.50%) by
			age 80y
			Females: 2.30% (1.50-3.60%)
			by age 80y
	Prostate cancer	SIR 2.35 (1.43-3.88) relative to	7-26%
		the population incidence. At	21% (3-34%) by age 75y
		most, moderate risk: RR 2-4	29% (17-45%) by age 85y
		<65y, 1-2 >65y	
	Melanoma	OR 2.86 (significance not	No definitive association
		reached)	
		RR 0.64 (0.14-2.95) (0.56)	
	Stomach	RR 2.17 (1.25-3.77) (0.01)	Males: 1.6% (0.7-4.0%) by age
	cancer		80y
			Females: 0.7% (0.3-1.7%) by
			age 80y
BRCA2	Female Breast	OR 5.67 (5.14-6.30) (<0.0001)	>60%
	cancer		Primary: 69% (61-77%) by age
			80y
			Contralateral: 26% (20-33%)
			20y after diagnosis of primary
			~45% by age 80
	Ovarian cancer	OR 11.91 (9.87-14.40) (<0.0001)	13-29%
		SRR 7.97 (7.00-9.01) (<0.0001)	17% (11-25%) by age 80y

Gene	Cancer type	Relative cancer risk (95%CI)	Absolute concertisk (85% CI)
		(p value)	Absolute calicer fisk (95%CI)
	Male Breast	OR 13.9 (8.50-22.50) (<0.0001)	1.80-7.10%
	cancer	RR 44.03 (21.32-90.93) (<0.001)	7.1% (SE 5.2-8.6%) to age 70y;
			8.4% (SE 6.2-10.6%) to age 80y
			6.8% (3.2-12%) by age 70y
			3.80% (1.9-7.7%) by age 80y
	Pancreatic	OR 6.20 (4.62-8.17) (<0.001)	5-10%
	cancer	RR 3.34 (2.21-5.06) (<0.001)	Males: 3% (1.7-5.4%) by age 80y
			Females: 2.30% (1.3-4.2%) by
			age 80y
	Prostate cancer	SIR 4.45 (2.99-6.61) relative to	19-61%
		the population incidence	27% (17-41%) by age 75y; 60%
		RR 2.22 (1.63-3.03) (<0.001)	(43-78%) by age 85y
	Melanoma	Evidence for a statistically	No definitive association
		significant association is	
		conflicting	
	Stomach	RR 3.69 (2.40-5.67) (<0.001)	Males: 3.5% (2.1-6.1%) by age
	cancer		80y
			Females: 3.5% (1.9-6.4%) by
			age 80y
PALB2	Female Breast	OR 4.87 (4·20-5·65) (<00001)	41-60%
	cancer	RR 7.18 (5.82-8.85) (<00001)	53% (44-63%) by age 80y
			~40% by age 80y
	Ovarian cancer	OR 2.13 (1·420-3·207) (0.0003)	3-5%
		RR 2.91 (1.40-6.04) (4.1x10-3)	5% (2-10%) by age 80y
		SRR 3.08 (1.93-4.67) (1.2x10-5)	
	Male Breast	OR 6.60 (1.70-21.10) (0.013)	0.90% by age 70y
	cancer	RR 7.34 (1.28-42.18) (2.6x12 ⁻⁵)	1% (0.20-5%) by age 80y
	Pancreatic	RR 2.37 (1.24-4.50) (8.7x10 ⁻³)	5-10%
	cancer	OR 7.69 (3.88-14.44) (6.01 x10 ⁻⁷)	2-3% (1-5%) by age 80y

Gene	Cancertype	Relative cancer risk (95%CI)	Absolute cancer risk (95%CI)
Gene	Callee type	(p value)	
ATM	Female Breast	OR 2.42 (2.16-2.71) (<0.0001)	20-40%
	cancer		~22% by age 80y
	Ovarian cancer	OR 2.0 (1.33-2.94) (0.001)	2-3%
		SRR 2.25 (1.69-2.94) (1.8x10 ⁻⁷)	
BRIP1	Ovarian cancer	OR 4.94 (4.07-6.00) (<0.0001)	5-15%
		SRR 4.99 (3.79-6.45) (<0.0001)	
	Female Breast	OR 1.11 (0.80-1.53) (0.54)	Insufficient data to define
	cancer		
BARD1	Female Breast	OR 2.33 (1.83-2.97) (<0.0001)	20-40%
	cancer		~20% by age 80y
	Ovarian cancer	OR 1.40 (0.69-2.90) (0.47)	No established association
CHEK2	Female Breast	OR 2.47 (2.02-3.05) (0.001)	20-40%
	cancer		~ 24% by age 80y
	Ovarian cancer	OR 0.43 (0.29-0.63) (0.84)	No established association
		SRR 0.98 (0.75-1.27) (0.87)	
CDH1	Female Breast	OR 2.66 (1.68-4.20) (<0.0001)	41-60%
	cancer		
MLH1	Ovarian cancer	OR 1.44 (0.53-3.90) (0.68)	4-20%
	(LS-Associated)	SRR 2.20 (0.81-4.78) (0.12)	
	Female Breast	OR 0.68 (0.466-0.97) (0.05)	<15%
	cancer		
MSH2	Ovarian cancer	OR 3.98 (1.82-8.70) (0.0007)	8-38%
	(LS-Associated)	SRR 13.91 (8.82-20.87)	
		(<0.0001)	
	Female Breast	OR 1.67 (1.17-2.34) (0.0054)	<15%
	cancer		
MSH6	Ovarian cancer	OR 4.08 (2.43-6.85) (<0.0001)	≤1-13%
	(LS-Associated)	SRR 5.04 (3.70-6.70) (<0.0001)	
	Female Breast	OR 1.73 (1.37-2.2) (<0.0001)	<15%
	cancer		

Gono	Capoortupo	Relative cancer risk (95%CI)	Absolute expect risk (85% CI)
Gene	Cancer type	(p value)	Absolute cancer fisk (95%CI)
MUTYH	Breast/Ovarian	Insufficient data	Insufficient evidence
	cancer	OR 1.00 (0.83-1.21) (0.99)	
NBN	Breast cancer	OR 1.22 (0.98-1.53) (0.083)	Insufficient evidence
	Ovarian cancer	OR 2.12 (1.35-3.50) (0.002)	Insufficient Data
		SRR 2.03 (1.27-3.08) (0.004)	
PMS2	Female Breast	OR 0.97 (0.787-1.20) (0.81)	<15%
	cancer		
	Ovarian cancer	0.71 (0.29-1.70) (0.56)	1.3-3% by age 80y
	(LS-Associated)		
PTEN	Female Breast	OR 5.40 (3.15-9.23) (<0.0001)	40-60% (historical cohort data);
	cancer		>60% (projected estimates)
	Ovarian Cancer	OR 5.47 (1.26-23.8) (0.08)	No established association
RAD51C	Ovarian cancer	RR 7.55 (5.60-10.19) (<0.0001)	10-15%
		OR 5.59 (4.42-7.07) (<0.0001)	11% (6-21%) by age 80y
		SRR 5.12 (3.72-6.88) (<0.0001)	
	Female Breast	RR 1.99 (1.39-2.85) (<0.0001)	20-40%
	cancer	OR 1.93 (1.20-3.11) (0.07)	21% (15-29%) by age 80y
RAD51D	Ovarian cancer	RR 7.60 (5.61-10.30) (<0.0001)	10-20%
		OR 6.94 (4·028-13·140)	13% (7-23%) by age 80y
		(<0.0001)	
		SRR 6.34 (5.10-9.44) (<0.0001)	
	Female Breast	RR 1.83 (1.24-2.72) (0.002)	20-40%
	cancer	OR 1.72 (0.88-3.51) (0.12)	20% (14-28%) by age 80y
STK11	Female Breast	OR 1.10 (0.32-3.80) (0.88)	32-54%
	cancer		
TP53	Female Breast	OR 4.36 (3.27-5.81) (<0.0001)	>60%
	cancer		
	Ovarian cancer	OR 5.05 (2.41-10.58) (<0.0001)	No established association

BRCA1- and BRCA2-Associated Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer

BRCA1- and *BRCA2*-Associated Hereditary breast-ovarian cancer (HBOC) syndrome is an AD disorder caused by PVs in the *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* genes. This syndrome significantly increases the risk of developing various cancers, including early-onset and/or multiple primary breast cancers, male breast cancer, and epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancers. Additionally, individuals with HBOC syndrome have higher risks of pancreatic, prostate, and melanoma cancers. *BRCA1* PVs, in particular, are strongly linked to triple-negative breast cancer, while *BRCA2* is associated with an increased risk of prostate cancer (184–187).

Women with ovarian cancer have a 13-18% likelihood of carrying a *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* PV, and 15-20% of men with breast cancer have these PVs (188–190). The general population prevalence is about 1 in 300 for *BRCA1* PVs and 1 in 800 for *BRCA2* PVs, but certain populations, such as Ashkenazi Jewish, Icelandic, and Mexican Hispanic, have higher rates due to founder PVs (191).

Referral for genetic evaluation should be considered for individuals with a personal or family history (first-degree relative) of the following:

- Breast cancer diagnosed at or before age 50
- Triple-negative breast cancer diagnosed at or before age 60
- Two or more primary breast cancers in the same person
- Ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer
- Ashkenazi Jewish ancestry with breast or pancreatic cancer at any age
- Male breast cancer.

Additionally, referral is recommended for those with a family history of three or more cases of breast, ovarian, pancreatic, or aggressive prostate cancer (Gleason score \geq 7), excluding families where all three cases are aggressive prostate cancer (192,193).

Non-BRCA genes related to HBOC

A review of the genetic causes of familial breast cancer revealed that only 25% of cases involved *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* variants. In 5% of patients, variants in four other high-risk genes—*CDH1*, *PTEN*, *STK11*, and *TP53*—were identified. Additionally, variants in medium-penetrance genes were found in another 5% of cases, while 14% were linked to low-penetrance genes. Notably, the causative gene remained unknown in 51% of cases (194). Most of the known susceptibility genes for HBOC encode tumor suppressors involved in genome stability pathways, particularly HR repair. Some of these genes also play a role in MMR and interstrand DNA cross-link repair through the Fanconi anemia pathway (195).

Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer

Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer (HDGC) is an AD cancer syndrome characterized by a high prevalence of diffuse gastric cancer and lobular breast cancer. It is largely caused by inactivating germline PVs in the tumor suppressor gene *CDH1*, though PVs in *CTNNA1* are found in a minority of HDGC families (196–198). HDGC is now estimated to have a worldwide population incidence of 5–10 per 100,000 births (199). *CDH1* PVs occur in 25–50% of those meeting the HDGC criteria (196).

The International Gastric Cancer Linkage Consortium has established guidelines for the clinical management of HDGC, including recommendations for *CDH1* genetic testing (199). Referral for genetic testing should be considered for individuals when one of the following criteria has been met and cancer diagnosis has been confirmed (See Table 14). Individuals who meet the criteria for genetic testing and test negative for a *CDH1* variant should then be considered for *CTNNA1* analysis.

Table 14. Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer criteria

Family criteria (First- or second-degree blood relative)

≥2 cases of gastric cancer in family regardless of age, with at least one diffuse gastric cancer

≥1 case of diffuse gastric cancer at any age, and ≥1 case of lobular breast cancer at age <70

years, in different relatives

≥2 cases of lobular breast cancer in relatives <50 years of age

Individual criteria

Diffuse gastric cancer at age <50 years

Diffuse gastric cancer at any age in individuals of Māori ethnicity

Diffuse gastric cancer at any age in individuals with a personal or family history (first-degree

relative) of cleft lip or cleft palate

History of diffuse gastric cancer and lobular breast cancer, both diagnosed at age <70 years

Bilateral lobular breast cancer, diagnosed at age <70 years

Gastric in situ signet ring cells or pagetoid spread of signet ring cells in individuals <50 years of age

Note: (199)

Hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer

Hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer (HLRCC) syndrome, also known as Reed syndrome, is a rare genetic disorder caused by PVs in the *FH* gene. This syndrome predisposes individuals to develop multiple cutaneous leiomyomas, RCC, and in women, uterine leiomyomas (200). Those affected by HLRCC typically present with various types of RCC, including papillary type 2, collecting duct, and tubulopapillary carcinomas (201,202). Genetic counseling referral is recommended for individuals with cutaneous leiomyomas and RCC, as 85% of those with cutaneous leiomyomas (some isolated cases and some with a family history of uterine leiomyoma or RCC) have been found to carry an *FH* PV in studies (203–206). Additionally, a *FH* PV has been identified in 17% of patients with papillary type 2 RCC. *FH* gene PVs have been identified in 76% to 93% of families with clinical features consistent with HLRCC (207,208). This disorder has been reported in approximately 200 families worldwide, but it may be underdiagnosed (209).

Hereditary melanoma

Hereditary melanoma, or familial atypical mole and malignant melanoma, is an AD disease primarily caused by PVs in the *CDKN2A/ARF* gene and the *CDK4* gene (210). Germline susceptibility to the disease has also been associated with PVs in other high-penetrance melanoma predisposition genes, including *BAP1* (breast cancer associated protein-1), *TERT* (telomerase reverse transcriptase), and *POT1* (protection of telomeres 1), or with variants in intermediate-risk genes, such as *MC1R* (melanocortin 1 receptor) and *MITF* (microphthalmia-associated transcription factor) (211–213). This condition is characterized by the presence of numerous melanocytic nevi (typically more than 50) and a family history of melanoma (214). A positive family history is defined as a family in which either two first-degree relatives or three or more melanoma patients on the same side of the family (irrespective of the degree of relationship) are diagnosed with melanoma (215). Approximately 5–10% of cutaneous melanomas occur in families with hereditary melanoma predisposition (216). Individuals with hereditary melanoma also have a 17% risk of developing pancreatic cancer by age 75 (214).

In general, familial melanoma cases have an earlier age at diagnosis, around 34 years, compared to 54 years for other melanoma cases. The cancer risk for individuals with familial melanoma is between 50-90% (217). A study of 466 families with at least three cases of melanoma found that 38% had *CDKN2A* PVs, although the penetrance and detection rates can vary by region (218). *CDKN2A* PVs are relatively rare in families with pancreatic cancer alone but can occur in up to 11% of families that have both pancreatic cancer and melanoma (219).

Hereditary papillary renal cell carcinoma

Hereditary papillary RCC is a rare familial disorder caused by activating PVs in the *MET* gene. It is characterized by an increased risk of developing papillary type 1 RCC, with patients typically having multiple kidney tumors and a heightened risk of tumors in both kidneys. In a study of 129 patients with papillary RCC, 6% (8 out of 129) were found to have a germline *MET* PVs. Currently, no other types of cancer or noncancerous health issues are associated with hereditary papillary RCC (220,221).

Hereditary paraganglioma-pheochromocytoma syndrome

Hereditary paraganglioma-pheochromocytoma (PGL/PCC) syndrome is an AD disease caused by PVs in the *SDHB*, *SDHD*, *SDHC*, *SDHAF2*, *MAX*, and *TMEM127* genes. This syndrome significantly increases the risk of developing paragangliomas and pheochromocytomas, as well as certain other cancers, including, GIST, pulmonary chondromas, and clear cell RCC (222,223). Studies indicate that 8–25% of individuals with these tumors have hereditary PGL/PCC syndrome due to a germline PV in the *SDHB*, *SDHC*, or *SDHD* genes. The prevalence of hereditary PGL/PCC syndrome is higher in individuals with a family history of these tumors or other clinical factors, such as multiple tumors, recurrent, early-onset disease, or head and neck location (224–228).

PVs in *SDHD*, *SDHAF2*, and possibly *MAX* demonstrate parent-of-origin effects, causing disease almost exclusively when paternally inherited. An individual who inherits an *SDHD* or *SDHAF2* pathogenic variant from their father is at high risk of developing PGLs and PCCs, whereas those who inherit these variants from their mother are usually not at risk, though exceptions can occur (222).

Hereditary retinoblastoma

Hereditary retinoblastoma is an AD disease caused by PVs in the *RB1* gene, characterized by a malignant tumor of the retina, typically occurring before age 5. Approximately 40% of all retinoblastoma cases are hereditary, and 80-90% of individuals with *RB1* gene PVs develop ocular tumors (229,230). Retinoblastoma was the first disease for which a genetic etiology of cancer was described, and *RB1* was the first identified tumor suppressor gene. In 1971, Knudson proposed the hypothesis that retinoblastoma is caused by two mutational events, laying the foundation for understanding the genetic basis of cancer (231). Individuals with a family history of retinoblastoma, bilateral tumors, or multifocal tumors are at the highest risk for hereditary retinoblastoma (229).

Survival rates for retinoblastoma patients are high, but they face a significantly increased risk of developing secondary cancers, primarily pinealoblastoma, osteosarcoma, sarcoma (particularly radiogenic sarcoma), and melanoma (232–234). This predisposition to secondary cancers is attributed to genetic susceptibility and past radiation treatment for retinoblastoma (235–237). Chemotherapy, particularly with alkylating agents, has also been associated with an increased risk of bone cancer in retinoblastoma survivors (238–240), although it is less commonly linked to soft tissue sarcomas (241). Long-term survivors have a 20-fold increased risk of developing and dying from these non-ocular cancers (238,242).
Juvenile polyposis syndrome

Juvenile polyposis syndrome is a rare AD disorder characterized by the presence of multiple juveniletype hamartomatous polyps throughout the gastrointestinal tract and a significantly increased risk of colorectal cancer (243). This syndrome is caused by PVs in the *SMAD4* (20%) and *BMPR1A* (20%) genes, with about 50%-60% of juvenile polyposis syndrome patients having a germline PV in one of these genes (244). The term "juvenile polyp" refers to a specific histologic type of polyp rather than the age at diagnosis (245).

Juvenile polyposis syndrome is defined by the presence of five or more juvenile polyps in the colorectum, juvenile polyps throughout the gastrointestinal tract, or any number of juvenile polyps combined with a positive family history of juvenile polyposis syndrome (243). Individuals with juvenile polyposis syndrome have a cumulative colorectal cancer risk of up to 68% by the age of 60 years (244). The risk for other gastrointestinal cancers, including those of the stomach, upper gastrointestinal tract, and pancreas, ranges from 9% to 50% in families with juvenile polyposis syndrome (245).

Extraintestinal features of juvenile polyposis syndrome can include valvular heart disease (11%), telangiectasia or vascular anomalies (9%, particularly in *SMAD4* carriers), and macrocephaly (11%) (246). Additionally, some individuals with juvenile polyposis syndrome due to *SMAD4* PVs may exhibit symptoms of hereditary hemorrhagic telangiectasia (247,248).

Melanoma-astrocytoma syndrome

Melanoma–astrocytoma syndrome is a rare AD condition caused by PVs in the *CDKN2A* and *p14ARF* genes, and possibly the *ANRIL* antisense noncoding RNA. This syndrome is characterized by an increased risk for melanoma and astrocytomas (57). The genetic basis of this tumor predisposition syndrome was elucidated in 1998 by Bahuau et al., who identified deletions in the INK4 locus at chromosome 9p21.3 in families previously reported in 1993 and 1997 (249). The INK4 locus contains the *CDKN2A* and *CDKN2B* tumor suppressor genes. *CDKN2A* encodes the p16INK4a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor and, in an alternative reading frame, p14ARF, an inhibitor of p53 signaling. *CDKN2B* encodes p15INK4b, a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor closely related to p16INK4a (250,251).

CDKN2A is a major susceptibility gene for familial cutaneous melanoma, typically through inactivating PVs or gene deletions (250,251). Familial melanoma-astrocytoma syndrome is considered an AD variant of familial melanoma syndrome, involving heterozygous germline *CDKN2A* inactivation that also predisposes individuals to astrocytomas and occasionally other neural tumors, including peripheral nerve sheath tumors and meningiomas (252). The tumor spectrum in this syndrome is not well understood, with fewer than 15 families described in the medical literature (253).

Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1

Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1), also known as Wermer syndrome, is a rare and highly penetrant AD disorder caused by germline PVs in the *MEN1* gene, which encodes the protein menin. MEN1 is characterized by an increased risk of developing both endocrine and nonendocrine tumors (254). The prevalence of MEN1 is estimated to be between 3-20 per 100,000 people (255,256).

Individuals with two MEN1 manifestations had a 26% chance of having a *MEN1* PV (257). Due to the relatively low PV detection rates in sporadic cases, no single MEN1-associated tumor is sufficient to warrant genetic counseling referral (57), except for gastrinoma, of which 20% are due to *MEN1* PVs (258).

The age-related penetrance of MEN1 exceeds 50% by age 20 and 95% by age 40 (258). MEN1 syndrome is marked by the development of various combinations of over 20 different types of endocrine and nonendocrine tumors. These tumors often show loss of heterozygosity (LOH) at chromosome 11q13, where the *MEN1* gene is located, leading to biallelic loss of *MEN1* (258–262). Additionally, instances of geographical clustering of MEN1 due to founder effects have been reported (263).

Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2

Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 (MEN2) is an AD neuroendocrine neoplasia predisposition syndrome caused by gain-of-function mutations in the *RET* gene (264). MEN2 is characterized by increased risks for medullary thyroid cancer (up to 100%), pheochromocytomas (up to 50%), and parathyroid disease (up to 30%) (265–267). The syndrome occurs in approximately 1 in 200,000 live births and presents with variable penetrance depending on the specific subtype and associated genotype (265).

MEN2 has several subtypes, each with distinct age-related penetrance, frequencies, and clinical presentations of component neoplasia. As many as 25% of unselected individuals with medullary thyroid cancer have a *RET* PV (268). Additionally, genetic testing for *RET* PVs in individuals with nonsyndromic pheochromocytomas has found a PV in about 5% of cases in some studies (269), though other studies report lower rates (227).

MUTYH-associated polyposis

MUTYH-associated polyposis (MAP) is a recessive condition resulting from biallelic PVs in the *MUTYH* gene, leading to a significantly increased risk of developing adenomatous colon polyps and CRC, with a lifetime risk as high as 80–90% (270). MAP was first identified in 2002 by a Welsh research group (271). Individuals with MAP may develop a varying number of adenomatous polyps, ranging from just a few to over 100, which can cause overlap with FAP, attenuated FAP, and Lynch syndrome (272,273).

Although MAP accounts for less than 1% of all CRCs, it is associated with a 28-fold increased risk of CRC (274,275). Testing for MAP is typically conducted alongside testing for the APC gene, especially in patients with 10 or more adenomatous polyps. MAP testing is also considered for patients diagnosed with colorectal cancer before age 50, particularly if their tumors show mismatch repair proficiency and Lynch syndrome has been excluded (57).

The prevalence of biallelic *MUTYH* PVs varies with the number of adenomas: 2% in patients with 1000 or more adenomas, 7% in patients with 100–999 adenomas, 7% in patients with 20–99 adenomas, and 4% in patients with 10–19 adenomas (173).

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome

Peutz-Jeghers syndrome (PJS) is an AD disorder caused by PVs in the *STK11* gene, characterized by distinct mucocutaneous hyperpigmentation seen in areas such as the mouth, lips, nose, eyes, genitalia, or fingers. Individuals with PJS also develop multiple hamartomatous polyps throughout the gastrointestinal tract, which significantly increases the risk for various cancers. Specifically, there is a heightened risk for CRC (39% between ages 15 and 64), pancreatic cancer (36%), gastric cancer (29%), and small intestinal cancer (13%) (276,277). The incidence of PJS is estimated to be between 1 in 50,000 to 1 in 200,000 live births, with a prevalence ranging from 1 in 8,300 to 1 in 280,000 individuals (277–283).

In addition to gastrointestinal cancers, individuals with PJS face increased risks for other malignancies, including breast cancer (54%), ovarian sex cord tumors with annular tubules (21%), adenoma malignum of the cervix (10%), and Sertoli cell tumors of the testes (9%) (276). The hamartomatous polyps characteristic of PJS are composed of glandular epithelium supported by smooth muscle cells that are contiguous with the muscularis mucosa (57).

Von Hippel–Lindau syndrome

Von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) syndrome is an AD familial neoplastic syndrome caused by PVs in the *VHL* gene (284). It encompasses a spectrum of tumors affecting multiple organs, with the most common manifestations being hemangioblastomas in the brain, spinal cord, and retina; clear cell RCC; pheochromocytomas and paragangliomas; and pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors (285). Additional findings include endolymphatic sac tumors and papillary cystadenomas of the epididymis and broad ligament. VHL affects approximately 1 in 36,000 live births, with a penetrance exceeding 90% by age 65. Symptoms typically appear in the second decade of life, and about half of patients are symptomatic at diagnosis, often presenting with cerebellar hemangioblastomas (284,286).

VHL PVs are detected in 10–40% of individuals with isolated central nervous system hemangioblastoma, 46% with isolated retinal capillary hemangioma, 3–11% with isolated pheochromocytoma, and approximately 20% with an endolymphatic sac tumor (226,227,287–290). Referral for genetic counseling should be considered for individuals with personal or first-degree family history of clear cell RCC (especially bilateral or multifocal, diagnosed before age 50, or with close relatives affected), central nervous system hemangioblastoma, pheochromocytoma, endolymphatic sac tumor, or retinal capillary hemangioma. Unilateral, solitary RCC diagnosed at or after age 50 alone does not typically warrant genetic counseling referral (57,289,291).

DICER1 syndrome

DICER1 syndrome, also known as pleuropulmonary blastoma familial tumor susceptibility syndrome, is an AD genetic disorder caused by PVs in the *DICER1* gene (292). The penetrance of germline *DICER1* PVs for clinical phenotypes has been calculated to be ~ 5% by age 10 years, increasing to ~ 20% by age 50 (293). This syndrome has been linked to endocrine tumors, multinodular goiter, pleuropulmonary blastoma, cystic nephroma, and ovarian Sertoli-Leydig Cell Tumors (294).

DICER1 syndrome-related tumors usually harbor an additional somatically acquired missense PV in the RNase IIIb cleavage domain of the gene. This second PV fulfills Knudson's two-hit hypothesis, but in contrast to the classic model, with a few exceptions, the event on the second allele does not fully suppress *DICER1* function (295). Instead, hotspot PVs in the RNase IIIb domain interfere with *DICER1*'s ability to process miRNAs (296–298).

Approximately 87% of *DICER1* PVs are inherited, while about 13% are *de novo* (299). Somatic mosaicism is also observed in around 10% of *DICER1* syndrome cases (300). Those patients with mosaic PVs in the RNase IIIb hotspot develop a greater number of disease foci at significantly younger ages compared with non-RNase IIIb-mosaic individuals. In contrast, those with mosaic loss-of-function PVs tend to have one or two foci of disease. Regardless of the type of mosaic variant, a second PV is present (including LOH) (299,300).

A subset of *DICER1* syndrome tumors presents biallelic *DICER1* alterations limited to the tumor (i.e. biallelic somatic PV). These patients have a single-organ disease and are not considered syndromic or at risk of developing other *DICER1* syndrome symptoms, although an unrecognized mosaicism of the identified loss-of-function PV should be considered (301,302).

Digenic inheritance and oligogenic inheritance

The first documented case of digenic inheritance in human disease was for retinitis pigmentosa in 1994. This was a compelling report because it included data from multiple pedigrees and showed that the protein products of the two implicated genes interacted with each other (303).

When a germline PV is identified, for a few CPGs it enables the use of targeted therapies for patients and the inclusion of their relatives in cancer surveillance programs. The advent of NGS technologies, which allow for the simultaneous analysis of multiple cancer predisposition genes (CPGs) with reduced time and cost, has significantly increased the use of multigene panel testing over the past decade. This has led to the identification of a growing number of individuals carrying two or more PVs in CPGs. As more genes are included in these panels, the occurrence of this phenomenon is expected to rise (304). Whitworth and colleagues have termed this condition Multilocus Inherited Neoplasia Alleles Syndrome (MINAS) (305).

In addition to well-known cancer predisposition syndromes such as the ones described in the previous section, the presence of at least two independent, monoallelic germline PVs in different genes within the same signaling pathway has been described. These combined monoallelic double hits likely contribute to the clinical cancer phenotype by disrupting the affected signaling pathway. Importantly, these phenomena, which result from inherited combined digenic low-penetrance PVs, can occur even when parents show no clinical signs and the family history appears unremarkable (306).

Similarly, observations in breast cancer patients have suggested that low-penetrance cancer susceptibility SNVs act as modifier genes in both *BRCA1/BRCA2* PVs carriers and non-carriers, thereby increasing cancer risk. This phenomenon might involve genes acting as modifiers within the same cancer pathway or low-penetrance SNVs in individuals without *BRCA1/BRCA2* PVs (307,308). Additionally, combined monoallelic PVs in Fanconi anemia/breast cancer (*FA/BRCA*) pathway genes have been identified in patients with more severe disease phenotypes. The *FA/BRCA* pathway is crucial for maintaining genome integrity and plays essential roles in the DDR (306).

NGS can significantly accelerate the discovery of human digenic inheritance. By enabling the simultaneous sequencing of numerous genes, NGS allows the identification of disease-relevant PVs in two genes within a single experiment. However, it does not solve the challenge of determining which PVs are relevant to the phenotype, a task that is more complex in digenic inheritance than in monogenic inheritance (303).

A big review that compiled the published literature about digenic inheritance in CPGs was published in 2022. It included 385 individuals with MINAS, who presented 430 unique P/LP variants across 63 CPGs. The analysis revealed that 78.5% (287 out of 385) of these cases carried a *BRCA1* and/or *BRCA2* variant (See Figure 9). Among these individuals, 108 (28%) presented with MPCs. Of these 108 cases, 2 (1.9%) had an unknown number of MPCs, 75 (69%) had two primary tumors, 18 (17%) had three, and 13 (12%) had four or more. The most common combinations of MPCs were Breast-Ovarian (33 cases), Breast-Breast (24 cases), and Colon-Colon (6 cases) (304).

Figure 9. Circos plots illustrating combinations of cancer predisposition genes involved in individual cases of MINAS (n = 385)



Note: (304)

In a big German study, out of 1485 total germline sequenced patients, 138 patients had one AD PV, 59 patients presented one AR PV (heterozygous), 6 patients had two AD PVs, 5 patients – a combination of one AD PV and one AR PV, two patients had homozygous germline PVs in an AR gene (*FANCA* and

MUTYH), one patient had two AD and one heterozygous AR PVs, and one patient presented two AR germline PVS in two different genes (309).

Three families with cases of childhood/adolescent and young adult cancer caused by digenic inheritance of heterozygous PVs in *PMS2* + *POLE* and *PMS2* + *POLD1* were reported. Two siblings with multiple adenomas and CRC had a maternally inherited heterozygous *PMS2* PV, that was not suspected in the family, and a paternally inherited *POLD1* PV (See Figure 10) (310).



Figure 10. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a colorectal cancer family



In one of the *PMS2* + *POLE* families, several maternal relatives of the proband, who developed colorectal cancer at 16 and high-grade urothelial carcinoma at 19, also had early-onset CRC. However, polymerase proofreading-associated polyposis (PPAP) was not initially suspected in the family (See Figure 11).

Figure 11. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a colorectal cancer family



POLE+/- heterozygous PV in POLE, PMS2+/- heterozygous PV in PMS2. Note: (311)

The second case described a patient from a family with a known *POLE* PV, who developed medulloblastoma at 4.5 years old. Analysis revealed the patient inherited the *POLE* PV from the mother and had a de novo *PMS2* (See Figure 12).

Figure 12. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a family with a proband with multiple cancers



POLE+/- heterozygous PV in POLE, PMS2+/- heterozygous PV in PMS2. Note: (312)

Another CRC family presented digenic inheritance of germline PVs in MSH6 and MUTYH genes. The family comprised 7 cancer patients divided over two generations (See Figure 13). Fourteen relatives, all unaffected by cancer or polyposis, were genotyped for these variants, identifying one additional carrier of both variants, five MSH6-only carriers, and four MUTYH-only carriers (313). The involvement of MSH6 and MUTYH in oxidative DNA damage repair, along with their physical interaction that enhances MUTYH's repair activity, supports the association of variants in these genes (314).

Figure 13. Segregation of pathogenic variants in a family with a proband with multiple colorectal cancers



MUTYH+/- heterozygous PV in MUTYH, MSH6+/- heterozygous PV in MSH6. Note: (313)

The coinheritance of monoallelic splice site variants in OGG1 (involved in the repair of 7,8-dihydro-8oxoguanine) and missense MUTYH has also been described in a female with advanced synchronous colon cancer and adenomas at 36 years old. Segregation analysis within the family revealed that the patient's mother and two aunts, who were diagnosed with adenomas at ages 66 and 67 CRC at age 56, respectively, were heterozygous carriers of the MUTYH variant. Additionally, the OGG1 variant was inherited from the father, who had only a single polyp at age 65 (315).

A report of a coinheritance of BRCA2 and CYLD germline PVs in a family with malignant cylindroma and breast cancer emphasizes the importance of the recognition of double heterozygotes for the patient's treatment. A 29-year-old man presented with cylindromas on his scalp since he was 8 years old, inherited from his mother who had CYLD cutaneous syndrome. The proband's father and paternal grandmother had early-onset breast cancer, while his 33-year-old sister was diagnosed with breast cancer and CYLD cutaneous syndrome. Aged 28 years, the proband presented a malignant metastatic

cylindroma of the scalp. Somatic sequencing demonstrated LOH including the BRCA2 and CYLD loci. The germline and somatic PVs in this patient supported the use of unlicensed therapeutics that target BRCA deficiency, such as poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor (PARPi), which have not previously been used to treat malignant cylindroma (316).

The occurrence of a single patient carrying PVs in both BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes is rare, except in specific subpopulations with founder effects. Studies have reported that the prevalence of double heterozygotes ranges from 0.2% to 0.8% across various ethnic groups, but it reaches 1.8% among Ashkenazi Jewish individuals (317). Approximately thirty studies have identified families with breast and ovarian cancer that harbor PVs in both BRCA1 and BRCA2 (318).

Similar to monogenic cancer predisposition syndromes (CPS), digenic inheritance cases can exhibit unusual phenotype-genotype correlations. In an 11-year-old girl diagnosed with metastatic osteosarcoma, researchers identified two simultaneous monoallelic germline PVs in BRIP1 and HIPK2 using trio WES. BRIP1 PVs were previously linked to breast cancer but not to osteosarcoma. Notably, the girl's mother, who passed on the BRIP1 variant, was diagnosed with breast cancer at age 46. The HIPK2 PV, inherited from the father, affects a critical regulator of the DDR pathway and plays a key role in DNA double-strand break repair (306).

In a comprehensive review, it was estimated that 14.6% of patients with 2 PVs with one outside the BRCA1/BRCA2 genes (13 out of 89) had at least one tumor type not typically associated with the relevant CPGs, such as clear cell RCC in a patient with variants in both BRCA1 and MLH1 PVs. In a second cohort, an atypical tumor phenotype was observed in 15.8% (12 out of 76) of non-BRCA1/BRCA2 tumor cases. However, not all studies provided individual patient-level data (304).

Four examples of atypical MINAS phenotypes included a woman diagnosed with breast cancer and Waldenstrom's disease at 58 years old, carrying PVs in BRCA1 and BLM (319), and another woman diagnosed with breast cancer, melanoma, and CRC, with a PV in FANCC and a P/LP variant in TYR (320). Additionally, there was a woman diagnosed with lobular breast cancer at 51 years, followed by follicular adenoma and thyroid micropapillary carcinoma at 52 years, carrying PVs in PMS2 and CDH1 (321), and a woman diagnosed with cutaneous leiomyomas at 40 years, followed by colorectal polyposis at 52 years, found to be heterozygous for P/LP variants in FH and BARD1 (322). In these cases, Waldenstrom disease, colorectal cancer, thyroid carcinoma, and colorectal polyposis occurred despite not being associated with any of the relevant MINAS CPGs. Each case involved MPCs and rare CPGs combinations, making it unclear whether these were manifestations of synergy between the CPGs or coincidental. The presence of MPCs of unusual types might have prompted genetic testing in these patients (304). Additional examples of oligogenic conditions and their associated causative variants are available in the Oligogenic Diseases Database (OLIDA) (323).

Polygenic risk scores and mutational signatures

In the context of complex diseases such as cancer, both polygenic risk scores (PRS) and mutational signatures are tools used to understand and predict disease risk with potential clinical applications. It has been demonstrated that strong connections exist between PRS derived from germline genetic data and mutational signatures from the somatic mutational patterns in tumors. These correlations likely signify the roles of hormone regulation and immune responses in cancer development and progression, shedding light on the underlying mechanisms driving these processes (324).

Polygenic risk scores

The germline genome holds the code for susceptibility or resistance to cancer. Studying it unveils variants in genes associated with cancer predisposition and susceptibility. Each cancer type and subtype exhibit a distinct genetic architecture comprised of very rare variants with substantial effects, more common moderately impactful variants, and common variants with minor effects (see Figure 14). These common variants can be combined in polygenic scores for cancer susceptibility (325–327). Sometimes not PVs, but the combination of many common variants contributes to cancer development risk.

Figure 14. Spectrum of distribution of susceptibility alleles according to their frequency and strength of genetic effect



High penetrant mutations (very low-frequency alleles with a high effect size) have been the easiest to identify as causing Mendelian disease using standard genetic techniques, while common susceptibility alleles (high frequency with a low effect size) were discovered in genome-wide association studies (GWAS). *Note*: adapted from (1)

Numerous fields within genetics now employ combinations of variants that collectively account for a significant portion of disease risk variation. Combining variants into PRS can explain a larger proportion of disease risk compared to single high penetrance variants. For instance, PRS derived from genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have identified loci used for cancer screening, risk prediction, and risk stratification purposes (328,329). PRS combine all the SNVs identified in a GWAS, giving greater weight to the SNVs more strongly associated with cancer, creating a single score. Individuals with higher PRS are anticipated to have higher disease risk than those with lower PRS (330,331). PRS have been described in breast cancer (327,332), prostate cancer (333), CRC (334), lung cancer (335) and ovarian cancer (336).

PRS effectively stratify breast cancer risk in the general population (327). Studies have shown that for some breast cancer predisposition genes, the risk associated with a P/LP variant combines multiplicatively with the risk derived from the PRS (337,338). In the case of single genes with a more moderate effect, the adjustment by the PRS alone can alter an individual's final risk classification and guide their corresponding clinical management. As data on polygenic risk has been primarily derived from studies restricted to populations of European ancestry, its applicability to people from other ethnic backgrounds remains uncertain (339). However, recent research suggests that the established PRS may offer some value, at least within Asian populations (340).

In population health, PRS application can identify groups at risk for cancer, enabling early interventions to decrease disease burden. These interventions include earlier or more frequent screening for disease biomarkers, lifestyle modifications, dietary adjustments, or preventive medical interventions. Additionally, PRS testing can identify individuals who could benefit from participation in new treatment trials (341).

Mutational signatures

Cancer arises from the accumulation of somatic mutations, distinct from the germline variants that are present in every cell. These somatic mutations, occurring in all human cells and persisting throughout life, result from various mutational processes, including inherent inaccuracies in DNA replication, exposure to external or internal mutagens, enzymatic DNA modifications, and impaired DNA repair mechanisms, giving rise to distinctive combinations of mutation types known as mutational signatures (324,342).

Mutational signatures are indicators of the mutational processes that were active throughout an individual's lifespan. Over recent years, various studies have unveiled more than 50 mutational signatures across different cancer types. However, the underlying causes of many of these signatures remain unknown. Mutational signatures encompass both processes commonly occurring across various cancer types and those specific to particular cancers. Signatures like SBS2 and SBS13 that are

linked to the enzymatic activity of the APOBEC family are present across multiple cancer types. On the contrary, signature SBS12 of an unknown etiology predominantly manifests in liver cancers. Another set of signatures reflect lifestyle choices and environmental exposures. Signatures like SBS4 correlate with tobacco smoking, while signatures SBS7a/b/c/d are influenced by exposure to ultraviolet light. Finally, some signatures arise from endogenous exposure. The clock-like signature SBS1 results from endogenous deamination of 5-methylcytosine (324,342–344).

MPCs without familial predisposition

Outside of a familial context, MPCs may be linked to germline de novo PVs, low-penetrance PVs or mosaicism in predisposing genes. In a study of 100 patients with multiple primary melanoma (MPM) and no family history of melanoma, 9% were found to have germline PVs in the *CDKN2A* gene. The results indicated that six of the seven sporadic MPM cases shared a common ancestral PV. Therefore, de novo *CDKN2A* germline PVs associated with MPM are rare, but not non-existent (345).

PVs in the *TP53* gene have been described as both de novo and mosaic variants in Li-Fraumeni syndrome patients. Among 328 unrelated patients with *TP53* PVs identified by Sanger sequencing or Quantitative multiplex PCR, 40 cases were confirmed as de novo, with no correlation to parental age. Additionally, two mosaic PVs were identified: one in a child with adrenocortical carcinoma and the other in the unaffected father of a child with medulloblastoma. A re-analysis using NGS of 108 patients suspected of Li-Fraumeni syndrome but without detectable *TP53* PVs revealed six additional mosaic *TP53* variants in children and adults with adrenocortical carcinoma, choroid plexus tumors, breast cancer, osteosarcoma, and sarcoma. This study estimated that de novo PVs account for at least 14% of Li-Fraumeni syndrome cases, with around 20% of these variants occurring during embryonic development (346). In *BRCA1*- and *BRCA2*-Associated HBOC, de novo variants have been reported in \leq 5% of cases (347,348), and inheritance of a PV from a mosaic parent has also been documented (349).

If a cancer risk variant is mosaic, it may evade detection by clinical tests due to their limited sensitivity. For instance, mosaicism has been identified in cases where activating *HIF2A* variants were present in multiple tumors but not in the blood of patients with multiple paragangliomas. This phenomenon could account for some individuals with MPCs who have no relevant family history. Genetic studies in such cases may still offer important insights, even without a family history suggestive of inherited predisposition (350,351).

Overview of the project and aim of the thesis

Project structure

Genetic cancer predisposition can be viewed as a continuous condition, starting with monogenic inheritance, and going through digenic, oligogenic and PRS (See Figure 15). In monogenic inheritance, very rare variants with very high effect in a single CPG predispose an individual to a tumor or a specific set of tumors. However, some patients may present with types of cancer that are unusual for a specific gene. When an individual has two low-frequency variants with high effects in two CPGs, this is known as digenic inheritance. Next, there are oligogenic combinations, typically involving 3-20 genetic loci (352) with variable allele frequencies and moderate effect sizes. These loci can interact in various ways, including as a dominant gene with its modifiers or as genes with similar effects in the disease. Finally, PRS involve hundreds or even thousands of genetic variants, each with a relatively high allele frequency but very low effect size, collectively increasing the risk of an individual developing cancer.



Figure 15. Cancer predisposition spectrum

Genetic counseling for cancer patients represents numerous challenges, particularly as genomic technologies evolve. The advent of NGS has shifted the landscape from single-gene testing to panel sequencing and even WES and WGS. These advancements have made testing more affordable and faster, leading to an increase in genetic testing outside the tumor phenotype. This has resulted in the discovery of previously unknown tumor-gene associations (Part 1. Uncommon cancer-gene associations). Additionally, enhanced surveillance and follow-up in families with known cancer

predisposition variants have uncovered further PVs, revealing complex inheritance patterns such as digenic inheritance (Part 2. Digenic inheritance). Moreover, testing patients with MPCs who lack known PVs in CPGs holds promise for expanding our understanding of the genetic basis of cancer (Part 3. Multiple primary cancers).

Objectives

MPCs can be explained through monogenic, digenic, oligogenic or undetectable causes. This project focuses on three main MPCs mechanisms: monogenic (Part 1. Uncommon cancer-gene associations), digenic (Part 2. Digenic inheritance), and oligogenic (Part 3. Multiple primary cancers) aiming to refine genetic mechanisms behind high cancer susceptibility and enhance personalized care.

Uncommon cancer-gene associations

This part investigates the controversial role of *BRCA1* in CRC. While *BRCA1*'s involvement in homologous recombination deficiency (HRD) and its importance in targeted cancer treatments are well-documented, its role in CRC remains unclear. This case series aims to clarify whether pathogenic *BRCA1* variants contribute to early-onset CRC development, besides its known role in breast and ovarian cancer risk.

Digenic inheritance

This section explores the tumor risk associated with digenic inheritance involving known CPGs such as *BRCA1, BRCA2, ATM*, and *CHEK2*. The study describes six patients from five families who inherited combinations of pathogenic variants in these genes, including four patients with *BRCA2* and *ATM* variants, one with *BRCA2* and *BRCA1* variants, and one with *BRCA2* and *CHEK2* variants. These people had a wide range of tumors, including early cancers, multiple tumors or the absence of any malignant disease.

Multiple primary cancers

This part explores the novel genetic mechanisms underlying tumor development in patients with MPCs diagnosed before the age of 45, particularly those who do not have a germline molecular genetic diagnosis after initial evaluation. This research aims to uncover additional CPGs and provide insights into the genetic factors contributing to high cancer susceptibility in these patients.

By investigating MPCs, rare cancer-gene associations, and digenic inheritance, the project aims to expand our understanding of genetic cancer predisposition. The findings will contribute to improved genetic counseling, early detection, and the development of personalized treatment strategies for patients with hereditary cancer risk.

General methods

This section provides an overview of the general methodologies employed across the studies. For detailed methodologies specific to each study, please refer to the corresponding sections within the respective publications.

Patient selection and data collection

The studies included cancer patients who underwent evaluation at the genetic department of the CHU of Liege. The inclusion criteria differed for each study (see Table 15). Patient clinical and genetic data was gathered from their medical charts.

Table 15. Inclusion criteria for the studies

Inclusion criteria	Uncommon cancer- gene associations	Digenic inheritance	Multiple primary cancers
Young age	Young age at first cancer diagnosis	Yes	Yes
Cancer characteristics	Aggressive cancer	Breast cancer, multiple cancers	Multiple cancers
Cancer family history	Yes	Yes	No

Genetic evaluation

The studies involved the evaluation of both germline DNA, obtained from the patients' blood samples, and somatic DNA extracted from Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded (FFPE) tumor samples (See Table 16).

Table 16. Genetic evaluation in the studies

	Uncommon cancer- gene associations	Digenic inheritance	Multiple primary cancers
Germline DNA	Targeted NGS	Targeted NGS	WES
	WES	MLPA	СМА
	Sanger sequencing	Sanger sequencing	Sanger sequencing
Somatic DNA	Targeted NGS	-	WES
	WES		
	СМА		
Bioinformatic	Mutational	-	Mutational signatures
evaluation	signatures		CNV detection in WES
			data

CMA – Chromosomal Microarray Analysis, CNV – Copy Number Variation, MLPA – Multiplex Ligation-dependent Probe Amplification, NGS – Next Generation Sequencing, WES – Whole Exome Sequencing.

Ethical approval

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Comité d'Ethique Hospitalo-facultaire Universitaire de Liège (protocol code 2019/245, 28/10/2019 date of approval)

Part 1. Uncommon cancer-gene associations

BRCA1, a gene encoding a multifunctional protein integral to many cellular pathways, has been linked to various neoplasms, including hereditary breast and ovarian cancers. However, its connection with CRCs remains debatable. The scarcity of data on young patients with *BRCA1* variants developing CRCs underscores the need for a deeper understanding of the role of these variants in early-onset CRCs.

This case series presents three patients diagnosed with aggressive early-onset CRC, each harboring heterozygous *BRCA1* PVs. Comprehensive molecular analyses, including WES, targeted NGS and CMA, unveiled the genetic landscape of these tumors. Notably, all tumors exhibited elevated HRD scores, with HRD-related mutational signatures contributing significantly to the somatic variant profiles.

Contradictory findings characterize existing data on the association between *BRCA1* variants and CRC risk. While some studies suggest an increased risk, others fail to establish a definitive link. However, emerging evidence hints at a potential correlation, as evidenced by the presence of *BRCA1* variants in CRC patients and high HRD scores in their tumors. These observations highlight the need for *BRCA1* testing in young patients with microsatellite-stable CRC and advocate for personalized treatment strategies, such as PARPi, in select cases.

The findings of this case series highlight the potential involvement of *BRCA1* germline PVs in CRC development through HRD. Incorporating *BRCA1* testing into the diagnostic workup of young CRC patients could facilitate tailored treatment approaches, potentially improving clinical outcomes in this subset of patients.





Case Report Series: Aggressive HR Deficient Colorectal Cancers Related to *BRCA1* Pathogenic Germline Variants

Maria Valeria Freire¹, Marie Martin¹, Romain Thissen¹, Cédric Van Marcke^{2,3}, Karin Segers¹, Edith Sépulchre¹, Natacha Leroi¹, Céline Lété¹, Corinne Fasquelle¹, Jean Radermacher⁴, Yeter Gokburun⁵, Joelle Collignon⁶, Anne Sacré⁷, Claire Josse⁶, Leonor Palmeira¹ and Vincent Bours¹*

¹ Department of Human Genetics, GIGA Research Center – University of Liège and Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) Liège, Liège, Belgium, ² Institute for Experimental and Clinical Research (Institut de Recherche Expérimentale et Clinique (IREC), Pôle Molecular Imaging, Radiotherapy and Oncology (MIRO)), Université Catholique de Louvain (UCLouvain), Brussels, Belgium, ³ Department of Medical Oncology, Institut Roi Albert II, Cliniques Universitaires Saint-Luc, Brussels, Belgium, ⁴ Department of Pathology, Institut de Pathologie et de Génétique, Charleroi, Belgium, ⁵ Department of Gastroenterology, Centre Hospitalier Régional Sambre et Meuse, Namur, Belgium, ⁶ Department of Medical Oncology, GIGA Research Center – University of Liège and Centre Hospitalier Universitaire (CHU) Liège, Liège, Belgium, ⁷ Onco-Hematology Department, Centre Hospitalier Régional (CHR) Verviers, Verviers, Belgium

Objective: The link between *BRCA1* and homologous recombination deficiency (HRD) in cancer has gained importance with the emergence of new targeted cancer treatments, while the available data on the role of the gene in colorectal cancer (CRC) remain contradictory. The aim of this case series was to elucidate the role of known pathogenic *BRCA1* variants in the development of early-onset CRC.

Design: Patients were evaluated using targeted next generation sequencing, exome sequencing and chromosomal microarray analysis of the paired germline and tumor samples. These results were used to calculate the HRD score and the frequency of mutational signatures in the tumors.

Results: Three patients with metastatic CRC were heterozygous for a previously known BRCA1 nonsense variant. All tumors showed remarkably high HRD scores, and the HRD-related signature 3 had the second highest contribution to the somatic pattern of variant accumulation in the samples (23% in 1 and 2, and 13% in sample 3).

Conclusions: A *BRCA1* germline pathogenic variant can be involved in CRC development through HRD. Thus, *BRCA1* testing should be considered in young patients with a personal history of microsatellite stable CRC as this could further allow a personalized treatment approach.

Keywords: colorectal (colon) cancer, BRCA1, homologous recombination deficiency (HRD), exome sequencing (ES), case report

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Walter Hernán Pavicic, Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas (CONICET), Argentina

Reviewed by:

Moom Roosan, Chapman University, United States Natalija Dedić Plavetić University Hospital Centre Zagreb, Croatia

*Correspondence:

Vincent Bours vbours@uliege.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Genetics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

Received: 14 December 2021 Accepted: 01 February 2022 Published: 24 February 2022

Citation:

Freire MV, Martin M, Thissen R, Van Marcke C, Segers K, Sépulchre E, Leroi N, Lété C, Fasquelle C, Radermacher J, Gokburun Y, Collignon J, Sacré A, Josse C, Palmeira L and Bours V (2022) Case Report Series: Aggressive HR Deficient Colorectal Cancers Related to BRCA1 Pathogenic Germline Variants. Front. Oncol. 12:835581. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.835581

INTRODUCTION

BRCA1 is a tumor suppressor gene encoding a large protein that coordinates several cellular pathways including DNA repair, transcriptional regulation, cell-cycle control, centrosome duplication, and apoptosis (1). Pathogenic germline variants in *BRCA1* gene have been associated with familial risk of breast and ovarian cancers (OMIM: 604370) (2, 3). As early as in 1994, it was observed that women with a history of breast, endometrial, or ovarian cancer presented a statistically significant although small risk for subsequent colorectal cancer (CRC), suggesting the existence of common etiologic factors for the development of these tumors (4).

Data concerning young patients with *BRCA1* variants that develop CRC have been scarce. Germline pathogenic variants in *BRCA1* gene have not been causally linked to an increased risk of familial colorectal cancer, but the reports on the subject are contradictory (5–9). Indeed, patients carrying a germline *BRCA1*

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics.

variant can develop a sporadic tumor, independently of *BRCA1* loss of function, highlighting the need to demonstrate the causal role of the variant in the cancer development (10).

The aim of this case series was to gain insight into the role of known pathogenic *BRCA1* variants in the development of early onset CRC

CASE DESCRIPTION

Three patients were diagnosed in 2020 and 2021 with aggressive early-onset CRC. The demographic, familial, clinical, histopathological, and molecular characteristics, as well as the treatment regimens of these patients are presented in Table 1.

The first case was referred to oncogenetic consultation due to the young age of presentation of an aggressive disease without evidence of Lynch syndrome (no mismatch repair deficiency or microsatellite instability) and history of a *BRCA1* pathogenic

Parameter	Case 1	Case 2	Case 3
Age (year)	31	56	35
Sex	Female	Female	Male
Medical history	None	Breast cancer at 36 y/o, contralateral breast cancer at 41 y/o	Ulcerative colitis
Family history	Maternal side: aunt breast cancer, grandmother CRC, great-grandmother uterine cancer	Paternal side: aunt CRC, grandmother ovary cancer, grandmother's sister breast cancer	Maternal side: five aunts breast cancer, grandmother ovary cancer. Paternal side: grandmother CRC
CRC localization and type	Right colon moderately differentiated adenocarcinoma	Well to moderately differentiated rectum adenocarcinoma	Mucinous appendix adenocarcinoma
TNM tumor staging	pT4aN2aM1a	cT3N1M1b	pT4bN0M0 at diagnosis, peritoneal relapse at month 5
IHC and molecular tests on the tum	ior		
MSI-H	No	No	No
MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 and PMS2 protein expression	Normal	Normal	Normal
Identified variants			
Somatic pathogenic variants (heterozygous)	KRAS c.35G>A (p. Gly12Asp) TP53 c.524G>A (p.Arg175His)	KRAS c.35G>A (p. Gly12Asp)	-
Germline pathogenic variants (heterozygous)	BRCA1 c.1016dup (p.Val340Glyfs*6)	BRCA1 c.3756_3759del (p.Ser1253Argfs*10)	BRCA1 c.3841C>T (p.Gln1281*)
Somatic CMA array results	Partial gains and losses on Chr 1-3, 5- 9, 12, 13, 15-20 and X	Entire and partial gains and losses on Chr 1, 7, 8, 12, 13 and 18-20	Normal
HRD evaluation			
HRD score	59	61.15	66
Proportions of mutational signature	es with a proposed etiology		
SBS1	24%	28%	14%
SBS3	23%	22%	13%
SBS5	0%	0%	20%
Treatment			
Surgical	Right colectomy with lymph node dissection, ileocolonic anastomosis and metastasectomy of liver segments	Anterior rectum resection and hepatic surgery	Ileocolectomy with a lymph node dissection firstly and a posterior debulking surgery with IPCH after discovery of a peritoneal carcinomatosis
Chemotherapy	Pseudo-adjuvant chemotherapy with capecitabine-oxaliplatin followed by 7 cycles of chemotherapy with FOLFOX-bevacizumab	6 cycles of FOLFOXIRI	Adjuvant chemotherapy with capecitabine- oxaliplatin regimen (Xelox)

CMA, chromosomal microarray analysis; FOLFOX, folinic acid; fluorouracil and oxaliplatin; FOLFOXIRI, fluorouracil; folinic acid; oxaliplatin; and irinotecan; HRD, homologous recombination deficiency; IHC, Immunohistochemistry; IPCH, Intraperitoneal chemohyperthermia; MMR, mismatch repair; MSI, microsatellite instability; SBS, Single Base Substitution; TNM, TNM Classification of Malignant Tumors; y/o, years old. Reference transcripts: BRCA1 NM_007294.3; KRAS NM_004985.5; TP53 NM_000546.6. variant in the family. Given the age at the diagnosis of CRC, genes associated with familial polyposis (*NTHL1*, *RNF43*, *SMAD4*, *BMPR1A*), CRC (*POLE*, *POLD1*) and Li-Fraumeni syndrome (*TP53*) were analyzed. However, the patient only carried the heterozygous *BRCA1* pathogenic variant NM_007294.3(BRCA1_v001):c.1016dup (p.Val340Glyfs*6) identified in her maternal aunt.

To further evaluate the disease, targeted next-generation sequencing (NGS) and a high-resolution (180K) chromosomal microarray analysis (CMA) were performed on the DNA extracted from the tumor (estimated proportion of tumor cells in the sample - 50%). After sequencing, the familial pathogenic variant *BRCA1* c.1016dup was identified at an allele frequency (AF) of 70%, suggesting a loss of heterozygosity at the *BRCA1* locus. Further analysis revealed a somatic variant of *TP53* NM_000546.6(TP53):c.524G>A (p.Arg175His) at an AF of 40%. The CMA showed multiple rearrangements indicating genomic instability (chromosomal partial gains and losses on chromosomes 1-3, 5-9, 12, 13, 15-20 and X).

The personal and family history of cancer in case 2 already led in 2011 to the identification of the pathogenic *BRCA1* germline variant NM_007294.3(BRCA1_v001):c.3756_3759del (p.Ser1253Argfs*10). Taking this information into account, a CMA and NGS of the tumor DNA (estimated tumor infiltration – 30%) were performed, identifying the known germline *BRCA1* variant with an AF of 35% and an additional NM_004985.5 (KRAS_v001):c.35G>A variant with an AF of 23%. The CMA results were monosomies 18 and 19, trisomies 1q, 7, 8, 12, 13 and 20, partial chromosomal losses in the 1p region and partial chromosomal gains in the 1p region.

In case 3, CRC was diagnosed from a surgical specimen obtained after an appendectomy with the subsequent identification of a tumor-like lesion with low-grade dysplasia at the base of the cecum. Considering that the patient's mother carried a *BRCA1* germline variant, the patient DNA was tested, confirming the presence of the heterozygous *BRCA1* pathogenic variant NM_007294.3(BRCA1_v001):c.3841C>T (p.Gln1281*). Subsequently, *BRCA1* sequencing and CMA array on tumor DNA (sample estimated tumor infiltration – 20%) showed the *BRCA1* c.3841C>T family variant with an AF of 43%, while the CMA was normal.

The three variants are predicted to cause truncation of the translation in exon 10 (out of a total of 23) which will result in a severely shortened or absent protein due to nonsense-mediated decay of the mRNA. BRCA1 protein truncations downstream of this position have been described as pathogenic (11, 12). *BRCA1* c.1016dup and BRCA1 c.3841C>T variants were absent in 251174 control chromosomes in gnomAD, whereas *BRCA1* c.3756 3759del was present at an AF of 1.267e-05. BRCA1

c.1016dupA has been reported in the literature as a founder variant in Norway and Canada (13, 14) and also in multiple individuals affected with hereditary breast and ovarian cancer syndrome in other populations (15–18). Case 2 four-nucleotide deletion was widely reported in the literature in Polish and French-Canadian gynecological cancer patients (19, 20). The *BRCA1* variant present in case 3 has been reported as a France, Belgium, and Holland founder variant (21). ClinVar submitters including an expert panel (ENIGMA) cite the three variants as pathogenic. These data indicate that the three variants are highly likely to be associated with high breast and ovarian cancer risk.

Homologous recombination deficiency (HRD) evaluation can be performed using HRD score, an aggregate score of loss of heterozygosity (LOH), telomeric-allelic imbalance (TAI) and large-scale state transitions (LST). To confirm the HRD score in the CRC samples we used an alternative method of HRD detection by investigating single base substitution

(SBS) signatures.

To assess homologous recombination deficiency (HRD) in CRC samples, a paired germline and tumoral DNA exome sequencing using Twist Comprehensive Exome Panel and Twist Human RefSeq Panel (according to the manufacturer's instructions) from all three patients was performed. We used Sequenza (22) to detect and quantify copy number variation and estimate tumor cellularity and ploidy. These results were used as an input to calculate the HRD score with a threshold of positivity \geq 33 (23). Mutational signatures in the samples were analyzed Using MutationalPatterns R package (24) and COSMIC v2 signatures (25), taking only the somatic variants into account.

Through Sequenza, the estimated tumor cellularity was of 95% in the case 3 sample, while this value was lower for cases 1 and 2 – 22% and 27%, respectively. All three samples showed remarkably high HRD scores (59, 61.15 and 66, respectively), while no somatic copy number alteration was identified in *PALB2*, *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*.

The three most frequent SBS signatures with a proposed etiology in the samples were SBS1, 3 and 5 (see Figure 1). Signature 3 was the second most frequent signature with a contribution to 23% of the somatic pattern of variant accumulation in samples 1 and 2, and 13% in sample 3. While signature 1 and 5 reflect clock-like accumulation of somatic variants, signature 3 has been directly related to HRD (25).

DISCUSSION

The existing data linking germline pathogenic variants in the *BRCA1* gene to an increased risk of CRC are scarce. Two large studies reported that *BRCA1* variants conferred approximatively a fivefold increased risk for CRC, especially in young patients from high-risk families (6, 26). Out of three recent metaanalyses, one of them found an increased risk of colorectal cancer associated with *BRCA1* variants (odds ratio = 1.49, 95% CI = 1.19 to 1.85, P < 0.001) (8), while the other two did not identify any increase in CRC risk among patients carrying a *BRCA1* variant (7, 9). A study evaluating a cohort of *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* pathogenic variant carriers mostly of Ashkenazi ancestry concluded that they may be prone to developing anal carcinoma and left-sided mucinous histology CRC (27). One single publication reported a young male patient with a *BRCA1* germinal variant who presented with rectal



adenocarcinoma and showed an excellent response to oxaliplatincontaining neoadjuvant therapy (28). These data thus remain contradictory and do not allow to recommend to screen for CRC in *BRCA1* variants heterozygotes, or to consider *BRCA1* pathogenic variants as a factor predisposing to familial CRC.

Given the frequency of CRC and of *BRCA1* variant heterozygotes in European populations (29), co-occurrence may be incidental rather than indicative of a causal relationship, as suggested previously (30). However, a few lines of evidence indicate that co-occurrence might be relevant.

Recently, a large report investigated the frequencies of various cancers, including CRCs, in 6902 men with BRCA variants (31). The probability for developing a CRC was, according to this report, two times lower in men with *BRCA2* variants than in *BRCA1* variant heterozygotes. As it seems unlikely that *BRCA2* variants had a protective role against CRCs, these data could indicate a slightly but significantly increased risk of these cancers in men with *BRCA1* variants.

In our samples, we did not evaluate *BRCA1* protein expression. Although we describe patients with aggressive metastatic cancer, the presence of low levels of *BRCA1* protein had a worse prognosis even in early-stage CRC (32).

In our study, we not only confirmed that the *BRCA1* germline variants were still present in the tumor (with evidence of positive selection in case 1), but we also demonstrate scars of HRD in the three tumors. Indeed, the presence of germline variants in HRD-associated genes alone is not sufficient to predict clinically relevant HRD. We highlighted the presence of specific mutational signatures (COSMIC signature 3) (33) and genomic instability characteristics (LOH, TAI and LST) (34–36), reflecting significant HRD, comparable with that observed in ovarian cancers with a *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* pathogenic variants. Interestingly, the initial somatic NGS analysis of cases 2 and 3 was not conclusive, possibly because of low tumor infiltration, but it could also be indicative of an epigenetic event leading to loss of *BRCA1* function and demonstrates the role of HRD testing even in cases where the mechanism driving HRD is not fully

elucidated. Taken together, these observations indicate that germline *BRCA1* variants may, in a small proportion of variant carriers, play a driver role in CRC development or progression and that these patients might thus benefit from a treatment with poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-inhibitors (PARPi). Indeed, clinical trials clearly demonstrated the efficacy of platinum-based chemotherapy and PARPi to treat BRCA mutated and/or HRD positive cancers inside the spectrum of BRCA-related cancers (37). Further evidence demonstrating that some CRC could be linked to BRCA deficiencies could open new perspectives for treatment with PARPi of these rare aggressive tumors.

The small number of patients and the bias in recruitment are the main limitations of our study, precluding to justify any specific surveillance or screening program in the absence of a personal or family history.

In conclusion, our data indicate that a *BRCA1* germline pathogenic variant can be involved in CRC development through HRD. Thus, *BRCA1* testing should be considered in young patients with a personal history of microsatellite stable CRC. This could further allow a personalized treatment approach with a PARPi.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The "Comité d'Ethique Hospitalo-facultaire Universitaire de Liège" (CHU/University of Liège) approved the study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceptualization: VB. Data curation: MF, MM, and VB. Formal analysis: MF. Funding acquisition: VB. Investigation: MF, MM, RT, CM, KS, ES, NL, CL, and CF. Methodology: MF, MM, RT, CM, CJ, and LP. Project administration: VB. Resources: VB. Supervision: CJ, LP, and VB. Validation: JR, YG, JC, and AS. Writing-original draft: MF and VB. Writing-review and editing: MF, MM, RT, CM, KS, ES, NL, CL, JR, YG, JC, AS, CJ, LP, VB, and CF. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Wu W, Koike A, Takeshita T, Ohta T. The Ubiquitin E3 Ligase Activity of BRCA1 and Its Biological Functions. Cell Div (2008) 3:1. doi: 10.1186/17471028-3-1
- Miki Y, Swensen J, Shattuck-Eidens D, Futreal PA, Harshman K, Tavtigian S, et al. A Strong Candidate for the Breast and Ovarian Cancer Susceptibility Gene Brca1. Science (1994) 266(5182):66–71. doi: 10.1126/science.7545954
- Mavaddat N, Peock S, Frost D, Ellis S, Platte R, Fineberg E, et al. Cancer Risksfor BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers: Results From Prospective Analysis of EMBRACE. J Natl Cancer Inst (2013) 105(11):812–22. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt095
- Schoen RE, Weissfeld JL, Kuller LH. Are Women With Breast, Endometrial, or Ovarian Cancer at Increased Risk for Colorectal Cancer? Am J Gastroenterol (1994) 89(6):835–42.
- Mersch J, Jackson M, Park M, Nebgen D, Peterson SK, Singletary C, et al.Cancers Associated With BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutations Other Than Breast and Ovarian. Cancer (2015) 121(2):269–75. doi: 10.1002/cncr.29041
- Phelan CM, Iqbal J, Lynch HT, Lubinski J, Gronwald J, Moller P, et al.Incidence of Colorectal Cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers: Results From a Follow-Up Study. Br J Cancer (2014) 110(2):530–4. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.741
- Cullinane CM, Creavin B, O'Connell EP, Kelly L, O'Sullivan MJ, Corrigan MA, et al. Risk of Colorectal Cancer Associated With BRCA1 and/or BRCA2 Mutation Carriers: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. BJS (British J Surgery) (2020) 107(8):951–9. doi: 10.1002/bjs.11603
- Oh M, McBride A, Yun S, Bhattacharjee S, Slack M, Martin JR, et al. BRCA1 and BRCA2 Gene Mutations and Colorectal Cancer Risk: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst (2018) 110(11):1178–89. doi: 10.1093/ jnci/djy148
- Lee Y-C, Lee Y-L, Li C-Y. BRCA Genes and Related Cancers: A Meta-AnalysisFrom Epidemiological Cohort Studies. Medicina (2021) 57(9):905. doi: 10.3390/medicina57090905
- Curtit E, Benhamo V, Gruel N, Popova T, Manie E, Cottu P, et al. FirstDescription of a Sporadic Breast Cancer in a Woman With BRCA1 Germline Mutation. Oncotarget (2015) 6(34):35616–24. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5348
- 11. Song H, Cicek MS, Dicks E, Harrington P, Ramus SJ, Cunningham JM, et al.The Contribution of Deleterious Germline Mutations in BRCA1, BRCA2 and the Mismatch Repair Genes to Ovarian Cancer in the Population. Hum Mol Genet (2014) 23(17):4703–9. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu172
- 12. de Juan Jiménez I, Garcia Casado Z, Palanca Suela S, Esteban Cardeñosa E, López Guerrero JA, Segura Huerta A, et al. Novel and Recurrent BRCA1/ BRCA2 Mutations in Early Onset and Familial Breast and Ovarian Cancer Detected in the Program of Genetic Counseling in Cancer of Valencian Community (Eastern Spain). Relationship of Family Phenotypes With Mutation Prevalence. Familial Cancer (2013) 12(4):767–77. doi: 10.1007/s10689-013-9622-2
- Simard J, Tonin P, Durocher F, Morgan K, Rommens J, Gingras S, et al.Common Origins of BRCA1 Mutations in Canadian Breast and Ovarian Cancer Families. Nat Genet (1994) 8(4):392–8. doi: 10.1038/ng1294-392 14.
- Dørum A, Heimdal K, Hovig E, Inganäs M, Møller P. Penetrances of BRCA1 1675dela and 1135insa With Respect to Breast Cancer and Ovarian Cancer. Am J Hum Genet (1999) 65(3):671–9. doi: 10.1086/302530
- Foretova L, Machackova E, Navratilova M, Pavlu H, Hruba M, Lukesova M, et al. BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutations in Women With Familial or Early-Onset Breast/Ovarian Cancer in the Czech Republic. Hum Mutat (2004) 23(4):397– 8. doi: 10.1002/humu.9226
- Machackova E, Foretova L, Lukesova M, Vasickova P, Navratilova M, Coene I,et al. Spectrum and Characterisation of BRCA1 and BRCA2 Deleterious Mutations

FUNDING

This work was supported by a Télévie fellowship (MV.F., grant N° 7451419F), a grant from the CHU Liége (N° 981481200) and the WALGEMED grant (Région Wallonne, grant N° 1710180).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The CHU of Liége is member of the GENTURIS (GENetic TUmor RISk) European Reference Network).

in High-Risk Czech Patients With Breast and/or Ovarian Cancer. BMC Cancer (2008) 8:140. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-8-140

- Laraqui A, Uhrhammer N, Lahlou-Amine I, EL Rhaffouli H, El Baghdadi J,Dehayni M, et al. Mutation Screening of the BRCA1 Gene in Early Onset and Familial Breast/Ovarian Cancer in Moroccan Population. Int J Med Sci (2012) 10(1):60–7. doi: 10.7150/ijms.5014
- Janavičius R. Founder BRCA1/2 Mutations in the Europe: Implications for Hereditary Breast-Ovarian Cancer Prevention and Control. EPMA J (2010) 1 (3):397–412. doi: 10.1007/s13167-010-0037-y
- Behl S, Hamel N, de Ladurantaye M, Lepage S, Lapointe R, Mes-Masson A-M, et al. Founder BRCA1/BRCA2/PALB2 Pathogenic Variants in FrenchCanadian Breast Cancer Cases and Controls. Sci Rep (2020) 10:6491. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-63100-w
- Łukomska A, Menkiszak J, Gronwald J, Tomiczek-Szwiec J, Szwiec M, Jasiówka M, et al. Recurrent Mutations in BRCA1, BRCA2, RAD51C, PALB2 and CHEK2 in Polish Patients With Ovarian Cancer. Cancers (Basel) (2021) 13(4):849. doi: 10.3390/cancers13040849
- Caputo S, Benboudjema L, Sinilnikova O, Rouleau E, Béroud C, Lidereau R. Description and Analysis of Genetic Variants in French Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer Families Recorded in the UMD-BRCA1/BRCA2 Databases. Nucleic Acids Res (2012) 40(Database issue):D992–1002. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gkr1160
- FaveroF, JoshiT, Marquard AM, BirkbakNJ, Krzystanek M, Li Q, etal. Sequenza: Allele-Specific Copy Number and Mutation Profiles From Tumor Sequencing Data. Ann Oncol (2015) 26(1):64–70. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdu479
- Coleman RL, Fleming GF, Brady MF, Swisher EM, Steffensen KD, FriedlanderM, et al. Veliparib With First-Line Chemotherapy and as Maintenance Therapy in Ovarian Cancer. New Engl J Med (2019) 381:2403–15. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1909707
- Blokzijl F, Janssen R, van Boxtel R, Cuppen E. MutationalPatterns: Comprehensive Genome-Wide Analysis of Mutational Processes. Genome Med (2018) 10(1):33. doi: 10.1186/s13073-018-0539-0
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SAJR, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of Mutational Processes in Human Cancer. Nature (2013) 500(7463):415–21. doi: 10.1038/nature12477
- Sopik V, Phelan C, Cybulski C, Narod SA. BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutations andthe Risk for Colorectal Cancer. Clin Genet (2015) 87(5):411–8. doi: 10.1111/cgc.12497
- Grinshpun A, Halpern N, Granit RZ, Hubert A, Hamburger T, Laitman Y, et al.Phenotypic Characteristics of Colorectal Cancer in BRCA1/2 Mutation Carriers. Eur J Hum Genet (2018) 26(3):382-6. doi: 10.1038/s41431-017-0067-1
- Soyano AE, Baldeo C, Kasi PM. BRCA Mutation and Its Association WithColorectal Cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer (2018) 17(4):e647–50. doi: 10.1016/j.clcc.2018.06.006
- Maxwell KN, Domchek SM, Nathanson KL, Robson ME. PopulationFrequency of Germline BRCA1/2 Mutations. JCO (2016) 34(34):4183–5. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.0554
- Evans DG, Clancy T, Hill J, Tischkowitz M. Is There Really an Increased Riskof Early Colorectal Cancer in Women With BRCA1 Pathogenic Mutations? Clin Genet (2016) 89(3):399–9. doi: 10.1111/cge.12687
- 31. Silvestri V, Leslie G, Barnes DRCIMBA Group, , Agnarsson BA, Aittomäki K,et al. Characterization of the Cancer Spectrum in Men With Germline BRCA1 and BRCA2 Pathogenic Variants: Results From the Consortium of

Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2 (CIMBA). JAMA Oncol (2020) 6 (8):1218–30. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.2134

- Du C, Peng Y, He Y, Chen G, Chen H. Low Levels of BRCA1 Protein Expression Predict a Worse Prognosis in Stage I–II Colon Cancer. Int J Biol Markers (2021) 36(1):47–53. doi: 10.1177/1724600820986572
- Alexandrov LB, Kim J, Haradhvala NJ, Huang MN, Tian Ng AW, Wu Y, et al.The Repertoire of Mutational Signatures in Human Cancer. Nature (2020) 578(7793):94–101. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-1943-3
- Abkevich V, Timms KM, Hennessy BT, Potter J, Carey MS, Meyer LA, et al.Patterns of Genomic Loss of Heterozygosity Predict Homologous Recombination Repair Defects in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. Br J Cancer (2012) 107(10):1776–82. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2012.451
- Birkbak NJ, Wang ZC, Kim J-Y, Eklund AC, Li Q, Tian R, et al. TelomericAllelic Imbalance Indicates Defective DNA Repair and Sensitivity to DNA Damaging Agents. Cancer Discov (2012) 2(4):366–75. doi: 10.1158/21598290.CD-11-0206
- Popova T, Manié E, Rieunier G, Caux-Moncoutier V, Tirapo C, Dubois T, et al. Ploidy and Large-Scale Genomic Instability Consistently Identify BasalLike Breast Carcinomas With BRCA1/2 Inactivation. Cancer Res (2012) 72 (21):5454–62. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1470

 Rose M, Burgess JT, O'Byrne K, Richard DJ, Bolderson E. PARP Inhibitors: Clinical Relevance, Mechanisms of Action and Tumor Resistance. Front Cell Dev Biol (2020) 8:879. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.564601

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Freire, Martin, Thissen, Van Marcke, Segers, Sepulchre, Leroi, Lé té', Fasquelle, Radermacher, Gokburun, Collignon, Sacre, Josse, Palmeira and Bours. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Part 2. Digenic inheritance

Digenic inheritance, characterized by the simultaneous presence of PVs in two different CPGs, could have significant implications for cancer risk and management. Patients with digenic inheritance, specifically those harboring PVs in established cancer predisposition genes such as *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, *ATM*, and *CHEK2*, exhibit a markedly elevated risk of developing multiple cancers at an earlier age compared to those with a single pathogenic variant. Despite extensive research on these individual genes, the cancer risk associated with simultaneous PVs in multiple CPGs remains largely unexplored. This study aims to elucidate the cancer risk in patients harboring combined PVs in HR CPGs examining six patients from five families, all of whom have multiple cancer diagnoses.

Family 1: This family presented with pathogenic variants in both *BRCA2* and *ATM* genes. The affected individuals included a patient with kidney cancer, prostate cancer and pancreatic adenocarcinoma, and his daughter with breast cancer.

Family 2: The proband in this family had a pathogenic variant in *BRCA2* and *ATM* and was diagnosed with breast cancer at a young age.

Family 3: This family also carried pathogenic variants in *BRCA2* and *ATM*. The male proband had a history of prostate cancer, gastric cancer, and pancreatic cancer.

Family 4: Pathogenic variants in both *BRCA2* and *BRCA1* were identified. The affected male had pancreatic cancer.

Family 5: This family exhibited pathogenic variants in *BRCA2* and *CHEK2*, with a female proband diagnosed with breast cancer.

The observation of MPCs at an early age of diagnosis in these patients shows the elevated cancer risk in individuals who are double heterozygous for PVs in HR-related CPGs. This study suggests that in families where patients show phenotypic diversity, early-onset, or unusual cancer types compared to other relatives, comprehensive genetic testing should include screening for additional CPGs beyond the initially identified variant. The findings advocate for a more inclusive cascade testing strategy to accurately assess and manage cancer risk in these high-risk families. By identifying multiple PVs, healthcare providers can implement more tailored surveillance and prevention strategies, thereby improving patient outcomes in those with a high genetic predisposition to cancer.



Article



Digenic Inheritance of Mutations in Homologous Recombination Genes in Cancer Patients

Maria Valeria Freire ¹, Marie Martin ², Karin Segers ², Edith Sepulchre ², Natacha Leroi ², Jérôme Coupier ², Hassan Rezaei Kalantari ³, Pascal Wolter ⁴, Joëlle Collignon ⁵, Marc Polus ⁶, Olivier Plomteux ⁷, Claire Josse ⁵ and Vincent Bours ^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Human Genetics, GIGA Research Center, University of Liège and CHU Liège, Av. Hippocrate 1/11, 4000 Liège, Belgium; fm216@hotmail.com
- ² Department of Human Genetics, CHU Liège, Domaine Universitaire, 4000 Liège, Belgium; marie.martin@chuliege.be (<u>M.M.</u>); karin.segers@lns.etat.lu (<u>K.S.</u>); e.sepulchre@chuliege.be (<u>E.S.</u>); natacha.leroi@chuliege.be (<u>N.L.</u>); jerome.coupier@chuliege.be (<u>I.C.</u>)
- ³ Onco-Hematology Department, CHR Verviers, Rue du Parc 29, 4800 Verviers, Belgium; hassan_kalantari@hotmail.com
- ⁴ Onco-Hematology Department, St Nikolaus Hospital, Hufengasse 4/8, 4700 Eupen, Belgium; pascal.wolter@klinik.st-vith.be
- Department of Medical Oncology, GIGA Research Center, University of Liège and CHU Liège, Domaine Universitaire, 4000 Liège, Belgium; joelle.collignon@chuliege.be (<u>I.C.);</u> c.josse@chuliege.be (<u>C.J.</u>)
- ⁶ Department of Gastroenterology, CHU Liège, Av. Hippocrate 1/11, 4000 Liège, Belgium; m.polus@chuliege.be
- ⁷ Gastro-Enterology Department, CHC, Boulevard Patience et Beaujonc 2, 4000 Liège, Belgium; olivier.plomteux@chc.be
- Correspondence: vbours@uliege.be; Tel.: +32-476499546

Abstract: Background/Objectives: *BRCA1, BRCA2, ATM*, and *CHEK2* are known cancer predisposition genes (CPGs), but tumor risk in patients with simultaneous pathogenic variants (PVs) in CPGs remains largely unknown. In this study, we describe six patients from five families with multiple cancers who coinherited a combination of PVs in these genes. Methods: PVs were identified using NGS DNA sequencing and were confirmed by Sanger. Results: Families 1, 2, and 3 presented PVs in *BRCA2* and *ATM*, family 4 in *BRCA2* and *BRCA1*, and family 5 in *BRCA2* and *CHEK2*. PVs were identified using NGS DNA sequencing and were confirmed by Sanger. The first family included patients with kidney, prostate, and breast cancer, in addition to pancreatic adenocarcinomas. In the second family, a female had breast cancer, while a male from the third family had prostate, gastric, and pancreatic cancer. The fourth family included a male with pancreatic cancer, and the fifth family a female with breast cancer. Conclusions: The early age of diagnosis and the development of multiple cancers in the reported patients indicate a very high risk of cancer in double-heterozygous patients associated with PVs in HR-related CPGs. Therefore, in families with patients who differ from other family members in terms of phenotype, age of diagnosis, or type of cancer, the cascade testing needs to include the study of other CPGs.

Keywords: digenic inheritance; double heterozygosity; familial cancer; BRCA1; BRCA2; ATM; CHEK2

1. Introduction

Cancer predisposition syndromes (CPS) are now extensively studied, with an increasing proportion of cancer patients undergoing genetic testing [1]. This testing is based on the type of cancer, the number of cancer occurrences during the patient's life, the age at diagnosis, and the family history [2,3]. It is expected that 3 to 5% of cancers are linked to a causal variant in a cancer predisposition gene (CPG) [4]. As most CPS are transmitted in an autosomal dominant way, once a pathogenic variant (PV) is identified in a family, the geneticists propose a family cascade testing to search for the variant, and start with first-degree relatives [5].



Citation: Freire, M.V.; Martin, M.; Segers, K.; Sepulchre, E.; Leroi, N.; Coupier, J.; Kalantari, H.R.; Wolter, P.; Collignon, J.; Polus, M.; et al. Digenic Inheritance of Mutations in Homologous Recombination Genes in Cancer Patients. *J. Pers. Med.* **2024**, *14*, 584.

https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm14060584

Academic Editor(s): Luigi Minafra

Received: 7 April 2024 Revised: 21 May 2024 Accepted: 24 May 2024 Published: 29 May 2024



Copyright: © 2024 by the authors. Submitted for possible open access publication under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https://creativecommons.org/license s/by/4.0/). Within the frame of inherited cancer predisposition, carriers of pathogenic variants (PVs) in a single gene have been extensively represented in the literature, and an ever-growing accumulation of data on the single gene-related cancer risk, based on multiple family histories, is available [6,7]. These data have led to gene-specific screening and follow-up recommendations for these carriers [3]. However, the coinheritance of heterozygous PV in two CPGs is a poorly studied event restricted to small case series and single case reports [8-10]. The exact frequency of double heterozygotes remains unknown, as is the case for their cancer risk and associated follow-up strategies [11]. Therefore, empirically, most genetic centers propose to apply the guidelines defined for the most dangerous gene to the follow-up of patients with two PVs in two different CPGs. However, the *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* PVs coinheritance, in the population-based Israeli national breast cancer cohort, was described in 2.2% of all carriers [12], and 17 double heterozygotes for CPGs were detected in a breast cancer cohort of people of Slavic ancestry which included 5391 patients [13].

Breast cancer gene 1 (*BRCA1*), breast cancer gene 2 (*BRCA2*), checkpoint kinase 2 (*CHEK2*), and ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (*ATM*) are CPGs, part of the homologous recombination (HR) pathway for double stand break (DSB) repair. This pathway preferentially uses the sister chromatid for error-free repair, and both the DNA damage response and the cell cycle checkpoints are crucial for initiating and regulating HR [14]. ATM participates in HR initiation and phosphorylation of CHEK2; BRCA1 facilitates DNA end resection [15], while BRCA2 aids in the formation of a DNA D-loop through the invasion of the nearby duplex DNA [16]. Finally, the BRCA2 protein is post-translationally modified by ATM [17].

HR is crucial for repairing severe replication lesions at replication forks, and can repair or bypass DNA lesions remaining due to inactivation of other pathways. Consequently, mutations in HR genes result in genomic instability, fueling further mutations that lead to cancer development [14,18]. This deficiency in the HR pathway makes tumor cells more sensible to poly-(ADP-ribose)-polymerase inhibitors, platinum derivatives, alkylating agents, mitomycin C, and other antitumor drugs that are used for the treatment of cancer patients [19-22].

PVs in *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, *CHEK2*, and *ATM* have been linked to a wide variety of cancers [15]. *BRCA1* and *BRCA2's* PVs were associated with breast cancer, ovarian/fallopian cancer, pancreas cancer, prostate cancer, and melanoma, while breast, prostate, thyroid, kidney, colon and stomach cancers were related to PVs in *CHEK2* [23]. Germline heterozygous PVs in *ATM* increase the risks of breast, pancreatic, gastro-esophageal, colorectal, ovarian, prostate, thyroid, gastric, and head and neck cancers, as well as melanoma [24]. Given the frequencies of PVs in these genes, it is expected that cancer patients carrying two PVs should be rarely, but not exceptionally, observed. Moreover, as these genes act on the homologous recombination pathway, these double heterozygote patients might have a higher risk of HR dysfunction and thus a more severe cancer risk.

In this study we describe six patients from five families with multiple cancers who coinherited PVs in *BRCA2* and other HR genes—four patients with variants in *BRCA2* and *ATM*, one patient with *BRCA2* and *BRCA1*, and one patient with *BRCA2* and *CHEK2* PVs.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Ethical approval

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Comité d'Ethique Hospitalo-facultaire Universitaire de Liège (protocol code 2019/245 and date of approval 28 October 2019).

2.2. Data collection

Patient sex, age, age at diagnosis for each tumor, and personal and family history were extracted from the medical records. Data on cancer diagnosis and treatment were gathered from the institution's database. All of the patients read and signed an informed-consent document.

2.3. Genetic analysis

Genetic analysis was performed on DNA extracted from blood samples using QIAcube (QIAGEN Hilden, Germany) and STARlet (Seegene Inc. Seoul, South Korea) extraction instruments (See SupplementaryMaterials: DNA extraction methods). DNA purity and concentration were measured with NanoDrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific Waltham, Massachusetts, United States), and DNA underwent NGS panel sequencing (See Supplementary Data: Table S1). The bioinformatic analysis was performed using in-house demultiplexing pipelines and the in-house Humanomics pipeline (as described in [25]). Variant classification was performed according to the ACMG "Standards and guidelines for the interpretation of sequence variants" [26]. The in silico analysis of missense and splicing variants was performed using the aggregated score of the Franklin by Genoox tool (https://franklin.genoox.com, accessed on 17 May 2024), which includes the scores of SIFT, FATHMM, DANN, MetaLR, REVEL, MutationAssessor, PolyPhen-2, MutationTaster, PrimateAI, BayesDel, SpliceAI, dbscSNV, GERP, GenoCanyon, fitCons, MitoTip, and APOGEE. For the splicing variants, Human Splicing Finder [27] was used. Two databases, gnomAD (https://gnomad.broadinstitute.org/, accessed on 17 May 2024) and ALFA (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/snp/docs/gsr/alfa, accessed on 17 May 2024), were used to retrieve the Minor Allele Frequency (MAF) data. The identified PVs were confirmed by Sanger sequencing (See Supplementary Data: Table S2).

3. Results

3.1. Frequency of double heterozygotes

Over the past 28 months, following the introduction of the new Hereditary Breast and Ovarian Cancer (HBOC) panel at our institution, a total of 2152 panels have been conducted in cases of cancer patients (1929 13-gene panels and 223 26-gene panels). In total, 121/1929 13-gene panels (6.27%) and 22/223 (9.8%) 26-gene panels were positive, containing a pathogenic or likely pathogenic result. Three patients (3/2152 patients, 0.14%) were double-heterozygous for CPG PVs. Two samples had two PVs in the 13-gene panel (2.2% of the 91 samples with PVs) and one in the 26-gene panel (5.6% of the 18 samples with PVs, see Table 1). Heterozygous variants in genes associated with a recessive instance of CPS, such as the *MUTYH* gene, were excluded from this analysis.

Table 1. Double heterozygote statistics in the institution.

	13-Gene Panel		26-Gene Panel	
	Likely Pathogenic (n = 30)	Pathogenic (n = 91)	Likely Pathogenic (n = 4)	Pathogenic (n = 18)
1 variant per sample, n (%)	30 (100.0)	89 (97.8)	4 (100.0)	17 (94.4)
2 variants per sample, n (%)	0 (0.0)	2 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	1 (5.6)

In this study, we report two of the three double-heterozygous patients from whom we obtained informed consent, and one additional patient whose double-heterozygous state was diagnosed based on family history. The three additional included patients were previously observed by the genetics department and/or had a relevant family history.

3.2. *Clinical history*

Six patients from five families underwent genetic consultation in the context of multiple cancers or early-onset disease, leading to the identification of two heterozygous PVs in the HR genes of each patient (see Table 2).

	Famil	y 1	Family 2	Family 3	Family 4	Family 5
	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3	Patient 4	Patient 5	Patient 6
	II:5	III:2	IV:2	II:1	IV:3	III:2
Sex	Male	Female	Female	Male	Male	Female
Age (years)	67	34	28	65	58	29
Medical history	Childhood asthma, gouty arthritis, hypercholesterolemia, and hypertrophic heart disease	None	None	Essential thrombocytopenia	Type 2 diabetes, volvulus	Glucose intolerance
Oncological history	Renal cancer at 50, prostate cancer at 51, and metastatic pancreatic cancer at 66 years	Breast cancer at 29 years (ER positive, PR positive, Ki67 60%, HER2 ++, SISH –)	Metastatic breast cancer at 28 years (ER positive, PR positive, Ki67 40%, HER2 ++ SISH –)	Prostate cancer at 49, gastric cancer at 60, and metastatic pancreatic cancer at 64 years	Metastatic pancreatic cancer at 57 years	Ductal breast cancer at 28 years (ER positive, PR negative, Ki67 50%, HER2 ++, SISH –)
Treatment	Renal cancer–surgery, prostate cancer– brachytherapy, pancreatic cancer– chemotherapy, and targeted therapy	Neoadjuvant chemotherapy, surgery, and radiotherapy	Chemotherapy	Prostate and gastric cancer–surgery, pancreatic cancer– chemotherapy	Chemotherapy	Surgery, adjuvant chemotherapy, radiotherapy, and hormonal therapy
Identified germline heterozygous pathogenic and likely pathogenic variants						
BRCA2	c.3865_3868del p.(Lys1289Alafs*3)	c.3865_3868del p.(Lys1289Alafs*3)	c.5057T>A p.(Leu1686 <u>*)</u>	c.4284dup p.(Gln1429Serfs*9)	c.8243G>A p.(Gly2748Asp)	c.537dup p(Ile180Tyrfs*3)
ATM	c.8494C>T p.(Arg2832Cys)	c.8494C>T p.(Arg2832Cys)	c.7516-2A>G	c.6326G>A p.(Trp2109*)	-	
BRCA1	_	_	-	-	c.1121del p.(Thr374Asnfs*2)	-
CHEK2	-	-	-	-		c.499G>A p.(Gly167Arg)

<i>i</i> word <i>i</i> characteristics of the patients incladed in the state,
--

ER—estrogen receptor; PR—progesterone receptor; SISH—silver in situ hybridization. Reference transcripts: *ATM* NM_000051.3, *BRCA1* NM_007294.3, *BRCA2* NM_000059.3, and *CHEK2* NM_007194.3.

The first family included a 67-year-old male with a medical history of multiple cancers whose daughter had been diagnosed with breast cancer (see Figure 1). The male patient presented kidney and prostate cancer and pancreatic adenocarcinoma at the ages of 50, 51, and 66, respectively.

The patient's daughter was diagnosed with breast cancer at 29 years. A tumorectomy showed grade 3 invasive ductal carcinoma with axillary and mediastinal lymph node extension (ypT1cN2aMx). Two years after the diagnosis, she presented a first relapse with one successfully treated bone metastasis. The subsequent relapses included liver metastasis, lymph node invasion, and finally brain metastasis in 2021.

In the second family, a 28-year-old female underwent an exploratory laparoscopy due to persistent non-specific abdominal pain with nausea and vomiting, showing endometriotic lesions and multiple hepatic lesions described as angiomas. A month later, after a week of hyperthermy and a positive COVID-19 test, the thoracoabdominal computed tomography scan demonstrated a large breast lesion with a highly suspicious right axillary lymph node, necrotic hepatic and bone lesions, and possibly-COVID-19-related pulmonary foci. A grade 3 infiltrating ductal carcinoma was diagnosed and treated.



Figure 1. Pedigree of the five families reported: (a) family 1, (b) family 2, (c) family 3, (d) family 4, and (e) family 5. The probands are marked with arrows. ca., cancer; CRC, colorectal cancer; d., death; dx., diagnosis; y., years; +/-, heterozygous genotype; -/-, homozygous wild type genotype; ?/?, unknown genotype.

A 65-year-old male from the third family was diagnosed with a Gleason 3 pT2bNxM0 prostate adenocarcinoma at the age of 49, well-differentiated pT1N0M0 enteric adenocarcinoma one year later, and finally metastatic pancreatic cancer. His older sister was first diagnosed with breast cancer at 60, and then pancreatic cancer at 70 years old.

The fourth family included a 58-year-old male who presented a 15 kg weight loss, fatigue, nausea, and transfixing abdominal pain for 2 weeks. In a tomography, an isthmus pancreatic mass of 4 cm infiltrating peripancreatic fat with hepatic metastasis was discovered (CTxNxM1). In this patient, a familial *BRCA1* variant was found 15 years earlier at the time of a breast cancer diagnosis for his sister at the age of 35 (she developed a second breast cancer 15 years later, and pancreatic cancer at the age of 67). The male patient was known to carry this familial BRCA1 variant, inherited from their father. As the *BRCA1* familial variant was not sufficient to explain both pancreatic cancers, those in the patient and his sister, as well as their mother's breast cancer, we re-initiated a CPG analysis and this showed that he carried two pathogenic variants: the known familial *BRCA1* PV, and a *BRCA2* PV.

The 29-year-old female from the fifth family discovered three mobile, not painful masses in her right breast while performing self-palpation. The biopsy of one of the masses revealed a ductal breast adenocarcinoma (cT2N0M0). After a right mastectomy with sentinel ganglion, an infiltrating tubular adenocarcinoma (pT2mN1mi) was diagnosed. During genetic evaluation, a *BRCA2* and a *CHEK2* PV were identified in the patient. Both PVs were absent in the mother, while the father was not available for testing. The patient has two sisters, one of whom is underage and has not been tested.

3.3. Genetic characteristics

In the patients from families 1 to 3, genetic analyses showed *BRCA2* and *ATM* PVs. The patients from family 4 and 5 carried PVs in *BRCA1/BRCA2* and *BRCA2/CHEK2*, respectively.

Three of the identified *BRCA2* nonsense variants were located in exon 11/27 (c.3865_3868del, c.5057T>A, c.4284dup), while the fourth was located in exon 7/27 (c.537dup), leading to the existence of a severely truncated or absent protein due to nonsense-mediated mRNA decay (NMD) [28]. *BRCA2* c.3865_3868del, c.5057T>A, and c.537dup variants were absent from the gnomAD (v2.1.1) and ALFA databases, while *BRCA2* c.4284dup had a frequency of 1 out of 244426 alleles in the total population of gnomAD (v2.1.1) and was absent from the ALFA database (see Table 3). *BRCA2* c.8243G>A had a frequency of 2/249060 in the total population of gnomAD (v2.1.1) and 1/25340 in ALFA. Various functional studies show a loss of function and/or protein stability linked to the *BRCA2* c.8243G>A variant [29,30]. All of the *BRCA2* variants were previously described as pathogenic [22,31–33].

The missense *ATM* c.8494C>T variant was located in exon 58 out of 63, was present in 7 out 236730 alleles in the total population in gnomAD (v2.1.1), and has been previously described as pathogenic and associated with an increased cancer risk [34]. The *ATM* c.7516-2A>G variant located in intron 50 out of 62 has not been previously reported, and was not present in the gnomAD (v2.1.1) or ALFA databases. However, the variant was located in a region of the gene where other variants have been described as pathogenic, affecting a conserved splice site [35]. *ATM* c.7516-2A>G in silico evaluation results showed splicing alteration by wild-type acceptor site breakage. The nonsense *ATM* c.6326G>A variant in exon 43 out of 63 was predicted to cause loss-of-function by premature protein truncation or NMD. This variant was not found in the gnomAD (v2.1.1) or ALFA databases and has been previously reported as pathogenic [36].

Gene	Variant	Туре	MAF	In Silico Predictors' Results	ACMG Classification
BRCA2	c.3865_3868del p.(Lys1289Alafs*3)	Deletion	gnomAD: - ALFA: -	F: not applicable	Pathogenic
BRCA2	c.5057T>A p.(Leu1686*)	Nonsense	gnomAD: - ALFA: -	F: not applicable	Pathogenic
BRCA2	c.4284dup p.(Gln1429Serfs*9)	Duplication	gnomAD: 0.0004% ALFA: -	F: not applicable	Pathogenic
BRCA2	c.8243G>A p.(Gly2748Asp)	Missense	gnomAD: 0.0008% ALFA: 0.0039%	F: deleterious	Pathogenic
BRCA2	c.537dup p(Ile180Tyrfs*3)	Duplication	gnomAD: 0.0004% ALFA: -	F: not applicable	Pathogenic
ATM	c.8494C>T p.(Arg2832Cys)	Missense	gnomAD: 0.0030% ALFA: -	F: deleterious	Pathogenic
ATM	c.7516-2A>G	Splicing	gnomAD: - ALFA: -	F: deleterious HSF: Site acceptor broken	Likely pathogenic
ATM	c.6326G>A p.(Trp2109*)	Nonsense	gnomAD: - ALFA: -	F: not applicable	Pathogenic
BRCA1	c.1121del p.(Thr374Asnfs*2)	Deletion	gnomAD: - ALFA: -	F: not applicable	Pathogenic
CHEK2	c.499G>A p.(Gly167Arg)	Missense	gnomAD: 0.0024% ALFA: 0.0030%	F: deleterious	Pathogenic

Table 3. Characteristics of the variants identified in the patients.

F–Franklin by Genoox, MAF–Minor Allele Frequency, ACMG–American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics, HSF–Human Splicing Finder. Reference transcripts: *ATM* NM_000051.3, *BRCA1* NM_007294.3, *BRCA2* NM_000059.3, and *CHEK2* NM_007194.3.

Nonsense *BRCA1* c.1121del variant caused a frameshift with a predicted stop codon two amino acids after the deletion, which could result in loss of normal protein function through protein truncation or NMD. This variant was absent in gnomAD (v2.1.1) or ALFA, but was present in several individuals suffering from breast and/or ovarian cancer [37]. This variant was also known as c.1240delC in the literature.

Missense *CHEK2* c.499G>A variant leads to a substitution of a highly conserved amino acid. This variant was present in the total population of gnomAD (v2.1.1) in 6 out of 251424 alleles, and 3/100662 alleles in ALFA. Additionally, functional analysis showed a loss of function of the protein due to structural instability [38] or phosphorylation anomaly [39]. The in silico analysis of the variant predicted a deleterious effect on the protein, and CHEK2 loss-of-function variants are known to be pathogenic [40].

4. Discussion

PVs in *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, *CHEK2*, and *ATM* increase the lifetime cancer risk of breast cancer [41]. In women carrying *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* PVs, the cumulative risk of breast cancer was 4% before the age of 30 for each gene, and reached 72% for *BRCA1* and 69% for *BRCA2* by age 80 [42]. For *ATM* variants, there was an estimated breast cancer relative risk of 2.8, and the absolute breast cancer risk reached 27% by 80 years. The *CHEK2* breast cancer risk was variable for different PVs. Common *CHEK2* truncating variants conferred a greater than twofold relative risk, while a less common I157T variant was associated with a 1.4-fold risk [43]. Similarly, in a study that included 65 057 women with breast cancer, the age of diagnosis of CHEK2 PV's carriers was 47.7 years [41]. However, there is a lack of epidemiological data on BC risk in patients carrying PVs in two of these genes. Our study indicates very precocious and even metastatic BC in women with PVs in *BRCA2* and *ATM* (patients 2 and 3) or *BRCA2* and *CHEK2*

genes (patient 6), while a previous study evaluating 17 double-heterozygous patients with breast cancers failed to demonstrate a younger age at presentation in this group [13]. A similar trend could be expected when PVs in *BRCA1* are associated with PVs in other CPGs.

The risks of other cancers are also elevated in *BRCA1-*, *BRCA2-*, and *ATM*-variant carriers. *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* PVs confer increased risks of prostate, pancreatic, and ovarian cancers [44], while moderate-to-high risks of pancreatic (OR 4.21), prostate (OR 2.58), and gastric (OR 2.97) cancers were estimated for *ATM*-variant carriers [24]. In our observations, two male patients were treated for a prostate cancer diagnosed at an early age, which might suggest that the *BRCA2*-linked risk is further increased by the presence of the *ATM* PV.

The reported pancreatic cancer risks in *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* carriers by the age of 70 years were 1.16% and 4.1% in men [44]. As BRCA1, BRCA2, and ATM proteins interact in the HR pathway, an additive effect on HR deficiency could be expected, giving a further increased risk of pancreatic cancer, as observed in patients 1, 4, and 5. Indeed, in a recent case report of a female patient carrying two heterozygous pathogenic variants in *BRCA2* and *ATM*, breast cancer was diagnosed at 34 and pancreatic cancer at 48 years [45]. This raises the question of whether the previously-described reported young women with breast cancer (family 1) will need additional monitoring for their pancreatic cancer risk.

Therefore, our observations suggest that patients carrying a PV in BRCA2 plus another HR gene should be carefully monitored for BC, pancreatic cancer, and prostate cancer. However, incomplete penetrance and variability of the age of onset of the disease are also observed in double-heterozygous patients. In the second reported family, the proband's father also carried both *BRCA2* and *ATM* PVs (see Figure 1) but did not have any history of cancer, indicating that both genetic and non-genetic factors can influence cancer risk in variant carriers [44], while in the third family, the proband's sister developed cancer at an older age, supporting the variable expressivity of these mutations. Further studies and larger cohorts are thus of course needed to better define the cancer risk associated with having two PVs in HR genes.

PVs in *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* have frequencies of 0.21% and 0.31% in the European population [46], while the frequencies of *ATM* and *CHEK2* PVs reach 1% [47] and 1.4% [48]. These estimations, taken together, and given the scarcity of double-heterozygotes reports, indicate that the prevalence of digenic coinheritance is likely underestimated. Recently, even a patient with breast cancer and concurrent PVs in three cancer-related genes (*BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, and *CHEK2*) has been reported [49]. Therefore, given the high variability of phenotypes within families and between different families, when a cascade testing is performed after the identification of a familial PV, the assessment should not stop at the single known familial PV, at least in individuals with precocious breast, pancreatic, or prostate cancers; in those with multiple cancers; and in cases of cancers that are not frequently associated with the identified PV, as the possibility of co-segregation of another PV should not be neglected.

The size of the genetic panels used for cancer patients' evaluation has progressively increased in recent years [50]. Consequently, the findings derived from these expanded panels are still in the preliminary stages, and it is impossible to directly compare the new data with previous results from shorter panels. Nonetheless, instances of double mutations are expected to remain relatively rare. After introducing multi-gene panel testing in 2014, by 2023, in the Fox Chase Cancer Center Risk Assessment Program Registry, 70 patients were found to carry at least two PVs in CPGs (excluding biallelic *MUTYH* PVs) [51]. In a review of 55,803 patients screened with a 25-gene hereditary cancer panel, 106 individuals (0.19%) showed PVs or likely pathogenic variants in two or more genes [52], a frequency of double heterozygotes very similar to that observed in the present study.

With the increase in patient numbers and the utilization of larger cohorts for analysis, more robust data will be available soon. Furthermore, the criteria for recommending genetic studies have undergone multiple revisions over time. Only recently has genetic testing for pancreatic and prostate cancer been included as part of the standard practice [53]. Consequently, the reports of larger cohorts of patients with diverse primary tumors will increase the likelihood of identifying cases with double mutations.
The small number of patients, the bias in recruitment, and the inability to evaluate the segregation in all of the families are the main limitations of our study. Additionally, we did not address the associated treatment strategies—platinum-based chemotherapy or PARP inhibitors—and the patients' responses. With only six patients, we lack the data for meaningful comparisons or response-rate calculations. A larger study involving double-heterozygous patients is necessary to address these questions effectively.

Therefore, in young cancer patients from a family with a single known CPG PV, it could be useful to evaluate other genes to identify the potential transmission of several PVs and double-heterozygous carriers with a specific high cancer risk. Moreover, our data suggest that the surveillance of patients carrying two PVs in HR genes should include at least breast, pancreas, and prostate cancer screening, starting early. From our limited study, we would recommend starting a screening in those patients, at the latest, from the ages of 25, 40, and 50 for breast, prostate and pancreas cancer, respectively.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the early age of diagnosis and the development of multiple cancers in the reported patients indicate a very high risk of cancer in double-heterozygous patients associated with PVs in HR-related CPGs. Therefore, when a CPG PV is identified in a family, the usual cascade testing needs also to consider a study of other CPGs in patients with specific phenotypes, even distinct from other family members, either based on the age at diagnosis or the type of cancer.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: : https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/jpm14060584/s1, Figure S1: Chromatograms of the variants identified in the patients; Table S1: DNA extraction; Table S2: Primer sequences used.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, C.J. and V.B.; Data curation, M.V.F., M.M., and V.B.; Formal analysis, M.V.F., K.S., E.S., J.C. (Jérôme Coupier) and N.L.; Funding acquisition, V.B.; Investigation, M.V.F., M.M., H.R.K., P.W., J.C. (Joëlle Collignon), M.P., and O.P.; Methodology, M.V.F., M.M., and C.J.; Project administration, C.J. and V.B.; Resources, V.B.; Supervision, V.B.; Validation, V.B.; Writing—original draft, M.V.F. and V.B.; Writing—review and editing, M.V.F., M.M., K.S., E.S., N.L., H.R.K., P.W., J.C. (Joëlle Collignon), J.C. (Jérôme Coupier), M.P., O.P., and C.J. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was funded by Televie fellowship, grant number 7451419F; CHU Liège, grant number 981481200; and WALGEMED, grant number 1710180.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Comité d'Ethique Hospitalo-facultaire Universitaire de Liège (protocol code 2019/245 and date of approval 28 October 2019).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: All the data relevant to the study is available in the manuscript.

Acknowledgments: CHU of Liege is member of the GENTURIS (GENetic TUmor RISk) European Reference Network.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. Espenschied, C.R.; LaDuca, H.; Li, S.; McFarland, R.; Gau, C.-L.; Hampel, H. Multigene Panel Testing Provides a New Perspective on Lynch Syndrome. J. Clin. Oncol. 2017, 35, 2568–2575. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.71.9260.
- Esplin, E.D.; Nielsen, S.M.; Bristow, S.L.; Garber, J.E.; Hampel, H.; Rana, H.Q.; Samadder, N.J.; Shore, N.D.; Nussbaum, R.L. Universal Germline Genetic Testing for Hereditary Cancer Syndromes in Patients With Solid Tumor Cancer. JCO Precis. Oncol. 2022, 6, e2100516. https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.21.00516.
- 3. Yadav, S.; Couch, F.J. Germline Genetic Testing for Breast Cancer Risk: The Past, Present, and Future. *Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. Educ. Book.* **2019**, *39*, 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1200/EDBK_238987.
- 4. Rahman, N. Mainstreaming genetic testing of cancer predisposition genes. *Clin. Med. (Lond.)* **2014**, *14*, 436–439. https://doi.org/10.7861/clinmedicine.14-4-436.
- 5. Whitaker, K.D.; Obeid, E.; Daly, M.B.; Hall, M.J. Cascade Genetic Testing for Hereditary Cancer Risk: An Underutilized Tool for Cancer Prevention. *JCO Precis. Oncol.* 2021, 5, 1387–1396. https://doi.org/10.1200/PO.21.00163.

- Yap, T.A.; Ashok, A.; Stoll, J.; Mauer, E.; Nepomuceno, V.M.; Blackwell, K.L.; Garber, J.E.; Meric-Bernstam, F. Prevalence of Germline Findings Among Tumors From Cancer Types Lacking Hereditary Testing Guidelines. JAMA Netw. Open 2022, 5, e2213070. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.13070.
- Kotsopoulos, J.; Hathaway, C.A.; Narod, S.A.; Teras, L.R.; Patel, A.V.; Hu, C.; Yadav, S.; Couch, F.J.; Tworoger, S.S. Germline Mutations in 12 Genes and Risk of Ovarian Cancer in Three Population-Based Cohorts. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prev.* 2023, 32, 1402–1410. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-23-0041.
- 8. Vietri, M.T.; Caliendo, G.; D'Elia, G.; Resse, M.; Casamassimi, A.; Minucci, P.B.; Dello Ioio, C.; Cioffi, M.; Molinari, A.M. Five Italian Families with Two Mutations in BRCA Genes. *Genes* **2020**, *11*, 1451. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11121451.
- 9. Huang, W.; Bian, J.; Qian, X.; Shao, L.; Li, H.; Zhang, L.; Wang, L. Case Report: Coinheritance of Germline Mutations in APC and BRCA1 in Colorectal Cancer. *Front. Oncol.* **2021**, *11*, 658389. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2021.658389.
- Andrés, R.; Menao, S.; Arruebo, M.; Quílez, E.; Cardiel, M.J. Double heterozygous mutation in the BRCA1 and ATM genes involved in development of primary metachronous tumours: A case report. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2019, 177, 767–770. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-019-05343-4.
- 11. Slaught, C.; Berry, E.G.; Bacik, L.; Skalet, A.H.; Anadiotis, G.; Tuohy, T.; Leachman, S.A. Clinical challenges in interpreting multiple pathogenic mutations in single patients. *Hered. Cancer Clin. Pract.* **2021**, *19*, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13053-021-00172-3.
- 12. Lavie, O.; Narod, S.; Lejbkowicz, F.; Dishon, S.; Goldberg, Y.; Gemer, O.; Rennert, G. Double heterozygosity in the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in the Jewish population. *Ann. Oncol.* **2011**, *22*, 964–966. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdq460.
- Sokolenko, A.P.; Bogdanova, N.; Kluzniak, W.; Preobrazhenskaya, E.V.; Kuligina, E.S.; Iyevleva, A.G.; Aleksakhina, S.N.; Mitiushkina, N.V.; Gorodnova, T.V.; Bessonov, A.A.; et al. Double heterozygotes among breast cancer patients analyzed for BRCA1, CHEK2, ATM, NBN/NBS1, and BLM germ-line mutations. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 2014, *145*, 553–562. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-014-2971-1.
- 14. Helleday, T. Homologous recombination in cancer development, treatment and development of drug resistance. *Carcinogenesis* **2010**, *31*, 955–960. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgq064.
- 15. Cortesi, L.; Piombino, C.; Toss, A. Germline Mutations in Other Homologous Recombination Repair-Related Genes Than BRCA1/2: Predictive or Prognostic Factors? *J. Pers. Med.* **2021**, *11*, 245. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm11040245.
- 16. Chatterjee, N.; Walker, G.C. Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair and mutagenesis. *Environ. Mol. Mutagen.* **2017**, *58*, 235–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.22087.
- 17. Khanna, K.K. Cancer Risk and the ATM Gene: A Continuing Debate. JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2000, 92, 795–802. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/92.10.795.
- 18. Yamamoto, H.; Hirasawa, A. Homologous Recombination Deficiencies and Hereditary Tumors. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2021**, *23*, 348. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23010348.
- 19. Jonathan, L.; Philipp, H.; Charlie, G.; Michael, F.; Ignace, V.; Gordon, R.; Clare, S.; Werner, M.; Ronnie, S.-F.; Tamar, S.; et al. Olaparib Maintenance Therapy in Platinum-Sensitive Relapsed Ovarian Cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **2012**, 366, 1382–1392. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1105535.
- 20. Moiseyenko, V.M.; Chubenko, V.A.; Moiseyenko, F.V.; Zhabina, A.S.; Gorodnova, T.V.; Komarov, Y.I.; Bogdanov, A.A.; Sokolenko, A.P.; Imyanitov, E.N. Evidence for clinical efficacy of mitomycin C in heavily pretreated ovarian cancer patients carrying germ-line BRCA1 mutation. *Med. Oncol.* **2014**, *31*, 199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12032-014-0199-x.
- 21. Conroy, M.; Borad, M.J.; Bryce, A.H. Hypoxia-Activated Alkylating Agents in BRCA1-Mutant Ovarian Serous Carcinoma. *Cureus* **2017**, 9, e1517. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.1517.
- 22. Alsop, K.; Fereday, S.; Meldrum, C.; deFazio, A.; Emmanuel, C.; George, J.; Dobrovic, A.; Birrer, M.J.; Webb, P.M.; Stewart, C.; et al. BRCA Mutation Frequency and Patterns of Treatment Response in BRCA Mutation–Positive Women With Ovarian Cancer: A Report From the Australian Ovarian Cancer Study Group. J. Clin. Oncol. **2012**, *30*, 2654–2663. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011.39.8545.
- 23. Cybulski, C.; Nazarali, S.; Narod, S.A. Multiple primary cancers as a guide to heritability. *Int. J. Cancer* **2014**, *135*, 1756–1763. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28988.
- 24. Hall, M.J.; Bernhisel, R.; Hughes, E.; Larson, K.; Rosenthal, E.T.; Singh, N.A.; Lancaster, J.M.; Kurian, A.W. Germline pathogenic variants in the Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM) gene are associated with high and moderate risks for multiple cancers. *Cancer Prev. Res.* **2021**, *14*, 433–440. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-20-0448.
- 25. Harvengt, J.; Lumaka, A.; Fasquelle, C.; Caberg, J.H.; Mastouri, M.; Janssen, A.; Palmeira, L.; Bours, V. HIDEA syndrome: A new case report highlighting similarities with ROHHAD syndrome. *Front. Genet.* **2023**, *14*, 1137767.
- Richards, S.; Aziz, N.; Bale, S.; Bick, D.; Das, S.; Gastier-Foster, J.; Grody, W.W.; Hegde, M.; Lyon, E.; Spector, E.; et al. Standards and Guidelines for the Interpretation of Sequence Variants: A Joint Consensus Recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the Association for Molecular Pathology. *Genet. Med.* 2015, *17*, 405–424. https://doi.org/10.1038/gim.2015.30.
- 27. Desmet, F.-O.; Hamroun, D.; Lalande, M.; Collod-Béroud, G.; Claustres, M.; Béroud, C. Human Splicing Finder: An online bioinformatics tool to predict splicing signals. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2009**, *37*, e67. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkp215.
- 28. Ware, M.D.; DeSilva, D.; Sinilnikova, O.M.; Stoppa-Lyonnet, D.; Tavtigian, S.V.; Mazoyer, S. Does nonsense-mediated mRNA decay explain the ovarian cancer cluster region of the BRCA2 gene? *Oncogene* **2006**, *25*, 323–328. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209033.
- 29. Richardson, M.E.; Hu, C.; Lee, K.Y.; LaDuca, H.; Fulk, K.; Durda, K.M.; Deckman, A.M.; Goldgar, D.E.; Monteiro, A.N.A.; Gnanaolivu, R.; et al. Strong functional data for pathogenicity or neutrality classify BRCA2 DNA-binding-domain variants of uncertain significance. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **2021**, *108*, 458–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2021.02.005.

- Guidugli, L.; Pankratz, V.S.; Singh, N.; Thompson, J.; Erding, C.A.; Engel, C.; Schmutzler, R.; Domchek, S.; Nathanson, K.; Radice, P.; et al. A classification model for BRCA2 DNA binding domain missense variants based on homology directed repair activity. *Cancer Res.* 2013, 73, 265–275. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2081.
- Rebbeck, T.R.; Friebel, T.M.; Friedman, E.; Hamann, U.; Huo, D.; Kwong, A.; Olah, E.; Olopade, O.I.; Solano, A.R.; Teo, S.-H.; et al. Mutational Spectrum in a Worldwide Study of 29,700 Families with BRCA1 or BRCA2 Mutations. *Hum. Mutat.* 2018, 39, 593–620. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.23406.
- 32. Laitman, Y.; Friebel, T.M.; Yannoukakos, D.; Fostira, F.; Konstantopoulou, I.; Figlioli, G.; Bonanni, B.; Manoukian, S.; Zuradelli, M.; Tondini, C.; et al. The spectrum of BRCA1 and BRCA2 pathogenic sequence variants in Middle Eastern, North African, and South European countries. *Human. Mutat.* **2019**, *40*, e1–e23. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.23842.
- 33. Demir, S.; Tozkir, H.; Gurkan, H.; Atli, E.I.; Yalcintepe, S.; Atli, E.; Sezer, A.; Eker, D.; Tuncbilek, N.; Tastekin, E.; et al. Genetic screening results of individuals with high risk BRCA- related breast/ovarian cancer in Trakya region of Turkey. J. BUON 2020, 25, 1337–1347.
- 34. Mitui, M.; Nahas, S.; Du, L.; Yang, Z.; Lai, C.; Nakamura, K.; Arroyo, S.; Scott, S.; Purayidom, A.; Concannon, P.; et al. Functional and Computational Assessment of Missense Variants in the Ataxia-Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM) Gene: Mutations with Increased Cancer Risk. *Hum. Mutat.* **2009**, *30*, 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.20805.
- 35. Delia, D.; Mizutani, S.; Panigone, S.; Tagliabue, E.; Fontanella, E.; Asada, M.; Yamada, T.; Taya, Y.; Prudente, S.; Saviozzi, S.; et al. ATM protein and p53-serine 15 phosphorylation in ataxia-telangiectasia (AT) patients and at heterozygotes. *Br. J. Cancer* **2000**, *82*, 1938–1945. https://doi.org/10.1054/bjoc.2000.1168.
- 36. Cavalieri, S.; Pozzi, E.; Gatti, R.A.; Brusco, A. Deep-intronic ATM mutation detected by genomic resequencing and corrected in vitro by antisense morpholino oligonucleotide (AMO). *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* **2013**, *21*, 774–778. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2012.266.
- 37. Borg, Å.; Haile, R.W.; Malone, K.E.; Capanu, M.; Diep, A.; Törngren, T.; Teraoka, S.; Begg, C.B.; Thomas, D.C.; Concannon, P.; et al. Characterization of BRCA1 and BRCA2 Deleterious Mutations and Variants of Unknown Clinical Significance in Unilateral and Bilateral Breast Cancer: The WECARE Study. *Hum. Mutat.* **2010**, *31*, E1200–E1240. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.21202.
- Li, J.; Williams, B.L.; Haire, L.F.; Goldberg, M.; Wilker, E.; Durocher, D.; Yaffe, M.B.; Jackson, S.P.; Smerdon, S.J. Structural and Functional Versatility of the FHA Domain in DNA-Damage Signaling by the Tumor Suppressor Kinase Chk2. *Mol. Cell* 2002, 9, 1045– 1054. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00527-0.
- Boonen, R.A.C.M.; Wiegant, W.W.; Celosse, N.; Vroling, B.; Heijl, S.; Kote-Jarai, Z.; Mijuskovic, M.; Cristea, S.; Solleveld-Westerink, N.; van Wezel, T.; et al. Functional Analysis Identifies Damaging CHEK2 Missense Variants Associated with Increased Cancer Risk. *Cancer Res.* 2022, *82*, 615–631. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-21-1845.
- Cybulski, C.; Wokołorczyk, D.; Jakubowska, A.; Huzarski, T.; Byrski, T.; Gronwald, J.; Masojć, B.; Dębniak, T.; Górski, B.; Blecharz, P.; et al. Risk of Breast Cancer in Women With a CHEK2 Mutation With and Without a Family History of Breast Cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 2011, 29, 3747–3752. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.34.0778.
- 41. Couch, F.J.; Shimelis, H.; Hu, C.; Hart, S.N.; Polley, E.C.; Na, J.; Hallberg, E.; Moore, R.; Thomas, A.; Lilyquist, J.; et al. Associations Between Cancer Predisposition Testing Panel Genes and Breast Cancer. *JAMA Oncol.* **2017**, *3*, 1190–1196. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.0424.
- 42. Kuchenbaecker, K.B.; Hopper, J.L.; Barnes, D.R.; Phillips, K.-A.; Mooij, T.M.; Roos-Blom, M.-J.; Jervis, S.; van Leeuwen, F.E.; Milne, R.L.; Andrieu, N.; et al. Risks of Breast, Ovarian, and Contralateral Breast Cancer for BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Carriers. *JAMA* **2017**, *317*, 2402–2416. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.7112.
- 43. Graffeo, R.; Rana, H.Q.; Conforti, F.; Bonanni, B.; Cardoso, M.J.; Paluch-Shimon, S.; Pagani, O.; Goldhirsch, A.; Partridge, A.H.; Lambertini, M.; et al. Moderate penetrance genes complicate genetic testing for breast cancer diagnosis: ATM, CHEK2, BARD1 and RAD51D. *Breast* **2022**, 65, 32–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2022.06.003.
- 44. Levy-Lahad, E.; Friedman, E. Cancer risks among BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Br. J. Cancer* **2007**, *96*, 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6603535.
- 45. Duzkale Teker, N.; Eyerci, N. Double Heterozygous Mutations in the BRCA2 and ATM Genes: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. *Breast Care* **2021**, *16*, 412–417. https://doi.org/10.1159/000511430.
- 46. Maxwell, K.N.; Domchek, S.M.; Nathanson, K.L.; Robson, M.E. Population Frequency of Germline BRCA1/2 Mutations. J. Clin. Oncol. **2016**, *34*, 4183–4185. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.67.0554.
- 47. Swift, M.; Morrell, D.; Cromartie, E.; Chamberlin, A.R.; Skolnick, M.H.; Bishop, D.T. The incidence and gene frequency of ataxiatelangiectasia in the United States. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **1986**, *39*, 573–583.
- 48. Nguyen-Dumont, T.; Dowty, J.G.; Steen, J.A.; Renault, A.-L.; Hammet, F.; Mahmoodi, M.; Theys, D.; Rewse, A.; Tsimiklis, H.; Winship, I.M.; et al. Population-Based Estimates of the Age-Specific Cumulative Risk of Breast Cancer for Pathogenic Variants in CHEK2: Findings from the Australian Breast Cancer Family Registry. *Cancers* **2021**, *13*, 1378. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13061378.
- 49. Sukumar, J.; Kassem, M.; Agnese, D.; Pilarski, R.; Ramaswamy, B.; Sweet, K.; Sardesai, S. Concurrent germline BRCA1, BRCA2, and CHEK2 pathogenic variants in hereditary breast cancer: A case series. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* **2021**, *18*6, 569–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-021-06095-w.
- 50. Wang, A.; Everett, J.N.; Chun, J.; Cen, C.; Simeone, D.M.; Schnabel, F. Impact of changing guidelines on genetic testing and surveillance recommendations in a contemporary cohort of breast cancer survivors with family history of pancreatic cancer. *Sci. Rep.* **2021**, *11*, 12491. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-91971-0.
- 51. Hall, M.J.; McSweeny, M.J.; Rainey, K.; Campbell, H.; Nguyen, C.; Neumann, C. Risks and implications of multiple actionable pathogenic germline variants discovered by panel-based cancer predisposition testing. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2023**, *41*, 792. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2023.41.4_suppl.792.

- 52. Weitzel, J.N.; Blazer, K.R.; Nehoray, B.; Kidd, J.; Slavin, T.P.; Solomon, I.; Niell-Swiller, M.; Rybak, C.; Saam, J. Assessment of the clinical presentation of patients with at least two deleterious mutations on multi-gene panel testing. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **2015**, *33*, 1514. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2015.33.15_suppl.1514.
- 53. Dal Buono, A.; Poliani, L.; Greco, L.; Bianchi, P.; Barile, M.; Giatti, V.; Bonifacio, C.; Carrara, S.; Malesci, A.; Laghi, L. Prevalence of Germline Mutations in Cancer Predisposition Genes in Patients with Pancreatic Cancer or Suspected Related Hereditary Syndromes: Historical Prospective Analysis. Cancers 2023, 15, 1852. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers15061852.

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.

Part 3. Multiple primary cancers

MPCs occur when a patient develops more than one cancer, either simultaneously (synchronous) or sequentially (metachronous). Definitions and identification criteria for MPCs vary among regulatory agencies, and the threshold for defining synchronous versus metachronous tumors also differs.

In recent years, advancements in screening tests and cancer therapies have significantly improved patient survival rates. Their risk of subsequent cancers is influenced by factors such as the type of first primary site, age at diagnosis, environmental exposure, and genetic factors. Patients with MPC are more likely to carry germline pathogenic variants in cancer-related genes.

The study aimed to identify novel genetic mechanisms associated with tumor development in MPC patients, particularly those without a germline molecular genetic diagnosis after initial evaluation.

Ten patients were included with a range of tumors including melanomas, seminomas, thyroid cancer, and gynecological tumors. The identified variants included missense, nonsense, and splicing SNVs, as well as CNVs. Most SNVs were variants of uncertain significance (VUS), with only two classified as pathogenic. Tumor sequencing revealed that all germline variants were present in the somatic samples, with no additional hits identified in the same genes. Mutational signature analysis highlighted common etiological factors like DNA mismatch repair alterations and chemotherapy-related signatures.

The study found that only two out of ten patients had clearly pathogenic SNVs. Previous studies showed similar results, indicating that undetected germline pathogenic variants could account for MPC in a small number of cases. The presence of multiple low penetrance SNVs suggests an oligogenic effect, where combinations of genetic events influence cancer risk.

The study suggests that multiple germline variants can increase cancer risk, and comprehensive genetic testing, including SNVs, CNVs, and chromosomal rearrangements, is essential for accurate risk assessment. Further research is needed to understand the interactions between genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors in MPC. The limitations of this study included the small sample size and challenges in correlating VUS with disease, emphasizing the need for larger studies to explore these complex genetic interactions.



Genetic evaluation of patients with multiple primary cancers

MARIA VALERIA FREIRE¹, ROMAIN THISSEN¹, MARIE MARTIN², CORINNE FASQUELLE², LAURA HELOU¹, KEITH DURKIN^{1,2}, MARIA ARTESI^{1,2}, AIMÉ LUMAKA^{1,2}, NATACHA LEROI², KARIN SEGERS², MICHELLE DEBERG², JEAN-STÉPHANE GATOT², LIONEL HABRAN³, LEONOR PALMEIRA², CLAIRE JOSSE⁴ and VINCENT BOURS^{1, 2}

¹Department of Human Genetics, GIGA Research Center-University of Liège and CHU Liège, 4000 Liège, Belgium; ²Department of Human Genetics, CHU Liège, 4000 Liège, Belgium; ³Department of Pathology, CHU Liège, 4000 Liège, Belgium; ⁴Department of Medical Oncology, GIGA Research Center-University of Liège and CHU Liège, 4000 Liège, Belgium.

Received April 10, 2024; Accepted August 22, 2024

DOI: 10.3892/ol.2024.14750

Abstract. Regarding inherited cancer predisposition, single gene carriers of pathogenic variants (PVs) have been extensively reported on in the literature, whereas the oligogenic coinheritance of heterozygous PVs in cancerrelated genes is a poorly studied event. Currently, due to the increased number of cancer survivors, the probability of patients presenting multiple primary cancers (MPCs) is higher. The present study included patients with MPCs aged ≤45 years without known PVs in common cancer predisposition genes. This study used whole exome sequencing (WES) of germline and tumoral DNA, chromosomal microarray analysis (CMA) of germline DNA (patients 1-7, 9 and 10), and a karyotype test of patient 8 to detect variants associated with the disease. The 10 patients included in the study presented a mean of 3 cancers per patient. CMA showed two microduplications and one microdeletion, while WES of the germline DNA identified 1-3 single nucleotide variants of potential interest to the disease in each patient and two additional copy number variants. Most of the identified variants were classified as variants of uncertain significance. The mapping of the germline variants into their pathways showed a possible additive effect of these as the cause of the cancer. A total of 12 somatic samples from 5 patients were available for sequencing. All of the germline variants were also present in the somatic samples, while no second hits were identified in the same genes. The sequencing of patients with early cancers, family history and multiple tumors is already a standard of care. However, growing evidence has suggested that the assessment of patients should not stop at the identification of one PV in a cancer predisposition gene.

E-mail: vbours@uliege.be

Key words: multiple primary cancers, early cancers, whole exome sequencing, cancer predisposition genes, single nucleotide variants

Introduction

Multiple primary cancers (MPCs) are defined as the occurrence of more than one synchronous or metachronous cancer in a patient. For reporting purposes, the identification of MPCs is variable across the regulatory agencies. The Surveillance, Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) program considers the histology, site, laterality, and time since initial diagnosis of the tumor, while for the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) only one tumor is registered for an organ, irrespective of time. The definition of synchronous and metachronous tumors also varies, having a threshold of 2 months in SEER and 6 months in IARC (1,2).

The development of screening tests and new cancer therapies improved cancer patient survival. By 2005, almost 900,000 of the 11 million cancer survivors were diagnosed with more than one cancer. The risk of developing subsequent cancers varies with regards to the type of first primary site, age at diagnosis, environmental exposure and genetic factors (3).

The identification of genes associated with hereditary cancer risk started 25 years ago with the discovery of BRCA pathogenic variants in families with breast and ovarian cancers. Since then, more than 80 cancer predisposition syndromes and 100 cancer-related genes were identified (4). For each syndrome, the most commonly associated cancers are defined but the exact risk profile remains often unknown. One common characteristic of these conditions is the young age at cancer diagnosis in most patients, although a considerable heterogeneity is observed. Additionally, it is widely stated that patients with multiple primary cancers are more likely to carry germline pathogenic variants in cancer-related genes (5).

For patients with MPCs without a germline molecular genetic diagnosis after initial evaluation, single-nucleotide variants (SNVs), copy number variants (CNVs), or de novo chromosomal rearrangements could be the cause of the disease. Another possibility could be the additive effect of multiple genetic events influencing a single biochemical mechanism. The aim of this study was to identify novel genetic mechanisms associated with risk of tumor development in patients with MPCs.

Correspondence to: Professor Vincent Bours, Department of Human Genetics, CHU Liège, 1 Avenue de l'Hôpital, 4000 Liège, Belgium

Patients and methods

Patient selection. We selected patients with ≥ 2 tumors before 45 years old, who were evaluated by the genetic department of the CHU Liège. The routine genetic assessment and testing with targeted next-generation sequencing (NGS) failed to establish a germline molecular genetic diagnosis. Additionally, the patients lacked family history suggestive of a cancer predisposition syndrome. Tumors in the same tissue or organ were considered separate primary tumors if, in the case of paired organs, they presented bilaterally or if the clinical history clearly indicated that they were different. All participants gave informed consent to participate in the study.

Data collection. Patient sex, age, age at diagnosis of each of the tumors, personal and family history were extracted from the medical records. Data regarding cancer diagnosis and treatment was collected from the institution's database.

Germline analysis. Whole exome sequencing (WES, Novogene) and a high-resolution (180K) chromosomal microarray analysis reference (CMA, Agilent) were performed on the DNA extracted from the blood of the patients. The WES data was analyzed using our own Humanomics pipeline (as described in (6)) and two interpretation software (Illumina BaseSpace Variant Interpreter and Diploid Moon). The variants were filtered according to their quality (allele depth and genotype quality), population frequency, the effect on the gene and the classification of the variant in databases. Variant classification was performed according to ACMG Standards and Guidelines for the Interpretation of Sequence Variants (7). The identified variants were confirmed by Sanger sequencing.

CNV analysis was conducted on the BAM file (mapping with bwa version v0.7.17 and cleaning with elprep version v4.1.5) arising from the identical sequencing batch using the Humanomics BED file, which enabled the detection of CNVs bigger than one whole exon. The depth of coverage was calculated specifically on exons within these files, and the normalization set comprised 400 patients (200 males and 200 females). The CNVs were detected by implementing of our inhouse pipeline (StueckFinder v2.2) that integrates the wellestablished tool CANOES (8) and code modifications to enable CNV detection on the gonosomes. Variant classification was performed according to the ACMG/ClinGen technical standards for the interpretation and reporting of constitutional copy number variants (9). The detected CNVs were confirmed by nanopore sequencing.

Tumor analysis. WES of the tumoral DNA (using Mechanical Fragmentation and the Twist Universal Adapter System) was performed on the DNA extracted from the available Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded (FFPE) patient samples. The data analysis was performed using QIAGEN Digital Insight Software Genomics Workbench 21 for data preparation, mapping, variant calling and annotation. The tumoral WES results were analyzed separately and as a tumor-normal pair. Variant classification was performed according to ACMG Standards and Guidelines for the Interpretation of Sequence Variants in Cancer (10) and the ClinGen specification when

available. Mutational signatures in the samples were analyzed Using Mutational Patterns R package (11) and COSMIC v2 signatures (12), taking only the somatic variants into account.

Results

Patients' characteristics. Ten patients with multiple cancers were included in the study. The mean age was 40.7 ± 5.4 years, 7 patients were female and 3 were male. None of the patients had family cancer history suggestive of a cancer predisposition syndrome. Before enrolment, by targeted NGS sequencing a *CHEK2* and *ATM* variant was identified in two patients, however they could not explain the full phenotype observed. The CMA results included two microduplications and one microdeletion (Table I).

We observed a mean of 3.2 tumors per patient. The tumors included melanomas, seminomas, thyroid cancer, gynecological tumors, and others (Table II).

Germline WES results. CNVs and missense, nonsense and splicing SNVs were identified in the patients included in the study (See Table III). The variants were classified according to the ACMG criteria and ClinGen specifications whenever available. Most of the identified SNVs were variants of uncertain significance (VUS), and only two variants were classified as pathogenic (See table IV). One of the pathogenic variants, an ATM splicing variant (c.8988-1G>A) that affected a canonical splice site, was not present in GnomAD, was predicted as deleterious by SIFT, Mutation taster, Provean, and the splicing in silico analysis. The second pathogenic variant in the MUTYH gene was previously described in patients with MUTYH-Associated Polyposis, an autosomal recessive disease that predisposes to colorectal cancer (13). Furthermore, heterozygous deleterious MUTYH variants were described as drivers in various types of cancer (adrenocortical carcinoma, esophageal carcinoma, sarcoma, prostate adenocarcinoma, and kidney renal clear cell carcinoma) (14).

Two CNVs were detected when evaluating WES data in the patients (Table III). One included an *MSR1* gene heterozygous deletion of exons 7-10. This CNV was classified as variant of unknow significance according to the ACMG/ClinGen criteria. The second was a heterozygous deletion of the whole *APOBEC3B* gene, which was classified as pathogenic as for a full gene deletion a pathogenic classification is warranted (15).

Tumor WES results. Twelve somatic samples were available for sequencing, a seminoma and thyroid cancer from patient 1, four melanomas from patient 3, an ovary cancer from patient 4, a thyroid cancer, dermatofibroma and dysplastic nevus from patient 6, and breast and thyroid cancer from patient 7. All the germline variants were also present in the somatic samples, no second hits were identified in the same genes. The mutational signature analysis aimed to identify common etiological factors for the development of the multiple cancers in the patients. The most frequently presented Single Base Substitution (SBS) signatures with a proposed etiology were the DNA mismatch repair alteration signature, and the signatures related to chemotherapy treatment (Table SI). The

	C	Age,	Family cancer history and	Cancer type and age at		
Patient	Sex	years	age at diagnosis, years	diagnosis, years	Initial genetic evaluation	CMA results
P1	Σ	44	Choroidal melanoma in	Melanoma at 18, left	Kit BRCA HEREDITARY CANCER MASTR Plus:	arr[hg19]
			father at 68	seminoma at 21, right seminoma at 37,	BRCAI, BRCA2, PALB2, CHEK2, BARDI, BRIPI, RAD5IC, RAD5ID, TP53, MREIIA, RAD50, NBN,	2q13(111,408,390- 113,098,686)x1
				thyroid cancer at 38	F4MI 754, ATM, STK11, MEN1, PTEN, CDH1, MUTYH, BLM, XRCC2, MLH1, MSH6, PMS2 and MSH2, and the 3 UTR of EPCAM	
P2	ц	43	Basal cell carcinoma	Bilateral breast tumor	Kit BRCA HEREDITARY CANCER MASTR Plus:	arr[hg19]
			carcinoma at 37	at 23, melanoma	BRCAI, BRCA2, PALB2, CHEK2, BARDI, BRIPI, RAD51C, RAD51D, TP53, MRE11A, RAD50, NBN,	16p13.11(14910205- 16525348)x3
					F4MI 754, ATM, STK11, MEN1, PTEN, CDH1, MUTYH, BLM, XRCC2, MLH1, MSH6, PMS2 and MSH2, and the 3 UTR of EPCAM	
P3	Ч	38	Generalized cancer in half- sister at 35	Melanoma at 23, 24, 30–34 and 35	Sanger sequencing of $CDK4$ and $BAPI$, direct sequencing of c 1100delC in gene $CHFK2$ High-throughout	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
				10, 11 m m	sequencing: BRCA MASTR Dx kit (BRCA1, BRCA2), PALB2. TP53 (exons 2-11). ATM. CDKN2A	
P4	Ц	33	Pancreatic cancer in paternal	Medulloblastoma at 10,	, Sanger sequencing of CDK4 and BAP1, direct sequencing	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
			grandmother at 64	ovary tumor at 26	of c.1100delC in gene CHEK2. High-throughput	
					sequencing: BRCA MASTR Dx kit (BRCA1, BRCA2), PALB2, TP53 (exons 2-11), ATM, CDKN2A	
P5	Μ	42	No history	Colorectal cancer at 37, melanoma	, kit HNPCC MASTR Plus: <i>MLH1</i> , <i>MSH2</i> , <i>MSH6</i> , <i>PMS2</i> , and 3' UTR of <i>EPCAM</i> . Sequecing of <i>APC</i> , <i>MTYH</i> , <i>NTH11</i> , <i>TP53</i> , <i>BAP1</i>	arr[hg19] (1-22)x2, (XY)x1
P6	ц	36	Thyroid cancer in sister at unknown age, breast cancer	Thyroid tumor at 26, melanoma at 28	Kit SUREMASTR HEREDITARY CANCER: BRCAI, BRCA2, PALB2, TP53, CHEK2, MLHI, MSH2, MSH6,	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
			in mother after the age of 50 and maternal grandmother.		ATM, BRIPI, RAD51C, RAD51D	
P7	Ц	44	Ovarian cancer in mother 45, breast cancer in half-	Breast tumor at 35, thyroid tumor at 36	Kit BRCA HEREDITARY CANCER MASTR Plus: BRCA1, BRCA2, PALB2, CHEK2, BARD1, BRIP1,	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
			sister (same mother) at 37		RADSIC, RADSID, TP53, MREILA, RAD50, NBN, FAM1754 ATM STK11 MEN1 PTEN CDH1 MUTYH	
					BLM, XRCC2, MLHI, MSH6, PMS2 and MSH2, and the 3 UJTR of <i>EPCAM</i>	
P8	Ц	52	Prostate cancer at 57,	Breast tumor at 33,	High-throughput sequencing: Kit SUREMASTR	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
			pheochromocytoma at 68	thyroid cancer at 38	HEREDITARY CANCER (BRCAI, BRCA2, PALB2, TP53 CHEK2 MI HI MCH2 MSH6 ATM BBIDI DAD51C	
			breast cancer in mother at 49		RAD51D). PTEN gene sequencing and MLPA	
			and grandmother at 60			

Patient	Sex	Age, years	Family cancer history and age at diagnosis, years	Cancer type and age at diagnosis, years	Initial genetic evaluation	CMA results
P9	ц	38	Synovial sarcoma in mother at 35	Melanoma at 31, thyroid cancer at 34	Arrhytmia/Primary Electrical disease panel: ABCB4, ABCC9, ACTN2, AKAP9, ANK2, CACNAIC,	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
					CACNA2DI, CACNB2, CALMI, CALM2, CALM3, CASO2, CAY3, CTNNA3, DES, DPP6, DSC2, DSG2, DSP, GJAI (CX43), GJAS (CX40), GNB5, GPD1L,	
					HCN4, JUP, KCNAS, KCND3, KCNE1, KCNE2, KCNE3, KCNE5 (KCNE1L), KCNH2, KCNJ2, KCNJ5 (GIRK4),	
					KCNJB, KCNKI7, KCNQI, LMNA, NKX2-5 (NKX2E), NOSIAP, NPPA, PKP2, PLN, PPA2, PRKAG2, RANGRF	
					(MOGI), RRAD, RYR2, SCNIB, SCN2B, SCN3B,	
					SCN4B, SCN5A, SCN10A, SLMAP, SN1A1, 1GFB3, TMEM43, TRDN, TRPM4	
P10	Μ	37	No history	Seminoma at 24,	High-throughput sequencing: Kit SUREMASTR	arr[hg19]
				bladder cancer at 33, kidney cancer at 34	HEREDITARY CANCER (BRCAI, BRCA2, PALB2, TP53, CHEK2, MLHI, MSH2, MSH6, ATM, BRIPI,	2q13(110862477- 110964737)x4
					RAD51C, RAD51D). FH gene sequencing. Hereditary	
					SDHB, SDHC, SDHD, VHL, RET). Hereditary non	
					polyposic colorectal cancer panel (MLHI, MSH2, MSH6). MLPA of BRCA1, BRCA2, FH, SDHB, SDHC,	
					SDHD, VHL, MLHI, MSH2, MSH6	
CMA, CI	romosc	omal Mic	croarray Analysis; F, female; N	A, male.		

Table I. Continued.

FREIRE et al: GENETICS OF MULTIPLE PRIMARY CANCERS



	First	Second	Third	Fourth	Fifth	
	tumor	tumor	tumor	tumor	tumor	Total
Characteristic	(n=10)	(n=10)	(n=6)	(n=4)	(n=2)	(n=32)
Mean±SD age at presentation, years	26.9 ± 8.5	30.8 ± 6.0	33.8±4.0	35.3±1.5	35±1.4	
Tumor type, n (%)						
Melanoma	3 (30.0)	3 (30.0)	3 (50.0)	2 (50.0)	2 (100.0)	13 (40.6)
Seminoma	1 (10.0)	1 (10.0)	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	3 (9.4)
Thyroid cancer	1 (10.0)	3 (30.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (25.0)	0 (0.0)	5 (15.6)
Breast tumor	3 (30.0)	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	4 (12.5)
Ovarian tumor	0 (0.0)	1 (10.0)	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (6.3)
Neuronal tumors	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.1)
Muscle tumors	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (25.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.1)
CRC	1 (10.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (3.1)
Renal and urinary tract tumors	0 (0.0)	1 (10.0)	1 (16.6)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	2 (6.3)

Table II. Tumor characteristics.

Table III. Genetic alterations identified in the patients.

Patient	Gene	Variant	Туре
P1	CHEK2	c1100delC (p.Thr367Metfs*15)	Nonsense SNV
	EME2	c.964C>T (p.Gln322*)	Nonsense SNV
	ATRIP	c.1637T>G (p.Leu546Trp)	Missense SNV
	BUB1	arr[hg19] 2q13(111,408,390-113,098,686)x1	CNV
P2	HNF1A	c.92G>A (p.Gly31Asp)	Missense SNV
	TSC2	c.5383C>T (p.Arg1795Cys)	Missense SNV
	MSR1	c.(956+1_957-1)_ 3618del	CNV
P3	ATM	c.8988-1G>A	Splicing SNV
	APC	c.295C>T (p.Arg99Trp)	Missense SNV
P5	ERCC2	c.2260G>C (p.Glu754Gln)	Missense SNV
P6	RASA2	c.865T>C (p.Tyr289His)	Missense SNV
P7	RIF1	c.1475A>G (c.1475A>G)	Missense SNV
	APOBEC3B	g.(?_39378444)_(39388168_?)del	CNV
P8	CHEK2	c.434G>A (p.Arg145Gln)	Missense SNV
P9	ATM	c.2057T>A (p.Leu686His)	Missense SNV
P10	MUTYH	c.536A>G (p.Tyr179Cys)	Missense SNV

Reference transcripts: APC NM_000038.6, APOBEC3B NC_000081.7, ATM NM_000051.3, ATRIP NM_130384.2, BRCA1 NM_007294.3, CHEK2 NM_007194.4, EME2 NM_001257370.2, ERCC2 NM_000400 HNF1A NM_000545.5, MSR1 NM_138715.2, MUTYH NM_012222.2, RASA2 NM_006506.5, RIF1 NM_018151.4, TSC2 NM_000548.5.4,

only obvious correlation between the patient's signatures was observed between three of the four patient 3 melanomas.

Discussion

In this study only two out of 10 patients with MPCs presented clearly pathogenic SNVs. Previous reports showed similar results. When performing a whole-genome sequencing (WGS) of a cohort of patients with MPC who had undergone genetic assessment, undetected germline pathogenic variants were identified in 15.2% cases (16). In another study, 21% of

patients with MPC had at least one PV identified (17). The rest of our patients had one or more VUS that could potentially act together to cause the disease, supporting the hypothesis of an oligogenic effect, which has been described before (18).

The oligogenic effect of combinations of low penetrance SNVs in cancer-related genes has been suspected for a long time, including in young patients with breast and lung cancers. In a case-control study of 631 women with breast cancer diagnosed under the age of 53, it was proposed that SNVs in ten

e patients.
ı th
· Ħ
dentified
s1.
variant
nucleotide
gle
Sin
Ŋ.
Table

Classification	LPV	SUV	NUS	VUS	SUV	ΡΛ	VUS	-	SUV	SUV	SUV
Literature reports	Associated with higher risk of breast, prostate and colorectal cancer (12)	Reported in individual with pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma at 60 (13)	1	Identified in a female with clear RCC and two chromophobe RCC at age 75. No second variant was found (14). Identified in person with MSS CRC at 58 (15)	Reported as probably neutral in functional study using HEK 293T cells (16). Reported in individual at high risk for breast and/or ovarian cancer (17)	A splicing variant at this position was proven to alter the splice acceptor site (18)	Detected in a person from a cohort with B-cell neoplasms (19). Identified in one of 40 unrelated patients with familial CRC without classical familial adenomatous polyposis coli (20)	T	1 1	ı	Reported in a female with breast cancer at 37(21). Found in one individual with CRC and in none of the cancer free
GnomAD	0.17%	0.82%	0.00%	0.08%	0.15%	0%0	0.04%		%0	%0	0.00%
Predictors classifying the variant as deleterious	CADD	Mutation taster, FATHMM MKL, SIPHY	SIFT, PROVEAN, FATHMM MKL, SIPHY	Mutation taster, FATHMM, PROVEAN, SIPHY	SIFT, POLYPHEN, Mutation Taster, FATHMM, PROVEAN, SIPHY	SIFT, Mutation Taster, PROVEAN, SIPHY, SPLICEAI AG, SPLICEAI AL, SPLICING ADA	SIFT, FATHMM, PROVEAN, FATHMM MKL, SIPHY		FROVEAN, SIFTT SIFT, Mutation Taster, PROVEAN, FATHMM MKL, SIPHY	SIFT, Mutation Taster, PROVEAN, FATHMM MKL, SIPHY	SIFT, POLYPHEN, Mutation Taster, FATHMM, PROVEAN, FATHMM MKL, SIPHY
Effect	Nonsense	Nonsense	Missense	Missense	Missense	Splicing	Missense	-	Missense	Missense	Missense
Variant	c1100deIC (p.Thr367Metfs*15)	c.964C>T (p.Gln322*)	c.1637T>G (p.Leu546Trp)	c.92G>A (p.Gly31Asp)	c.5383C>T (p.Arg1795Cys)	c.8988-1G>A	c.295C>T (p.Arg99Trp)		c22000-0C (p.O.111/34001) c.865T>C (p.Tyr289His)	c.1475A>G (c.1475A>G)	c.434G>A (p.Arg145Gln)
Gene	CHEK2	EME2	ATRIP	HNFIA	TSC2	ATM	APC		EACU2 RASA2	RIFI	CHEK2
Patient	P1			P2		P3		P4 De	61 94	P7	P8

FREIRE et al: GENETICS OF MULTIPLE PRIMARY CANCERS

SPANDIDOS PUBLICATIONS

				Predictors classifying			
				the variant as	GnomAD		
Patient	Gene	Variant	Effect	deleterious	frequency	Literature reports	Classification
P9	ATM	c.2057T>A (p.Leu686His)	Missense	Mutation taster,	0.00%	Reported in a female older than 40 with	NUS
				PROVEAN, FATHMM		breast cancer (25)	
				MKL, SIPHY			
P10	MUTYH	c.536A>G (p.Tyr179Cys)	Missense	SIFT, Mutation taster,	0.15%	Observed in homozygous and compound	ΡV
				FATHMM,		heterozygous state in multiple individuals	
				PROVEAN, FATHMM		with MUTYH-Associated Polyposis (10)	
				MKL, SIPHY			
CRC, colc	prectal canc	er; LPV, likely pathogenic var	iant; MSS, r	nicrosatellite stable; RCC,	renal cell ca	rcinoma; PV, pathogenic variant; VUS, variai	nt of uncertain
significan	ce. Referer	ce transcripts: APC NM_0000	38.6, ATM 1	NM_000051.3, ATRIP NM	_130384.2,	BRCA1 NM_007294.3, CHEK2 NM_007194	4.3, EME2
NM_0012	:57370.1, E	RCC2 NM_000400.4, HNF1A	NM_00054	5.5, MUTYH NM_012222	2.2, RASA2	NM_006506.5, RIF1 NM_018151.4, TSC2 N	NM_000548.5.

genes with known or predicted roles in breast cancer interact to affect a woman's cancer risk in a way unpredictable from single gene effects (19). On the other hand, sets of germline SNVs were identified in young non-smokers with lung adenocarcinoma that underwent WES (20).

The additive effect of multiple genetic events influencing a few biochemical mechanisms was observed in patient 1, where the identified variants were mapped into the cancer-related pathways. The SNVs affected genes of the DNA repair pathways (doublestrand break repair and Fanconi anemia: CHEK2, ATRIP) and cell cycle checkpoints (EME2), while the genes involved in the microdeletion were mapped into the cell cycle checkpoints (BUB1). The pathogenic variant observed in CHEK2 could explain each of the cancers observed in the patient separately due to the reports that CHEK2 can be associated with risk of melanoma (21), seminoma (22), and other cancers (23). However, each of these reported patients showed a narrower spectrum of cancer, therefore the contribution of other pathogenic variants cannot be ruled out to explain multiple cancers in a single patient. The study of this single patient with a very significant number of precocious malignant tumors thus suggests an oligogenic effect. This patient, now healthy at the age of 46, benefits from a regular clinical and imaging surveillance. However, genetic counselling for his 5 children is very difficult; so far, family testing was not proposed as patient 1 had his first diagnosis at the age of 18 (a melanoma), a clinical follow-up from the age of 13 should probably be proposed.

Patient 2 in addition to two SNVs presented a deletion of the four last exons in *MSR1* gene. Germline variants in these gene have been linked to prostate cancer (24) and esophageal carcinoma (25). The importance of this gene in breast cancer and melanoma is yet to be identified. The second CNV was a complete deletion of *APOBEC3B* gene in patient 7. Germline deletions of this gene have been associated with breast cancer risk (26). The CNVs identified in patient 2 and patient 7 were confirmed by nanopore sequencing.

Three of the patients presented microdeletions/microduplications that could alter micro-RNA expression. However, none of the micro-RNA included in the CNVs has been associated with germline risk of cancer.

The other patients from our cohort showed limited numbers of variants or not any identified variant (patient 4). Of course, we cannot exclude PVs in non-coding areas. Other explanations could include epigenetic or environmental factors. Interestingly, there were not any variants identified in patient 4, who presented with a medulloblastoma at an early age, and a bilateral mucinous ovarian borderline tumor later in life, while her monozygotic twin sister never had a tumor, which suggested a non-genetic cause or low penetrance factors that we could not detect.

In five patients, we could analyze the tumors to search for second hits and confirm the involvement of germline variants in tumor suppressor genes. We could not identify such somatic genetic events. However, for further studies, a simultaneous analysis of the germline and tumor DNA should be done, including epigenetic analysis of the tumor DNA.

On the tumors, we investigated the mutational signatures, as they could orient the investigation toward specific oncologic mechanisms, such as DNA repair defects. We could not identify a recurrent signature in the different tumors from a single patient, except for a defective DNA mismatch repair (MMR) signature observed in the three cancers from patient 6, in which we have not identified any PV in the MMR genes. Interestingly, several tumors showed a signature indicating exposure to chemotherapy. Although these patients were not previously exposed to chemotherapy nor radiotherapy, exposure to therapeutic or environmental DNA-damaging agents could contribute significantly to cancer risk if there is any constitutional defect in DNA-repair pathways (27).

Our study thus suggests that the simultaneous presence of multiple germline variants can confer a significant cancer risk. We also observed three families with multiple early cancers in patients carrying BRCA2 and ATM mutations (28) and other reports showed similar data (29,30). Moreover, the polygenic risk scores can identify a small population with high cancer risk, as demonstrated for breast cancer (31). Finally, rare recessive conditions could also induce a significant cancer risk as indicated for MCM9 mutations associated with primary ovarian insufficiency and cancer risk (32). Taken together these studies indicate that: i) investigations should not be limited to single gene studies in patients/families with multiple and/or early cancers; ii) In order to identify all the genetic events that could be associated with cancer genes, SNVs, CNVs, and chromosomal rearrangements including gene fusions should be tested combining different techniques such as NGS and optical genome mapping; iii) further studies are needed to investigate the respective role of genetic and epigenetic events in these patients; iv) the exact role of the observed variants and their cumulative effect should be addressed by functional studies.

The limitations of the study include the small number of participants, the challenges of correlating VUS with the disease and the limited availability of somatic samples. The limited number of participants restricts the generalizability of the findings, and makes impossible a mutation frequency analysis to identify common mutation patterns or recurring PVs. At the moment, it will be not possible to reclassify the VUS into other categories, as the information on the variants is limited, these variants are not recurrent in several patients and consequently there is not enough evidence of pathogenicity to initiate functional validation of the variants. Further studies such as dynamic variant analysis, data integration and bioinformatic analysis can provide insights into the variant role in MPCs, and discover potential biomarkers, signaling pathways, and therapeutic targets. Furthermore, it will be necessary to evaluate the effect of gene-gene, gene-environment and protein-protein interactions, and the role of genetic modifiers and environmental factors in MPCs. Indeed, it will be a real challenge to study the role of oligogenic variants in cancer predisposition. Among possibilities, it could be envisioned to inactivate several genes in cell models and study specific biochemical pathways, controlling for instance cell proliferation, apoptosis or DNA repair mechanisms. In these cell models, and in human tumors studied in parallel, proteomic and transcriptomic studies will evaluate simultaneous loss of gene or protein expression as well as protein-protein interactions. In animal models, one could cross heterozygous or homozygous knock-out animals and evaluate spontaneous or induced cancer development.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a Televie fellowship (MV.F.), a grant from the CHU Liège, and the WALGEMED grant (Region Wallonne). The CHU of Liege is a member of the GENTURIS (GENetic TUmor RISk) European Reference Network.

Funding

This work was supported by Televie [grant number 7451419F]; CHU Liege [grant number 981481200]; Region Wallonne [grant number 1710180].

Availability of data and materials

The whole exome sequencing data generated in the present study may be found in the SRA database under PRJNA1127072 or at the following URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bioproject/PRJNA1127072. The chromosomal microarray analysis data generated in the present study may be found in the Gene Expression Omnibus database under accession number GSE271498 or at the following URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/ acc.cgi?acc=GSE271498.

Authors' Contributions

VB conceptualized the present study. MF, MM and VB collected and analyzed the data for the present study. MF was in charge of the formal analysis of the study. VB performed the funding acquisition. MF, MM, RT, MA, KD, LHe, MD, KS, NL, AL, JG, LHa and CF performed the investigation. MF, MM, RT, CJ and LP defined the methodology. VB administered the project and acquired the resources. CJ, AL, LP and VB checked and validated the data analysis. MF and VB wrote the original draft. MF, RT, MM, MA, KD, LHe, CF, MD, AL, NL, KS, JG, LHa, LP, CJ and VB reviewed and edited the manuscript. MF, JG and MD confirm the authenticity of all the raw data. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This study was approved by the Comité d'Éthique Hospitalo-Facultaire Universitaire de Liège (approval no. 2019/245). All subjects provided written informed consent.

Patient consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

References

- 1.Dickie L, Johnson CH, Adams S, Serban N. Solid Tumor Rules. Effective with Cases Diagnosed 1/1/2018 and Forward [Internet]. National Cancer Institute SEER; 2021. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/tools/solidtumor/STM.pdf
- 2. Report WG. International rules for multiple primary cancers (ICD-0 third edition). European Journal of Cancer Prevention. 2005 Aug;14(4):307–8.



- 3.American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2009 [Internet]. American Cancer Society; 2019. Available from: https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/all-cancerfacts-figures/cancer-facts-figures-2009.html
- 4.Cybulski C, Nazarali S, Narod SA. Multiple primary cancers as a guide to heritability. International Journal of Cancer. 2014;135(8):1756–63.
- 5.Chan GHJ, Ong PY, Low JJH, Kong HL, Ow SGW, Tan DSP, et al. Clinical genetic testing outcome with multi-gene panel in Asian patients with multiple primary cancers. Oncotarget. 2018 Jul 17;9(55):30649–60.
- 6.Harvengt J, Lumaka A, Fasquelle C, Caberg JH, Mastouri M, Janssen A, et al. HIDEA syndrome: A new case report highlighting similarities with ROHHAD syndrome. Frontiers in Genetics [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Apr 4];14. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fgene.2023.1137767
- 7.Richards S, Aziz N, Bale S, Bick D, Das S, Gastier-Foster J, et al. Standards and Guidelines for the Interpretation of Sequence Variants: A Joint Consensus Recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the Association for Molecular Pathology. Genet Med. 2015 May;17(5):405–24.
- 8.Backenroth D, Homsy J, Murillo LR, Glessner J, Lin E, Brueckner M, et al. CANOES: detecting rare copy number variants from whole exome sequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014 Aug 1;42(12):e97.
- 9.Riggs ER, Andersen EF, Cherry AM, Kantarci S, Kearney H, Patel A, et al. Technical standards for the interpretation and reporting of constitutional copy number variants: a joint consensus recommendation of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) and the Clinical Genome Resource (ClinGen). Genet Med. 2020 Feb;22(2):245–57.
- 10.Li MM, Datto M, Duncavage EJ, Kulkarni S, Lindeman NI, Roy S, et al. Standards and Guidelines for the Interpretation and Reporting of Sequence Variants in Cancer. J Mol Diagn. 2017 Jan;19(1):4–23.
- 11.Blokzijl F, Janssen R, van Boxtel R, Cuppen E. MutationalPatterns: comprehensive genome-wide analysis of mutational processes. Genome Medicine. 2018 Apr 25;10(1):33.
- 12.Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SAJR, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013 Aug 22;500(7463):415–21.
- 13.Nielsen M, Joerink van de Beld MC, Jones N, Vogt S, Tops CM, Vasen HFA, et al. Analysis of MUTYH Genotypes and Colorectal Phenotypes in Patients With MUTYH-Associated Polyposis. Gastroenterology. 2009 Feb 1;136(2):471–6.
- 14.Barreiro RAS, Sabbaga J, Rossi BM, Achatz MIW, Camargo AA, Asprino PF, et al. Heterozygous deleterious MUTYH variants as a driver for tumorigenesis [Internet]. medRxiv; 2021 [cited 2022 Dec 8]. p. 2021.06.09.21258588. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.06.09.21258588v1
- 15.Abou Tayoun AN, Pesaran T, DiStefano MT, Oza A, Rehm HL, Biesecker LG, et al. Recommendations for interpreting the loss of function PVS1 ACMG/AMP variant criterion. Hum Mutat. 2018 Nov;39(11):1517–24.
- 16.Whitworth J, Smith PS, Martin JE, West H, Luchetti A, Rodger F, et al. Comprehensive Cancer-Predisposition Gene Testing in an Adult Multiple Primary Tumor Series Shows a Broad Range of Deleterious Variants and Atypical Tumor Phenotypes. Am J Hum Genet. 2018 Jul 5;103(1):3–18.

- 17.Liu YL, Cadoo KA, Mukherjee S, Khurram A, Tkachuk K, Kemel Y, et al. Multiple Primary Cancers in Patients Undergoing Tumor-Normal Sequencing Define Novel Associations. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 2022 Feb 7;31(2):362–71.
- 18.McGuigan A, Whitworth J, Andreou A, Hearn T, Tischkowitz M, Maher ER. Multilocus Inherited Neoplasia Allele Syndrome (MINAS): an update. Eur J Hum Genet. 2022 Mar;30(3):265–70.
- 19.Aston CE, Ralph DA, Lalo DP, Manjeshwar S, Gramling B 9 DeFreese DC, et al. Oligogenic combinations associated with bre cancer risk in women under 53 years of age. Hum Genet. 2005 Feb 1;116(3):208–21.
- 20.Renieri A, Mencarelli MA, Cetta F, Baldassarri M, Mari F, Furini S, et al. Oligogenic germline mutations identified in early non-smokers lung adenocarcinoma patients. Lung Cancer. 2014 Aug 1;85(2):168–74.
- 21.Weischer M, Heerfordt IM, Bojesen SE, Eigentler T, Garbe C, Röcken M, et al. CHEK2*1100delC and Risk of Malignant Melanoma: Danish and German Studies and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2012 Feb 1;132(2):299–303.
- 22.AlDubayan SH, Pyle LC, Gamulin M, Kulis T, Moore ND, Taylor-Weiner A, et al. Association of Inherited Pathogenic Variants in Checkpoint Kinase 2 (CHEK2) With Susceptibility to Testicular Germ Cell Tumors. JAMA Oncol. 2019 Apr;5(4):514–22.
- 23.Stolarova L, Kleiblova P, Janatova M, Soukupova J, Zemankova P, Macurek L, et al. CHEK2 Germline Variants in Cancer Predisposition: Stalemate Rather than Checkmate. Cells. 2020 Dec 12;9(12):2675.
- 24.Xu J, Zheng SL, Komiya A, Mychaleckyj JC, Isaacs SD, Hu JJ, et al. Germline mutations and sequence variants of the macrophage scavenger receptor 1 gene are associated with prostate cancer risk. Nat Genet. 2002 Oct;32(2):321–5.
- 25.Orloff M, Peterson C, He X, Ganapathi S, Heald B, Yang Y ran, et al. Germline Mutations in MSR1, ASCC1, and CTHRC1 in Patients With Barrett Esophagus and Esophageal Adenocarcinoma. JAMA. 2011 Jul 27;306(4):410–9.
- 26.Wen WX, Soo JSS, Kwan PY, Hong E, Khang TF, Mariapun S, et al. Germline APOBEC3B deletion is associated with breast cancer risk in an Asian multi-ethnic cohort and with immune cell presentation. Breast Cancer Res. 2016;18:56.
- 27.Vega-Stromberg T. Chemotherapy-induced Secondary Malignancies. Journal of Infusion Nursing. 2003 Dec;26(6):353.
- 28.Freire Chadrina M, Martin M, Segers K, Sepulchre. Coinheritance of pathogenic variants in ATM and BRCA2 in families with multiple cancers: a case series [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Feb 23]. Available from: https://www.researchsquare.com
- 29.Vietri MT, Caliendo G, D'Elia G, Resse M, Casamassimi A, Minucci PB, et al. Five Italian Families with Two Mutations in BRCA Genes. Genes (Basel). 2020 Dec 3;11(12):1451.
- 30.Huang W, Bian J, Qian X, Shao L, Li H, Zhang L, et al. Case Report: Coinheritance of Germline Mutations in APC and BRCA1 in Colorectal Cancer. Front Oncol. 2021 Mar 25;11:658389.
- 31.Borde J, Ernst C, Wappenschmidt B, Niederacher D, Weber-Lassalle K, Schmidt G, et al. Performance of Breast Cancer Polygenic Risk Scores in 760 Female CHEK2 Germline Mutation Carriers. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2020 Dec 29;113(7):893–9.
- 32.Potorac I, Laterre M, Malaise O, Nechifor V, Fasquelle C, Colleye O, et al. The Role of MCM9 in the Etiology of Sertoli Cell-Only Syndrome and Premature Ovarian Insufficiency. Journal of Clinical Medicine. 2023 Jan;12(3):99

General Discussion

Genetic counseling for cancer patients presents numerous challenges, particularly with the rapid advancements in genomic technologies. This project sought to understand how novel genetic findings from NGS could enhance our knowledge of cancer predisposition and improve patient management. With the shift from single-gene testing to more comprehensive methods such as panel sequencing, WES, and WGS, testing became more affordable and faster. Our primary goal was to investigate patients with MPCs and to evaluate the role of monogenic or oligogenic predisposition in these patients. This led to observation about rare cancers in monogenic conditions, such as CRCs linked with BRCA1 pathogenic variants, the evaluation of tumor risks associated with digenic inheritance involving known CPGs, and uncovering novel genetic mechanisms in patients with MPCs diagnosed before age 45. The methodology involved selecting cancer patients based on specific inclusion criteria, collecting clinical and genetic data from medical charts, and performing both germline and somatic DNA evaluations using various genomic techniques.

Key findings from this study underscore the significance of *BRCA1* germline pathogenic variants in the development of CRC through HRD, advocating for *BRCA1* testing in young patients with microsatellite stable CRC to enable personalized treatment with PARPi. Additionally, the early onset and multiplicity of cancers in double-heterozygous patients with PVs in HR-related CPGs highlight a substantial cancer risk. This necessitates comprehensive cascade testing in families with identified PVs in CPGs, considering the evaluation of additional CPGs in patients exhibiting specific phenotypes. The data also suggest that the presence of multiple germline variants significantly increases cancer risk. Collectively, these results advocate for broader genetic investigations beyond single-gene studies in patients or families with early or MPCs, employing techniques such as NGS and optical genome mapping to detect SNVs, CNVs, and chromosomal rearrangements.

In a recent study, in individuals with a broad spectrum of non–breast or ovarian malignancies and germline pathogenic variants in BRCA1 and BRCA2, BRCA1/2 deficiency and genomic instability features were found in 27% and 23% of patients, respectively. These malignancies had a higher genomic instability score than BRCA1- or BRCA2-proficient malignancies (P < 0.001 in both cases) . In tumors with a confirmed absence of a wild-type allele, the effectiveness of PARPi should be evaluated (353).

111

The population frequency of the PVs in certain genes can play a role in their identification in rare cancers and digenic inheritance. In a cancer patient cohort, germline PVs in certain genes, primarily associated with breast cancer and other common cancers, such as *BRCA2*, *ATM*, and *PALB2*, were found in a broad range of patients with rare tumors (309). On the other hand, in another study double hits were particularly frequent in the *TP53* and *FA/BRCA* pathways. However, it is not clear yet to what extent such functional perturbations of key cancer pathways by at least two co-inherited heterozygous digenic mutations are translated into the clinics (354).

BRCA1 germline variants can be involved in CRC development through HRD

Evidence linking *BRCA1* germline pathogenic variants to an increased risk of CRC is limited. Two large studies indicate that *BRCA1* variants may confer a fivefold increased risk for CRC, especially in young, high-risk patients (355,356). Among three recent meta-analyses, only one identified an increased CRC risk with *BRCA1* variants (odds ratio = 1.49, 95% CI = 1.19 to 1.85, P < 0.001) (121), while the other two did not (357,358). Another study suggested that *BRCA1* or *BRCA2* variant carriers, mostly of Ashkenazi ancestry, might be prone to anal carcinoma and left-sided mucinous CRC (359). A large study found that men with *BRCA1* variants had a slightly higher risk of CRC compared to those with *BRCA2* variants, suggesting a potential increased risk (360).

The presence of *BRCA1* germline variants in tumors was confirmed in our study and HRD signatures like those in ovarian cancers with BRCA variants were found. This indicated that *BRCA1* variants may drive CRC development or progression in some cases, making these patients potential candidates for PARPi. Clinical trials have demonstrated the efficacy of PARPi and platinum-based chemotherapy in BRCAmutated and HRD-positive cancers (361).

Double heterozygous patients with PVs in HRD-related CPGs have a very high risk of cancer

PVs in *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, *CHEK2*, and *ATM* significantly elevate the lifetime risk of breast cancer. There is limited epidemiological data on breast cancer risk in individuals with PVs in two genes. However, this study and others suggest an increased risk of early-onset and metastatic breast cancer in such cases (362,363).

BRCA1, *BRCA2*, and *ATM* variant carriers also face higher risks of other cancers. *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* PVs are linked to elevated risks of prostate, pancreatic, and ovarian cancers, while *ATM* variants are associated with increased risks of pancreatic (OR 4.21), prostate (OR 2.58), and gastric (OR 2.97) cancers (364,365). This study suggests that the combination of *BRCA2* and *ATM* PVs might further heighten these risks, as seen in the two male patients with early-onset prostate cancer. Pancreatic cancer risks for *BRCA1* and *BRCA2* carriers are reported to be 1.16% and 4.1% by age 70, respectively (365). Given the interaction of *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, and *ATM* proteins in the HR pathway, an additive effect on HR deficiency—and consequently, an increased pancreatic cancer risk—could be expected. This was observed in several of the patients, raising the question of additional monitoring for young breast cancer patients with these PVs.

Double heterozygous PVs may go unnoticed in clinical settings when each PV is inherited from a clinically unaffected parent. However, it remains uncertain to what extent this phenomenon could initiate or alter malignant transformation. The likelihood of such events occurring randomly depends heavily on the mutation frequency within the population and may vary among different populations and genes (306).

The present findings indicate that patients with PVs in *BRCA2* and another HR gene should be closely monitored for breast, pancreatic, and prostate cancers. Despite the rarity of double heterozygotes, as genetic testing becomes more comprehensive, the detection of multiple PVs will likely increase.

Moreover, when a single PV in a CPG is identified in a family, geneticists propose a cascade testing, searching for this single PV, starting with the index case first degree relatives. Our study indicates that, in case of very precocious or unexpected cancers, the possibility of another variant should be considered and investigated.

The simultaneous presence of multiple germline variants can confer a significant cancer risk

In the study of patients with MPCs, only two out of ten individuals were found to have clearly pathogenic SNVs. This aligns with previous research, which identified undetected germline PVs in 15.2% of MPC cases via WGS and found pathogenic variants in 21% of MPC patients in another study (366,367). Most patients exhibited several VUS, suggesting the hypothesis of an oligogenic effect, where combinations of low-penetrance SNVs in cancer-related genes may collectively cause disease. It remains unclear whether these VUS represent hypomorphic mutations with potential additive effects or merely benign

variants. Functional studies are required to clarify this distinction; however, conducting such studies is particularly challenging in the case of hypomorphic mutations.

The mapping of the identified variants into cancer-related pathways suggested that multiple genetic factors influencing a few biochemical mechanisms might influence cancer risk. Despite identifying various SNVs and CNVs, some patients showed no detectable genetic variants, suggesting potential roles for non-coding mutations, epigenetic, or environmental factors. This study highlights the importance of comprehensive genetic testing and of further research into the combined effects of multiple germline variants, their functional impacts, and the roles of genetic and epigenetic events in cancer susceptibility.

Genetic cancer predisposition is a spectrum

Genetic cancer predisposition can be conceptualized as a continuous spectrum, beginning with PRS and progressing through oligogenic, digenic, and monogenic inheritance patterns (See Figure 15). At the broadest end of this spectrum, PRS involves the contribution of hundreds or even thousands of genetic variants. Each variant typically has a relatively high allele frequency but exerts minimal individual effect on cancer risk. Collectively, however, these variants can significantly elevate an individual's susceptibility to cancer.

Among the common low penetrance variants implicated by WES in the risk of several cancer types are 5p15 (*TERT-CLPTM1L*) (368), 6p21 (*HLA*) (369,370), 8q24 (371), and other loci. Various studies have investigated pleiotropy in these regions and characterized cross-cancer susceptibility variants (372,373). The rare pleiotropic variant HOXB13 G84E has been described as more strongly associated with MPC risk development than with single cancer risk (374). Multiple studies have demonstrated that PRS can generate informative predictions for heritable traits and diseases (375), however, there is not any "universal" PRS for any cancer risk prediction.

Moving along the spectrum, we encounter oligogenic inheritance, which generally includes 3 to 20 genetic loci combinations. The allele frequencies of these loci can vary widely, and they typically have moderate effect sizes. These genetic loci may interact in different ways, such as a dominant gene being modified by other loci, or multiple genes having additive effects on the same pathway (303).

Further along the continuum is digenic inheritance, where an individual carries two low-frequency variants with high effect sizes. These variants are in two distinct CPGs. The interaction of these two variants substantially increases the risk or severity of cancer compared to any single variant alone.

At the opposite end of the spectrum is monogenic inheritance. Here, the predisposition to cancer is driven by highly uncommon variants with very high effect sizes in a single CPG. These variants are strong enough to predispose an individual to developing a tumor or a specific combination of tumors. However, it is important to note that some patients might develop cancer types that are atypical for the particular gene involved, suggesting a complex interplay of genetic and environmental factors.

This continuous spectrum model underscores the multifaceted nature of genetic cancer predisposition, ranging from the subtle influences of numerous common variants to the profound impacts of rare, high-effect mutations. Moreover, the combination of PVs and PRS can have an even higher effect on the MPC risk than any of those factors separately. The cancer predisposition spectrum also highlights the importance of considering the entire genetic landscape when assessing cancer risk, rather than focusing solely on single genes or variants.

Genetic counseling for multiple primary cancers

Individuals with hereditary cancer syndromes often face an elevated risk of developing cancer at a young age and may be susceptible to more than one type of cancer. An estimated 5–10% of all cancers are hereditary, and about 20% of primary care patients have family histories indicating a higher risk of developing a hereditary cancer (376–379).

To address these risks, both the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) and the American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG) have developed sets of hereditary cancer clinical practice guidelines. These guidelines based on family history were designed to aid medical professionals in assessing hereditary cancer risks (57,380).

The NCCN and ACMG guidelines share overlapping criteria, but there are key differences between them. One major distinction is that the NCCN guidelines are continuously updated, whereas the ACMG guidelines have not been revised since their publication in 2015. Additionally, the ACMG guidelines include criteria for several cancers that are not covered by the NCCN guidelines. These differences present both strengths and weaknesses in the effectiveness of identifying patients at risk. Frequent updates to the NCCN guidelines ensure that the criteria remain current, while the ACMG guidelines may identify at-risk patients for cancers not addressed by the NCCN (381). However, a significant gap exists in clinical guidelines for patients and families dealing with MPCs.

Efforts to improve hereditary cancer risk assessment have included reinterpreting the phenotypic spectra of well-characterized hereditary cancer predisposition syndromes (382–384), defining high and moderate cancer risk genes through case-control studies (385–387) and pedigree analysis (388), and using WES/WGS to discover novel genes (389,390). As a result, genetic testing guidelines now include multigene panel testing for hereditary cancer in clinical practice.

For instance, the NCCN Guidelines provide information on cancer risks and management recommendations for various genes included in multigene panel tests. Despite significant progress in understanding the clinical relevance and implications of multiple CPGs, testing criteria remain largely limited to those associated with historically established cancer syndromes, such as *BRCA1/2*, *TP53*, and mismatch repair genes (380). Precision oncology studies on patients with common cancers have shown that these restrictive criteria result in about half of the patients with LP/P germline variants remaining undiagnosed (391–393).

Clinician preference for broader panels of genes is increasing, even though explicit testing criteria for genes recently associated with cancer risk and cancers falling outside the traditional phenotypic spectra for established hereditary syndromes are lacking (391). This is particularly relevant for patients with MPCs, who can fall outside the phenotypic spectra of established hereditary syndromes. The guideline gap necessitates clinicians to rely on empirical data and personal judgment when counseling these patients. The absence of specific genetic counseling guidelines for MPCs highlights the need for ongoing research and updates to ensure comprehensive risk assessment and management of these patients.

Limitations and future directions

Sample size

The main common limitations of the three studies were the recruitment bias and the small number of individuals. Even though approximately 5–10% of cancers are hereditary, these studies included very specific and rare populations — patients with uncommon tumor-gene associations, double heterozygous mutations, and individuals with MPCs without P/LP variants in common cancer predisposition genes. The limited number of patients caused a lack of data to make meaningful

comparisons, and these limitations highlighted the need for more studies with larger and more diverse populations to draw definitive conclusions and develop effective screening and treatment strategies.

Segregation evaluation

Another common limitation was the inability to evaluate the segregation of the identified variants in all the patients, due to limited access to the genetic material of the proband 's relatives. Assessing the family allows the determination of inheritance patterns and the potential for recurrence risk among other relatives. Utilizing a progenitor-proband (trio) approach is essential because parents may appear clinically unaffected due to factors like phenotypic variability, incomplete penetrance, gender-specific cancer risks, and environmental exposures. Furthermore, recognizing familial predispositions provides the chance for early cancer surveillance in at-risk relatives (306).

Functional validation of variants of unknown significance

The studies on uncommon tumor-gene association and digenic inheritance included patients with P/LP variants, whereas the multiple cancer study did not. Following the evaluation of MPCs patients, the high number of identified VUS posed challenges in correlating these VUS with the disease. Since no VUS was common among MPCs, the functional validation of the variants was not justified. However, future functional studies could potentially help to link VUS to MPCs. The identified VUS that could explain the patient ´s phenotype, without a functional validation, cannot be used for genetic counseling and family predictive testing.

Availability of somatic samples

Another significant limitation was the limited availability of tumor samples from the patients. Understanding the impact of germline PVs in CPGs requires distinguishing between their causal role in cancer development and their coincidental presence. A thorough analysis of individual tumors along with germline sequencing should be performed to make this distinction. Key steps include identifying a second hit such as somatic mutation, LOH, or epigenetic silencing, leading to biallelic inactivation of the gene harboring the germline PV; assessing tumor characteristics such as HRD, MSI, and tumor mutational burden; and analyzing somatic mutation patterns using mutational signatures, among other methodologies (354). These comprehensive analyses are essential for elucidating the precise role of germline PVs in tumorigenesis. However, they are limited if the tumor samples are not available.

Treatment evaluation

The studies did not address the patients' treatment strategies because of an insufficient sample size to draw meaningful conclusions, and the studies' focus on genetic analysis rather than treatment approaches.

Concluding remarks

In conclusion, this project highlights the importance of comprehensive genetic testing in understanding and managing cancer risks. Key findings show the significance of *BRCA1* variants in CRC, the higher cancer risk in double heterozygous patients with HR-related gene mutations, and the additive effect that multiple germline variants can have. These results suggest that integrating advanced genomic techniques into clinical practice can detect a broad spectrum of genetic anomalies. Despite limitations such as small sample sizes and recruitment bias, the study emphasizes the need for larger, more diverse research to improve cancer risk assessment and personalized treatments. Ultimately, the evolving genetic counseling guidelines must adapt to encompass the full spectrum of genetic predisposition, ensuring comprehensive risk assessment and management for individuals with hereditary cancer syndromes.

Perspectives

Sample size

The sample size was the main limitation in all the studies. Including a larger population through international cooperation in future research could enable more definitive conclusions and the development of effective screening and treatment strategies for cancer patients.

Variants of unknown significance

Correlating VUS with disease is a challenge that requires functional studies to reclassify these variants into the LP/P or benign/likely benign category. While nonsense variants are typically considered pathogenic, the significance of frequent missense variants may often be unclear, potentially occurring by chance in cancer pathways containing numerous genes. For example, the Exome Aggregation Consortium (ExAC) database includes a substantial number of missense variants in key *FA/BRCA* pathway genes—567 in *BRCA1*, 1186 in *BRCA2*, 46 in *RAD51*, and 385 in *PALB2*—detected among 60,000 healthy individuals. Interestingly, some missense variants may even exert more harmful effects than truncating variants, particularly if they produce an additional dominant-negative effect (394). Therefore, rigorous functional validation of the identified variants is essential but presents significant challenges in clinical practice, especially since not all changes in protein function result in complex clinical conditions (306).

The development of databases containing functional analyses of variants in genes associated with cancer pathways is expected to address this issue in the future. A notable example of ongoing efforts in this field is the Evidence-based Network for the Interpretation of Germline Mutant Alleles (ENIGMA) consortium, an international collaboration of researchers focused on evaluating the clinical significance of sequence variants in genes such as *BRCA1*, *BRCA2*, and other known or suspected breast and ovarian cancer predisposition genes. Through its contributions to global database and classification initiatives, ENIGMA provides expert insights and explores effective strategies for communicating this critical information to both healthcare providers and patients (395).

Over time, it is essential to reevaluate the VUS identified in the patients because new information is continually published, and some VUS may be reclassified into benign or pathogenic categories.

119

Negative test results

In the MPC cohort, there were patients without any identified germline variant. The possible explanations include the limitation of the current analysis methods (CMA and WES). These might be addressed by using other techniques, such as WGS, for future patient evaluation. Additionally, other pathogenic mechanisms should be considered, including an evaluation of epigenetics, regulatory elements, non-coding regions, and microRNAs. Negative genetic tests should also be reanalyzed every few years because new genes are constantly being associated with disease and variants reclassified.

Absence of identified somatic second hits

The MPC study evaluated both germline and somatic DNA. In the pathogenesis of hereditary cancer predisposition LOH or a second somatic hit are expected. However, no second hits were observed in the somatic samples from the cohort. Epigenetic silencing of the wild-type allele in the tumor has been described as a second hit. This opens the possibility of evaluating in the future the tumoral epigenetics.

Future patient evaluation strategies

Technological advancements should be leveraged to capture the full spectrum of genetic events associated with cancer. Combining NGS with optical genome mapping and other advanced techniques can detect SNVs, CNVs, and chromosomal rearrangements, including gene fusions. This comprehensive approach will enhance our understanding of the genetic underpinnings of cancer.

Furthermore, exploring the interplay between genetic and epigenetic events is crucial. Future studies should investigate how epigenetic modifications contribute to cancer development and progression, alongside genetic mutations. Understanding these interactions may reveal new therapeutic targets and strategies for cancer prevention.

Functional genetics evaluation in oligogenic inheritance

Addressing the observed variants' cumulative effects through robust functional studies will be essential. Such research could provide insights into the combined impact of multiple genetic alterations, paving the way for more personalized and effective treatment options for cancer patients. By addressing these future perspectives, the field can move towards more comprehensive and accurate cancer genetics research, ultimately improving patient outcomes.

120

Treatment perspectives

The digenic and oligogenic inheritance of PVs in the same pathway holds significant clinical implications for the patients and their families, including early diagnosis, cancer risk assessment, and surveillance. In the era of advancing precision medicine, which encompasses early tumor detection, immunoprevention, and innovative approaches such as analyzing circulating cell-free DNA, molecular markers for premalignant lesions, and deep sequencing for clonal hematopoiesis, these considerations are particularly relevant (396). Recent years have witnessed the approval of new FDA drugs and vaccines for cancer prevention, alongside the development of combinatorial chemopreventive strategies. These advancements suggest future opportunities for enhanced cancer prevention and detection methods, including surveillance programs (306).

Potential of polygenic risk scores

PRS have potential implications for improving the understanding of the shared mechanisms of carcinogenesis. With further replication, they may also enable prevention (e.g., smoking cessation) and screening strategies that prioritize individuals at risk for developing additional cancers (102). Accurate population-calibrated estimates of lifetime risks are needed for incorporation of PRS into risk-based screening. In patients with tumors of suspected genetic origin and without PVs that could explain the disease, PRS could potentially explain the observed phenotype.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this project aimed to explore how the use of NGS could deepen our understanding of cancer predisposition and enhance patient care. The objectives included clarifying the role of *BRCA1* in CRC, assessing tumor risks linked to digenic inheritance involving known CPGs, and uncovering new genetic mechanisms in patients with MPCs diagnosed before age 45. The methodology involved selecting cancer patients based on specific inclusion criteria, gathering clinical and genetic data from medical records, and conducting both germline and somatic DNA analyses using various genomic techniques.

Key findings from this study emphasize the importance of *BRCA1* germline pathogenic variants in the development of CRC through HRD. This supports *BRCA1* testing in young patients with microsatellite stable CRC to enable personalized treatment with PARPi. Additionally, the early onset and multiplicity of cancers in double-heterozygous patients with PVs in HR-related CPGs indicate a significant cancer risk. In families with identified PVs in CPGs comprehensive cascade testing is needed, and additional CPGs should be considered in patients with specific phenotypes. The data also showed that the presence of multiple germline variants significantly increased cancer risk. Collectively, these results advocated for broader genetic investigations beyond single-gene studies in patients or families with early-onset or MPCs, using techniques like NGS and optical genome mapping to detect SNVs, CNVs, and chromosomal rearrangements.

The clinical conclusions applicable for patient management included:

- BRCA1 testing should be considered in young patients with a personal history of microsatellite stable CRC
- When a CPG PV is identified in a family, additionally to the usual cascade testing, we should also consider a study of other CPGs in patients with specific phenotypes, even distinct from other relatives, either based on the age at diagnosis or the type of cancer
- Investigations should not be limited to single gene studies in patients or families with multiple and/or early cancers

References

- Wild C, Weiderpass E, Stewart B. World Cancer Report: Cancer Research for Cancer Prevention [Internet]. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2020. Available from: http://publications.iarc.fr/586
- 2. American Cancer Society. American Cancer Society. [cited 2023 Feb 28]. Cancer Facts & Figures 2009 | Special section Multiple Primary Cancers. Available from: https://www.cancer.org/research/cancer-facts-statistics/all-cancer-facts-figures/cancer-factsfigures-2009.html
- 3. Almasan I, Piciu D. Triple Primary Malignancies: Tumor Associations, Survival, and Clinicopathological Analysis: A 25-Year Single-Institution Experience. Healthcare (Basel). 2023 Mar 2;11(5):738.
- 4. Campbell LV Jr, Watne AL. Multiple Primary Malignant Neoplasms. Archives of Surgery. 1969 Sep 1;99(3):401–5.
- 5. Billroth T. Die allgemeine chirurgische pathologie und therapie. G. Reimer; 1889.
- 6. Moertel CG. Multiple primary malignant neoplasms. Historical perspectives [Internet]. Vol. 40, Cancer. 1977. p. 1786–92. Available from: https://acsjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/1097-0142%28197710%2940%3A4%2B%3C1786%3A%3AAID-CNCR2820400803%3E3.0.CO%3B2-2
- 7. Warren S, Gates O. Multiple primary malignant tumors: A survey of the literature and a statistical study. Am J Cancer. 1932;16:1358–414.
- Dickie L, Johnson CH, Adams S, Negoita S. Solid Tumor Rules [Internet]. Rockville: National Cancer Institute; 2023 Dec. Report No.: MD 20850. Available from: https://seer.cancer.gov/tools/solidtumor/2024/STM_Combined.pdf
- 9. Working group report. International rules for multiple primary cancers (ICD-0 third edition). European Journal of Cancer Prevention. 2005 Aug;14(4):307.
- Allemani C, Matsuda T, Di Carlo V, Harewood R, Matz M, Nikšić M, et al. Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival: analysis of individual records for 37,513,025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers during 2000–2014 from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries (CONCORD-3). Lancet. 2018 Mar 17;391(10125):1023–75.
- 11. Wood ME, Vogel V, Ng A, Foxhall L, Goodwin P, Travis LB. Second Malignant Neoplasms: Assessment and Strategies for Risk Reduction. JCO. 2012 Oct 20;30(30):3734–45.
- 12. Coyte A, Morrison DS, McLoone P. Second primary cancer risk the impact of applying different definitions of multiple primaries: results from a retrospective population-based cancer registry study. BMC Cancer. 2014 Apr 18;14:272.
- 13. Rosso S, De Angelis R, Ciccolallo L, Carrani E, Soerjomataram I, Grande E, et al. Multiple tumours in survival estimates. European Journal of Cancer. 2009 Apr 1;45(6):1080–94.

- 14. Weir HK, Johnson CJ, Thompson TD. The effect of multiple primary rules on population-based cancer survival. Cancer Causes Control. 2013 Jun 1;24(6):1231–42.
- 15. Buiatti E, Crocetti E, Acciai S, Gafà L, Falcini F, Milandri C, et al. Incidence of second primary cancers in three Italian population-based cancer registries. European Journal of Cancer. 1997 Oct 1;33(11):1829–34.
- Amer MH. Multiple neoplasms, single primaries, and patient survival. CMAR. 2014 Mar 5;6:119– 34.
- Macq G, Silversmit G, Verdoodt F, Van Eycken L. The epidemiology of multiple primary cancers in Belgium (2004–2017): Incidence, proportion, risk, stage and impact on relative survival estimates. BMC Cancer. 2023 Apr 17;23:349.
- Travis LB, Rabkin CS, Brown LM, Allan JM, Alter BP, Ambrosone CB, et al. Cancer Survivorship— Genetic Susceptibility and Second Primary Cancers: Research Strategies and Recommendations. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2006 Jan 4;98(1):15–25.
- 19. Li Y, Hecht SS. Carcinogenic Components of Tobacco and Tobacco Smoke: A 2022 Update. Food Chem Toxicol. 2022 Jul;165:113179.
- 20. Curtius K, Wright NA, Graham TA. An evolutionary perspective on field cancerization. Nat Rev Cancer. 2018 Jan;18(1):19–32.
- 21. Romaszko-Wojtowicz A, Buciński A, Doboszyńska A. Impact of smoking on multiple primary cancers survival: a retrospective analysis. Clin Exp Med. 2018 Aug 1;18(3):391–7.
- 22. Okeke F, Nriagu VC, Nwaneki CM, Magacha HM, Omenuko NJ, Anazor S. Factors That Determine Multiple Primary Cancers in the Adult Population in the United States. Cureus. 15(9):e44993.
- Soerjomataram I, Coebergh JW. Epidemiology of Multiple Primary Cancers. In: Verma M, editor. Cancer Epidemiology [Internet]. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2009 [cited 2024 Jan 30]. p. 85–105. (Methods in Molecular Biology). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-59745-416-2_5
- 24. Pflaum T, Hausler T, Baumung C, Ackermann S, Kuballa T, Rehm J, et al. Carcinogenic compounds in alcoholic beverages: an update. Arch Toxicol. 2016 Oct 1;90(10):2349–67.
- 25. Soerjomataram I, Shield K, Marant-Micallef C, Vignat J, Hill C, Rogel A, et al. Cancers related to lifestyle and environmental factors in France in 2015. European Journal of Cancer. 2018 Dec 1;105:103–13.
- Pandeya N, Wilson LF, Webb PM, Neale RE, Bain CJ, Whiteman DC. Cancers in Australia in 2010 attributable to the consumption of alcohol. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 2015 Oct 1;39(5):408–13.
- 27. Parkin DM. 3. Cancers attributable to consumption of alcohol in the UK in 2010. Br J Cancer. 2011 Dec;105(2):S14–8.
- 28. Vogt A, Schmid S, Heinimann K, Frick H, Herrmann C, Cerny T, et al. Multiple primary tumours: challenges and approaches, a review. ESMO Open. 2017 May 2;2(2):e000172.
- 29. Morton LM, Onel K, Curtis RE, Hungate EA, Armstrong GT. The Rising Incidence of Second Cancers: Patterns of Occurrence and Identification of Risk Factors for Children and Adults. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. 2014 May 30;(34):e57–67.

- 30. Inskip PD, Curtis RE. New malignancies following childhood cancer in the United States, 1973–2002. International Journal of Cancer. 2007;121(10):2233–40.
- 31. Chitwood H, Carey T. Managing the Patient With Multiple Primary Tumors. J Adv Pract Oncol. 2023 Apr;14(3):218–21.
- 32. Ishimori T, Patel PV, Wahl RL. Detection of Unexpected Additional Primary Malignancies with PET/CT. Journal of Nuclear Medicine. 2005 May 1;46(5):752–7.
- Miyazaki T, Sohda M, Higuchi T, Tanaka N, Suzuki S, Sakai M, et al. Effectiveness of FDG-PET in Screening of Synchronous Cancer of Other Organs in Patients with Esophageal Cancer. Anticancer Research. 2014 Jan 1;34(1):283–7.
- 34. Daly MB, Pilarski R, Yurgelun MB, Berry MP, Buys SS, Dickson P, et al. NCCN Guidelines Insights: Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast, Ovarian, and Pancreatic, Version 1.2020: Featured Updates to the NCCN Guidelines. Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network. 2020 Apr 1;18(4):380–91.
- National Cancer Institute. Genetic Testing Fact Sheet NCI [Internet]. 2024 [cited 2024 Jun 17]. Available from: https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-prevention/genetics/genetictesting-fact-sheet
- 36. Banks KC, Moline JJ, Marvin ML, Newlin AC, Vogel KJ. 10 rare tumors that warrant a genetics referral. Familial Cancer. 2013 Mar 1;12(1):1–18.
- 37. Wray NR, Goddard ME, Visscher PM. Prediction of individual genetic risk to disease from genomewide association studies. Genome Res. 2007 Oct;17(10):1520–8.
- 38. Singh DN, Daripelli S, Elamin Bushara MO, Polevoy GG, Prasanna M. Genetic Testing for Successful Cancer Treatment. Cureus. 15(12):e49889.
- 39. Hall MJ, Forman AD, Pilarski R, Wiesner G, Giri VN. Gene Panel Testing for Inherited Cancer Risk. Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network. 2014 Sep 1;12(9):1339–46.
- 40. Hall MJ, Obeid E, Daly MB. Multigene Panels to Evaluate Hereditary Cancer Risk: Reckless or Relevant? JCO. 2016 Dec;34(34):4186–7.
- 41. Manchanda R, Patel S, Gordeev VS, Antoniou AC, Smith S, Lee A, et al. Cost-effectiveness of Population-Based BRCA1, BRCA2, RAD51C, RAD51D, BRIP1, PALB2 Mutation Testing in Unselected General Population Women. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2018 Jul 1;110(7):714–25.
- 42. Cybulski C, Nazarali S, Narod SA. Multiple primary cancers as a guide to heritability. International Journal of Cancer. 2014;135(8):1756–63.
- 43. Balciuniene J, Ning Y, Lazarus HM, Aikawa V, Sherpa S, Zhang Y, et al. Cancer cytogenetics in a genomics world: Wedding the old with the new. Blood Reviews. 2024 Jul 1;66:101209.
- 44. Campen DJ van. GeNotes. [cited 2025 Jan 6]. Karyotype Knowledge Hub. Available from: https://www.genomicseducation.hee.nhs.uk/genotes/knowledge-hub/karyotype/
- 45. Ozkan E, Lacerda MP. Genetics, Cytogenetic Testing And Conventional Karyotype [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL); 2023. Available from: http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/33085440

- 46. Church AJ, Akkari Y, Deeb K, Kolhe R, Lin F, Spiteri E, et al. Section E6.7-6.12 of the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) Technical Laboratory Standards: Cytogenomic studies of acquired chromosomal abnormalities in solid tumors. Genetics in Medicine. 2024 Apr 1;26(4):101070.
- 47. Dremsek P, Schwarz T, Weil B, Malashka A, Laccone F, Neesen J. Optical Genome Mapping in Routine Human Genetic Diagnostics—Its Advantages and Limitations. Genes (Basel). 2021 Dec 8;12(12):1958.
- 48. Campen DAF Dr Julia van. GeNotes. [cited 2025 Jan 6]. Microarray (array CGH) Knowledge Hub. Available from: https://www.genomicseducation.hee.nhs.uk/genotes/knowledgehub/microarray-array-cgh/
- 49. Maxam AM, Gilbert W. Sequencing end-labeled DNA with base-specific chemical cleavages. Methods Enzymol. 1980;65(1):499–560.
- 50. Sanger F, Coulson AR. A rapid method for determining sequences in DNA by primed synthesis with DNA polymerase. Journal of Molecular Biology. 1975 May 25;94(3):441–8.
- 51. Drmanac R, Drmanac S, Chui G, Diaz R, Hou A, Jin H, et al. Sequencing by hybridization (SBH): advantages, achievements, and opportunities. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol. 2002;77:75–101.
- 52. Pereira DM, Fernandes JC, Valentão P, Andrade PB. Chapter 2.1.2 "Omics" Technologies: Promises and Benefits for Molecular Medicine. In: Wehling M, editor. Principles of Translational Science in Medicine (Second Edition) [Internet]. Boston: Academic Press; 2015 [cited 2025 Jan 6].
 p. 25–39. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128006870000037
- 53. Hook PW, Timp W. Beyond assembly: the increasing flexibility of single-molecule sequencing technology. Nat Rev Genet. 2023 Sep;24(9):627–41.
- 54. Svrcek M, Lascols O, Cohen R, Collura A, Jonchère V, Fléjou JF, et al. MSI/MMR-deficient tumor diagnosis: Which standard for screening and for diagnosis? Diagnostic modalities for the colon and other sites: Differences between tumors. Bulletin du Cancer. 2019 Feb 1;106(2):119–28.
- 55. Engert S, Wappenschmidt B, Betz B, Kast K, Kutsche M, Hellebrand H, et al. MLPA screening in the BRCA1 gene from 1,506 German hereditary breast cancer cases: novel deletions, frequent involvement of exon 17, and occurrence in single early-onset cases. Human Mutation. 2008;29(7):948–58.
- 56. Campen DAF Dr Julia van. GeNotes. [cited 2025 Jan 6]. Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA) — Knowledge Hub. Available from: https://www.genomicseducation.hee.nhs.uk/genotes/knowledge-hub/multiplex-ligationdependent-probe-amplification-mlpa/
- 57. Hampel H, Bennett RL, Buchanan A, Pearlman R, Wiesner GL. A practice guideline from the American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics and the National Society of Genetic Counselors: referral indications for cancer predisposition assessment. Genetics in Medicine. 2015 Jan;17(1):70–87.
- 58. Valles GJ, Bezsonova I, Woodgate R, Ashton NW. USP7 Is a Master Regulator of Genome Stability. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2020 Aug 5;8:717.

- 59. Basu AK. DNA Damage, Mutagenesis and Cancer. Int J Mol Sci. 2018 Mar 23;19(4):970.
- 60. Huang R, Zhou PK. DNA damage repair: historical perspectives, mechanistic pathways and clinical translation for targeted cancer therapy. Sig Transduct Target Ther. 2021 Jul 9;6(1):1–35.
- 61. Tubbs A, Nussenzweig A. Endogenous DNA Damage as a Source of Genomic Instability in Cancer. Cell. 2017 Feb 9;168(4):644–56.
- 62. Chakarov S, Petkova R, Russev GC, Zhelev N. DNA damage and mutation. Types of DNA damage. BioDiscovery. 2014 Feb 23;11:e8957.
- 63. Chatterjee N, Walker GC. Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair and mutagenesis. Environ Mol Mutagen. 2017 Jun;58(5):235–63.
- 64. Bérubé R, Drigeard Desgarnier MC, Douki T, Lechasseur A, Rochette PJ. Persistence and Tolerance of DNA Damage Induced by Chronic UVB Irradiation of the Human Genome. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2018 Feb 1;138(2):405–12.
- 65. Cadet J, Douki T. Oxidatively Generated Damage to DNA by UVA Radiation in Cells and Human Skin. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2011 May 1;131(5):1005–7.
- 66. Lindahl T, Barnes DE. Repair of Endogenous DNA Damage. Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology. 2000 Jan 1;65(0):127–34.
- 67. Kelley MR, Fishel ML. DNA Repair in Cancer Therapy: Molecular Targets and Clinical Applications. Academic Press; 2016. 466 p.
- 68. Eker APM, Quayle C, Chaves I, van der Horst GTJ. DNA Repair in Mammalian Cells. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009 Jan 21;66(6):968–80.
- 69. Yi C, He C. DNA Repair by Reversal of DNA Damage. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2013 Jan;5(1):a012575.
- 70. Gutierrez R, O'Connor TR. DNA direct reversal repair and alkylating agent drug resistance. Cancer Drug Resist. 2021 Jun 19;4(2):414–23.
- 71. Hakem R. DNA-damage repair; the good, the bad, and the ugly. EMBO J. 2008 Feb 20;27(4):589– 605.
- 72. Sedgwick B, Bates PA, Paik J, Jacobs SC, Lindahl T. Repair of alkylated DNA: Recent advances. DNA Repair. 2007 Apr 1;6(4):429–42.
- 73. Kavli B, Otterlei M, Slupphaug G, Krokan HE. Uracil in DNA—General mutagen, but normal intermediate in acquired immunity. DNA Repair. 2007 Apr 1;6(4):505–16.
- 74. Robertson AB, Klungland A, Rognes T, Leiros I. DNA Repair in Mammalian Cells. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009 Jan 21;66(6):981–93.
- Cabelof DC, Raffoul JJ, Yanamadala S, Guo Z, Heydari AR. Induction of DNA polymerase βdependent base excision repair in response to oxidative stress in vivo. Carcinogenesis. 2002 Sep 1;23(9):1419–25.
- 76. Krokan HE, Bjørås M. Base Excision Repair. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2013 Apr;5(4):a012583.
- 77. Carusillo A, Mussolino C. DNA Damage: From Threat to Treatment. Cells. 2020 Jul 10;9(7):1665.

- 78. Schärer OD. Nucleotide Excision Repair in Eukaryotes. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2013 Oct;5(10):a012609.
- 79. van der Horst GTJ, Meira L, Gorgels TGMF, de Wit J, Velasco-Miguel S, Richardson JA, et al. UVB radiation-induced cancer predisposition in Cockayne syndrome group A (*Csa*) mutant mice. DNA Repair. 2002 Feb 28;1(2):143–57.
- 80. Lieber MR. The Mechanism of Double-Strand DNA Break Repair by the Nonhomologous DNA End Joining Pathway. Annu Rev Biochem. 2010;79:181–211.
- Schipler A, Iliakis G. DNA double-strand–break complexity levels and their possible contributions to the probability for error-prone processing and repair pathway choice. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013 Sep;41(16):7589–605.
- 82. Vilenchik MM, Knudson AG. Endogenous DNA double-strand breaks: Production, fidelity of repair, and induction of cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003 Oct 28;100(22):12871–6.
- 83. Mahaney BL, Meek K, Lees-Miller SP. Repair of ionizing radiation-induced DNA double strand breaks by non-homologous end-joining. Biochem J. 2009 Feb 1;417(3):639–50.
- 84. Lamarche BJ, Orazio NI, Weitzman MD. The MRN complex in Double-Strand Break Repair and Telomere Maintenance. FEBS Lett. 2010 Sep 10;584(17):3682–95.
- 85. Boulton S, Kyle S, Durkacz BW. Mechanisms of enhancement of cytotoxicity in etoposide and ionising radiation-treated cells by the protein kinase inhibitor wortmannin. European Journal of Cancer. 2000 Mar 1;36(4):535–41.
- Saleh-Gohari N, Bryant HE, Schultz N, Parker KM, Cassel TN, Helleday T. Spontaneous Homologous Recombination Is Induced by Collapsed Replication Forks That Are Caused by Endogenous DNA Single-Strand Breaks. Mol Cell Biol. 2005 Aug;25(16):7158–69.
- 87. Deans AJ, West SC. DNA interstrand crosslink repair and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 2011 Jun 24;11(7):467–80.
- 88. Curtin NJ. DNA repair dysregulation from cancer driver to therapeutic target. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012 Dec;12(12):801–17.
- 89. Aloyz R, Grzywacz K, Xu ZY, Loignon M, Alaoui-Jamali MA, Panasci L. Imatinib sensitizes CLL lymphocytes to chlorambucil. Leukemia. 2004 Mar;18(3):409–14.
- 90. Choudhury A, Zhao H, Jalali F, AL Rashid S, Ran J, Supiot S, et al. Targeting homologous recombination using imatinib results in enhanced tumor cell chemosensitivity and radiosensitivity. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics. 2009 Jan 12;8(1):203–13.
- 91. Bakr A, Oing C, Köcher S, Borgmann K, Dornreiter I, Petersen C, et al. Involvement of ATM in homologous recombination after end resection and RAD51 nucleofilament formation. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015 Mar 31;43(6):3154–66.
- 92. Yamamoto H, Hirasawa A. Homologous Recombination Deficiencies and Hereditary Tumors. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Dec 29;23(1):348.
- 93. Li X, Heyer WD. Homologous recombination in DNA repair and DNA damage tolerance. Cell Res. 2008 Jan;18(1):99–113.
- 94. Zhang J. The role of BRCA1 in homologous recombination repair in response to replication stress: significance in tumorigenesis and cancer therapy. Cell Biosci. 2013 Feb 6;3:11.
- 95. Kunkel TA, Erie DA. DNA MISMATCH REPAIR*. Annual Review of Biochemistry. 2005 Jul 7;74(Volume 74, 2005):681–710.
- 96. Li GM. Mechanisms and functions of DNA mismatch repair. Cell Res. 2008 Jan;18(1):85–98.
- 97. Pećina-Šlaus N, Kafka A, Salamon I, Bukovac A. Mismatch Repair Pathway, Genome Stability and Cancer. Front Mol Biosci [Internet]. 2020 Jun 26 [cited 2025 Jan 6];7. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/molecularbiosciences/articles/10.3389/fmolb.2020.00122/full
- 98. Cortes-Ciriano I, Lee S, Park WY, Kim TM, Park PJ. A molecular portrait of microsatellite instability across multiple cancers. Nat Commun. 2017 Jun 6;8:15180.
- 99. Wang K, Li L, Zhang Y, Gao D. Crosstalk between signaling pathways and DNA damage response. GENOME INSTAB DIS. 2020 Mar 1;1(2):81–91.
- 100. Stratton MR, Campbell PJ, Futreal PA. The cancer genome. Nature. 2009 Apr;458(7239):719–24.
- 101. Lu M, Zhang X, Chu Q, Chen Y, Zhang P. Susceptibility Genes Associated with Multiple Primary Cancers. Cancers (Basel). 2023 Dec 10;15(24):5788.
- 102. Cavazos TB, Kachuri L, Graff RE, Nierenberg JL, Thai KK, Alexeeff S, et al. Assessment of genetic susceptibility to multiple primary cancers through whole-exome sequencing in two large multi-ancestry studies. BMC Medicine. 2022 Oct 6;20(1):332.
- 103. Velayos FS, Lee SH, Qiu H, Dykes S, Yiu R, Terdiman JP, et al. The Mechanism of Microsatellite Instability Is Different in Synchronous and Metachronous Colorectal Cancer. Journal of Gastrointestinal Surgery. 2005 Mar 1;9(3):329–35.
- 104. Shih HA, Nathanson KL, Seal S, Collins N, Stratton MR, Rebbeck TR, et al. BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutations in Breast Cancer Families with Multiple Primary Cancers1. Clinical Cancer Research. 2000 Nov 1;6(11):4259–64.
- 105. Muller PAJ, Vousden KH. p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol. 2013 Jan;15(1):2–8.
- 106. Baslan T, Morris JP, Zhao Z, Reyes J, Ho YJ, Tsanov KM, et al. Ordered and deterministic cancer genome evolution after p53 loss. Nature. 2022;608(7924):795–802.
- 107. Oxnard GR, Chen R, Pharr JC, Koeller DR, Bertram AA, Dahlberg SE, et al. Germline EGFR Mutations and Familial Lung Cancer. JCO. 2023 Dec;41(34):5274–84.
- 108. Knudsen ES, Nambiar R, Rosario SR, Smiraglia DJ, Goodrich DW, Witkiewicz AK. Pan-cancer molecular analysis of the RB tumor suppressor pathway. Commun Biol. 2020 Apr 2;3(1):1–12.
- 109. Chinnam M, Goodrich DW. RB1, development, and cancer. Curr Top Dev Biol. 2011;94:129–69.
- 110. Shenoy S. CDH1 (E-Cadherin) Mutation and Gastric Cancer: Genetics, Molecular Mechanisms and Guidelines for Management. Cancer Manag Res. 2019 Dec 13;11:10477–86.
- 111. Shulman M, Shi R, Zhang Q. Von Hippel-Lindau Tumor Suppressor Pathways & Corresponding Therapeutics in Kidney Cancer. J Genet Genomics. 2021 Jul 20;48(7):552–9.
- 112. Jiang YL, Zhao ZY, Li BR, Yang F, Li J, Jin XW, et al. The altered activity of P53 signaling pathway by STK11 gene mutations and its cancer phenotype in Peutz-Jeghers syndrome. BMC Med Genet. 2018 Aug 9;19:141.

- 113. Sharma R, Lewis S, Wlodarski MW. DNA Repair Syndromes and Cancer: Insights Into Genetics and Phenotype Patterns. Front Pediatr [Internet]. 2020 Oct 23 [cited 2024 Jun 19];8. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fped.2020.570084
- 114. Walsh MF, Chang VY, Kohlmann WK, Scott HS, Cunniff C, Bourdeaut F, et al. Recommendations for Childhood Cancer Screening and Surveillance in DNA Repair Disorders. Clinical Cancer Research. 2017 May 31;23(11):e23–31.
- 115. Imyanitov EN, Kuligina ES, Sokolenko AP, Suspitsin EN, Yanus GA, Iyevleva AG, et al. Hereditary cancer syndromes. World J Clin Oncol. 2023 Feb 24;14(2):40–68.
- 116. Valle L, de Voer RM, Goldberg Y, Sjursen W, Försti A, Ruiz-Ponte C, et al. Update on genetic predisposition to colorectal cancer and polyposis. Molecular Aspects of Medicine. 2019 Oct 1;69:10–26.
- 117. Hu Chunling, Hart Steven N., Gnanaolivu Rohan, Huang Hongyan, Lee Kun Y., Na Jie, et al. A Population-Based Study of Genes Previously Implicated in Breast Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2021 Feb 3;384(5):440–51.
- 118. Roa BB, Boyd AA, Volcik K, Richards CS. Ashkenazi Jewish population frequencies for common mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. Nat Genet. 1996 Oct;14(2):185–7.
- 119. Breast Cancer Risk Genes Association Analysis in More than 113,000 Women. N Engl J Med. 2021 Feb 4;384(5):428–39.
- 120. Reckamp KL, Behrendt CE, Slavin TP, Gray SW, Castillo DK, Koczywas M, et al. Germline mutations and age at onset of lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer. 2021;127(15):2801–6.
- 121. Oh M, McBride A, Yun S, Bhattacharjee S, Slack M, Martin JR, et al. BRCA1 and BRCA2 Gene Mutations and Colorectal Cancer Risk: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2018 Nov 1;110(11):1178–89.
- 122. de Jonge MM, Ritterhouse LL, de Kroon CD, Vreeswijk MPG, Segal JP, Puranik R, et al. Germline BRCA-Associated Endometrial Carcinoma Is a Distinct Clinicopathologic Entity. Clinical Cancer Research. 2019 Dec 13;25(24):7517–26.
- 123. Avanesyan AA, Sokolenko AP, Ivantsov AO, Kleshchev MA, Maydin MA, Bizin IV, et al. Gastric Cancer in BRCA1 Germline Mutation Carriers: Results of Endoscopic Screening and Molecular Analysis of Tumor Tissues. Pathobiology. 2020 Nov 6;87(6):367–74.
- 124. Kim H, Choi DH, Park W, Im YH, Ahn JS, Park YH, et al. The association between non-breast and ovary cancers and BRCA mutation in first- and second-degree relatives of high-risk breast cancer patients: a large-scale study of Koreans. Hered Cancer Clin Pract. 2019 Jan 3;17(1):1.
- 125. Ko JMY, Ning L, Zhao XK, Chai AWY, Lei LC, Choi SSA, et al. BRCA2 loss-of-function germline mutations are associated with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma risk in Chinese. International Journal of Cancer. 2020;146(4):1042–51.
- 126. Maccaroni E, Giampieri R, Lenci E, Scortichini L, Bianchi F, Belvederesi L, et al. BRCA mutations and gastrointestinal cancers: When to expect the unexpected? World J Clin Oncol. 2021 Jul 24;12(7):565–80.
- 127. Garutti M, Foffano L, Mazzeo R, Michelotti A, Da Ros L, Viel A, et al. Hereditary Cancer Syndromes: A Comprehensive Review with a Visual Tool. Genes (Basel). 2023 Apr 30;14(5):1025.

- 128. Evans DG. Nevoid Basal Cell Carcinoma Syndrome. In: Adam MP, Feldman J, Mirzaa GM, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJ, et al., editors. GeneReviews[®] [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993 [cited 2024 Jun 17]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1151/
- 129. Kiran NK, Tilak Raj TN, Mukunda KS, Rajashekar Reddy V. Nevoid basal cell carcinoma syndrome (Gorlin-Goltz syndrome). Contemp Clin Dent. 2012;3(4):514–8.
- 130. Idos G, Valle L. Lynch Syndrome. In: Adam MP, Feldman J, Mirzaa GM, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJ, et al., editors. GeneReviews[®] [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993 [cited 2024 Jun 17]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1211/
- 131. Aarnio M, Sankila R, Pukkala E, Salovaara R, Aaltonen LA, de la Chapelle A, et al. Cancer risk in mutation carriers of DNA-mismatch-repair genes. International Journal of Cancer. 1999;81(2):214–8.
- 132. Bonadona V, Bonaïti B, Olschwang S, Grandjouan S, Huiart L, Longy M, et al. Cancer Risks Associated With Germline Mutations in MLH1, MSH2, and MSH6 Genes in Lynch Syndrome. JAMA. 2011 Jun 8;305(22):2304–10.
- 133. Hampel H, Stephens JA, Pukkala E, Sankila R, Aaltonen LA, Mecklin JP, et al. Cancer Risk in Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer Syndrome: Later Age of Onset. Gastroenterology. 2005 Aug 1;129(2):415–21.
- 134. Salovaara R, Loukola A, Kristo P, Kääriäinen H, Ahtola H, Eskelinen M, et al. Population-Based Molecular Detection of Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer. JCO. 2000 Jun 11;18(11):2193–200.
- 135. Senter L, Clendenning M, Sotamaa K, Hampel H, Green J, Potter JD, et al. The clinical phenotype of Lynch syndrome due to germline PMS2 mutations. Gastroenterology. 2008 Aug;135(2):419–28.
- 136. Palomaki GE, McClain MR, Melillo S, Hampel HL, Thibodeau SN. EGAPP supplementary evidence review: DNA testing strategies aimed at reducing morbidity and mortality from Lynch syndrome. Genet Med. 2009 Jan;11(1):42–65.
- 137. Ognjanovic S, Olivier M, Bergemann TL, Hainaut P. Sarcomas in TP53 germline mutation carriers. Cancer. 2012;118(5):1387–96.
- 138. Gonzalez KD, Noltner KA, Buzin CH, Gu D, Wen-Fong CY, Nguyen VQ, et al. Beyond Li Fraumeni Syndrome: Clinical Characteristics of Families With p53 Germline Mutations. JCO. 2009 Mar 10;27(8):1250–6.
- 139. Schneider K, Zelley K, Nichols KE, Garber J. Li-Fraumeni Syndrome. In: Adam MP, Feldman J, Mirzaa GM, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJ, et al., editors. GeneReviews[®] [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993 [cited 2024 Jun 17]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1311/
- 140. Libé R, Bertherat J. Molecular genetics of adrenocortical tumours, from familial to sporadic diseases. European Journal of Endocrinology. 2005 Oct 1;153(4):477–87.
- 141. Varley JM, McGown G, Thorncroft M, James LA, Margison GP, Forster G, et al. Are There Low-Penetrance TP53 Alleles? Evidence from Childhood Adrenocortical Tumors. Am J Hum Genet. 1999 Oct;65(4):995–1006.

- 142. Hwang SJ, Lozano G, Amos CI, Strong LC. Germline p53 Mutations in a Cohort with Childhood Sarcoma: Sex Differences in Cancer Risk. Am J Hum Genet. 2003 Apr;72(4):975–83.
- 143. Roach ES, Gomez MR, Northrup H. Tuberous Sclerosis Complex Consensus Conference: Revised Clinical Diagnostic Criteria. J Child Neurol. 1998 Dec 1;13(12):624–8.
- 144. Roach ES, Sparagana SP. Diagnosis of Tuberous Sclerosis Complex. J Child Neurol. 2004 Sep 1;19(9):643–9.
- Portocarrero LKL, Quental KN, Samorano LP, de Oliveira ZNP, Rivitti-Machado MC da M. Tuberous sclerosis complex: review based on new diagnostic criteria. An Bras Dermatol. 2018;93(3):323– 31.
- 146. Frudit P, Vitturi BK, Navarro FC, Rondelli I, Pozzan G. Multiple cardiac rhabdomyomas in tuberous sclerosis complex: case report and review of the literature. Autops Case Rep. 2019 Sep 30;9(4):e2019125.
- 147. Northrup H, Koenig MK, Pearson DA, Au KS. Tuberous Sclerosis Complex. In: Adam MP, Feldman J, Mirzaa GM, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJ, et al., editors. GeneReviews[®] [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993 [cited 2024 Jun 17]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1220/
- 148. Eng C. Will the real Cowden syndrome please stand up: revised diagnostic criteria. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2000 Nov 1;37(11):828–30.
- 149. Nelen MR, Kremer H, Konings IB, Schoute F, Essen AJ van, Koch R, et al. Novel PTEN mutations in patients with Cowden disease: absence of clear genotype–phenotype correlations. Eur J Hum Genet. 1999 Apr;7(3):267–73.
- 150. Starink ThM, Veen JPW van der, Arwert F, Waal LP de, Lange GG de, Gille JJP, et al. The Cowden syndrome: a clinical and genetic study in 21 patients. Clinical Genetics. 1986;29(3):222–33.
- 151. Salem OS, Steck WD. Cowden's disease (multiple hamartoma and neoplasia syndrome): A case report and review of the English literature. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 1983 May 1;8(5):686–96.
- 152. Bubien V, Bonnet F, Brouste V, Hoppe S, Barouk-Simonet E, David A, et al. High cumulative risks of cancer in patients with PTEN hamartoma tumour syndrome. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2013 Apr 1;50(4):255–63.
- 153. Tan MH, Mester JL, Ngeow J, Rybicki LA, Orloff MS, Eng C. Lifetime Cancer Risks in Individuals with Germline PTEN Mutations. Clin Cancer Res. 2012 Jan 15;18(2):400–7.
- 154. Pilarski R, Stephens JA, Noss R, Fisher JL, Prior TW. Predicting PTEN mutations: an evaluation of Cowden syndrome and Bannayan–Riley–Ruvalcaba syndrome clinical features. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2011 Aug 1;48(8):505–12.
- 155. Heald B, Mester J, Rybicki L, Orloff MS, Burke CA, Eng C. Frequent Gastrointestinal Polyps and Colorectal Adenocarcinomas in a Prospective Series of *PTEN* Mutation Carriers. Gastroenterology. 2010 Dec 1;139(6):1927–33.
- 156. del Pozo Losada J, Barja López JM. Lip Papillomas in Cowden Disease: Carbon Dioxide Laser Vaporization. Actas Dermosifiliogr. 2022 Jun 1;113(6):T640–1.

- 157. Gupta N, Sunwoo BY, Kotloff RM. Birt-Hogg-Dubé Syndrome. Clinics in Chest Medicine. 2016 Sep 1;37(3):475–86.
- 158. Toro JR, Wei MH, Glenn GM, Weinreich M, Toure O, Vocke C, et al. BHD mutations, clinical and molecular genetic investigations of Birt–Hogg–Dubé syndrome: a new series of 50 families and a review of published reports. J Med Genet. 2008 Jun;45(6):321–31.
- 159. Houweling AC, Gijezen LM, Jonker MA, van Doorn MBA, Oldenburg RA, van Spaendonck-Zwarts KY, et al. Renal cancer and pneumothorax risk in Birt–Hogg–Dubé syndrome; an analysis of 115 FLCN mutation carriers from 35 BHD families. Br J Cancer. 2011 Dec 6;105(12):1912–9.
- 160. Benusiglio PR, Giraud S, Deveaux S, Méjean A, Correas JM, Joly D, et al. Renal cell tumour characteristics in patients with the Birt-Hogg-Dubé cancer susceptibility syndrome: a retrospective, multicentre study. Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases. 2014 Oct 29;9(1):163.
- 161. Zbar B, Alvord WG, Glenn G, Turner M, Pavlovich CP, Schmidt L, et al. Risk of Renal and Colonic Neoplasms and Spontaneous Pneumothorax in the Birt-Hogg-Dubé Syndrome1. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 2002 Apr 1;11(4):393–400.
- 162. Pavlovich CP, Walther MM, Eyler RA, Hewitt SM, Zbar B, Linehan WM, et al. Renal Tumors in the Birt-Hogg-Dubé Syndrome. The American Journal of Surgical Pathology. 2002 Dec;26(12):1542.
- 163. Adamy A, Lowrance WT, Yee DS, Chong KT, Bernstein M, Tickoo SK, et al. Renal Oncocytosis: Management and Clinical Outcomes. J Urol. 2011 Mar;185(3):795–801.
- 164. Ripperger T, Beger C, Rahner N, Sykora KW, Bockmeyer CL, Lehmann U, et al. Constitutional mismatch repair deficiency and childhood leukemia/lymphoma report on a novel biallelic MSH6 mutation. Haematologica. 2010 May;95(5):841–4.
- 165. Wimmer K, Kratz CP, Vasen HFA, Caron O, Colas C, Entz-Werle N, et al. Diagnostic criteria for constitutional mismatch repair deficiency syndrome: suggestions of the European consortium 'Care for CMMRD' (C4CMMRD). Journal of Medical Genetics. 2014 Jun 1;51(6):355–65.
- 166. Waller A, Findeis S, Lee MJ. Familial Adenomatous Polyposis. Journal of Pediatric Genetics. 2016 Mar 15;05:78–83.
- 167. Neklason DW, Stevens J, Boucher KM, Kerber RA, Matsunami N, Barlow J, et al. American Founder Mutation for Attenuated Familial Adenomatous Polyposis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2008 Jan;6(1):46–52.
- 168. Knudsen AL, Bisgaard ML, Bülow S. Attenuated familial adenomatous polyposis (AFAP): a review of the literature. Familial Cancer. 2003 Apr 1;2(1):43–55.
- 169. Abdullah Suhaimi SN, Nazri N, Nani Harlina ML, Md. Isa N, Muhammad R. Familial Adenomatous Polyposis-Associated Papillary Thyroid Cancer. Malays J Med Sci. 2015;22(4):69–72.
- 170. Harach H r., Williams G t., Williams E d. Familial adenomatous polyposis associated thyroid carcinoma: a distinct type of follicular cell neoplasm. Histopathology. 1994;25(6):549–61.
- 171. Giardiello FM, Petersen GM, Brensinger JD, Luce MC, Cayouette MC, Bacon J, et al. Hepatoblastoma and APC gene mutation in familial adenomatous polyposis. Gut. 1996 Dec;39(6):867–9.

- 172. Nieuwenhuis MH, Vasen HFA. Correlations between mutation site in APC and phenotype of familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP): A review of the literature. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology. 2007 Feb 1;61(2):153–61.
- 173. Grover S, Kastrinos F, Steyerberg EW, Cook EF, Dewanwala A, Burbidge LA, et al. Prevalence and Phenotypes of APC and MUTYH Mutations in Patients with Multiple Colorectal Adenomas. JAMA. 2012 Aug 1;308(5):485–92.
- 174. Janeway KA, Kim SY, Lodish M, Nosé V, Rustin P, Gaal J, et al. Defects in succinate dehydrogenase in gastrointestinal stromal tumors lacking KIT and PDGFRA mutations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2011 Jan 1;108(1):314.
- 175. Li K, Tjhoi WEH, Shou C, Yang W, Zhang Q, Liu X, et al. Multiple gastrointestinal stromal tumors: analysis of clinicopathologic characteristics and prognosis of 20 patients. Cancer Management and Research. 2019;11:7031.
- 176. Agaimy A, Vassos N, Croner RS. Gastrointestinal manifestations of neurofibromatosis type 1 (Recklinghausen's disease): clinicopathological spectrum with pathogenetic considerations. International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Pathology. 2012;5(9):852.
- 177. Søreide K, Sandvik OM, Søreide JA, Giljaca V, Jureckova A, Bulusu VR. Global epidemiology of gastrointestinal stromal tumours (GIST): A systematic review of population-based cohort studies. Cancer Epidemiology. 2016 Feb 1;40:39–46.
- 178. Kim KH, Nelson SD, Kim DH, Choi KU, Kim SJ, Min KW, et al. Diagnostic Relevance of Overexpressions of PKC-θ and DOG-1 and KIT/PDGFRA Gene Mutations in Extragastrointestinal Stromal Tumors: A Korean Six-Centers Study of 28 Cases. Anticancer Research. 2012 Mar 1;32(3):923–37.
- 179. Kang DY, Park CK, Choi JS, Jin SY, Kim HJ, Joo M, et al. Multiple Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors: Clinicopathologic and Genetic Analysis of 12 Patients. The American Journal of Surgical Pathology. 2007 Feb;31(2):224.
- 180. Gasparotto D, Rossi S, Bearzi I, Doglioni C, Marzotto A, Hornick JL, et al. Multiple Primary Sporadic Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors in the Adult: An Underestimated Entity. Clinical Cancer Research. 2008 Sep 14;14(18):5715–21.
- 181. Agaimy A, Märkl B, Arnholdt H, Wünsch PH, Terracciano LM, Dirnhofer S, et al. Multiple sporadic gastrointestinal stromal tumours arising at different gastrointestinal sites: pattern of involvement of the muscularis propria as a clue to independent primary GISTs. Virchows Arch. 2009 Aug 1;455(2):101–8.
- 182. Yoshida R. Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer (HBOC): review of its molecular characteristics, screening, treatment, and prognosis. Breast Cancer. 2021;28(6):1167–80.
- 183. McDevitt T, Durkie M, Arnold N, Burghel GJ, Butler S, Claes KBM, et al. EMQN best practice guidelines for genetic testing in hereditary breast and ovarian cancer. Eur J Hum Genet. 2024 May;32(5):479–88.
- 184. Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Timms KM, Liu S, Chen H, Litton JK, Potter J, et al. Incidence and outcome of BRCA mutations in unselected patients with triple receptor-negative breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2011 Mar 1;17(5):1082–9.

- 185. Young S, Pilarski RT, Donenberg T, Shapiro C, Hammond LS, Miller J, et al. The prevalence of BRCA1 mutations among young women with triple-negative breast cancer. BMC Cancer. 2009 Mar 19;9:86.
- 186. Fostira F, Tsitlaidou M, Papadimitriou C, Pertesi M, Timotheadou E, Stavropoulou AV, et al. Prevalence of BRCA1 mutations among 403 women with triple-negative breast cancer: implications for genetic screening selection criteria: a Hellenic Cooperative Oncology Group Study. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012 Jul 1;134(1):353–62.
- 187. Greenup R, Buchanan A, Lorizio W, Rhoads K, Chan S, Leedom T, et al. Prevalence of BRCA Mutations Among Women with Triple-Negative Breast Cancer (TNBC) in a Genetic Counseling Cohort. Ann Surg Oncol. 2013 Oct 1;20(10):3254–8.
- 188. Walsh T, Casadei S, Lee MK, Pennil CC, Nord AS, Thornton AM, et al. Mutations in 12 genes for inherited ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal carcinoma identified by massively parallel sequencing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2011 Nov;108(44):18032–7.
- 189. Liede A, Karlan BY, Narod SA. Cancer Risks for Male Carriers of Germline Mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2: A Review of the Literature. JCO. 2004 Feb 15;22(4):735–42.
- 190. Risch HA, McLaughlin JR, Cole DEC, Rosen B, Bradley L, Fan I, et al. Population BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutation Frequencies and Cancer Penetrances: A Kin–Cohort Study in Ontario, Canada. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2006 Dec 6;98(23):1694–706.
- 191. Levy-Lahad E, Catane R, Eisenberg S, Kaufman B, Hornreich G, Lishinsky E, et al. Founder BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations in Ashkenazi Jews in Israel: frequency and differential penetrance in ovarian cancer and in breast-ovarian cancer families. Am J Hum Genet. 1997 May;60(5):1059–67.
- 192. Castro E, Goh C, Olmos D, Saunders E, Leongamornlert D, Tymrakiewicz M, et al. Germline BRCA Mutations Are Associated With Higher Risk of Nodal Involvement, Distant Metastasis, and Poor Survival Outcomes in Prostate Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2013 May 10;31(14):1748–57.
- 193. Mitra A, Fisher C, Foster CS, Jameson C, Barbachanno Y, Bartlett J, et al. Prostate cancer in male BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers has a more aggressive phenotype. Br J Cancer. 2008 Jan;98(2):502–7.
- 194. Melchor L, Benítez J. The complex genetic landscape of familial breast cancer. Hum Genet. 2013 Aug 1;132(8):845–63.
- 195. Nielsen FC, van Overeem Hansen T, Sørensen CS. Hereditary breast and ovarian cancer: new genes in confined pathways. Nat Rev Cancer. 2016 Sep;16(9):599–612.
- 196. Seevaratnam R, Coburn N, Cardoso R, Dixon M, Bocicariu A, Helyer L. A systematic review of the indications for genetic testing and prophylactic gastrectomy among patients with hereditary diffuse gastric cancer. Gastric Cancer. 2012 Sep 1;15(1):153–63.
- 197. Hansford S, Kaurah P, Li-Chang H, Woo M, Senz J, Pinheiro H, et al. Hereditary Diffuse Gastric Cancer Syndrome: CDH1 Mutations and Beyond. JAMA Oncology. 2015 Apr 1;1(1):23–32.
- 198. Majewski IJ, Kluijt I, Cats A, Scerri TS, de Jong D, Kluin RJ, et al. An α-E-catenin (CTNNA1) mutation in hereditary diffuse gastric cancer. The Journal of Pathology. 2013;229(4):621–9.

- 199. Blair VR, McLeod M, Carneiro F, Coit DG, D'Addario JL, Dieren JM van, et al. Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer: updated clinical practice guidelines. The Lancet Oncology. 2020 Aug 1;21(8):e386–97.
- 200. Patel VM, Handler MZ, Schwartz RA, Lambert WC. Hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer syndrome: An update and review. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2017 Jul 1;77(1):149–58.
- 201. Gardie B, Remenieras A, Kattygnarath D, Bombled J, Lefèvre S, Perrier-Trudova V, et al. Novel FH mutations in families with hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer (HLRCC) and patients with isolated type 2 papillary renal cell carcinoma. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2011 Apr 1;48(4):226–34.
- 202. Ponti G, Pellacani G, Seidenari S, Pollio A, Muscatello U, Tomasi A. Cancer-associated genodermatoses: Skin neoplasms as clues to hereditary tumor syndromes. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology. 2013 Mar 1;85(3):239–56.
- 203. Alam NA, Olpin S, Leigh IM. Fumarate hydratase mutations and predisposition to cutaneous leiomyomas, uterine leiomyomas and renal cancer. British Journal of Dermatology. 2005 Jul 1;153(1):11–7.
- 204. Tomlinson IPM, Alam NA, Rowan AJ, Barclay E, Jaeger EEM, Kelsell D, et al. Germline mutations in FH predispose to dominantly inherited uterine fibroids, skin leiomyomata and papillary renal cell cancer. Nat Genet. 2002 Apr;30(4):406–10.
- 205. Martinez-Mir A, Glaser B, S. Chuang G, Horev L, Waldman A, Engler DE, et al. Germline Fumarate Hydratase Mutations in Families with Multiple Cutaneous and Uterine Leiomyomata. Journal of Investigative Dermatology. 2003 Oct 1;121(4):741–4.
- 206. Alam NA, Rowan AJ, Wortham NC, Pollard PJ, Mitchell M, Tyrer JP, et al. Genetic and functional analyses of FH mutations in multiple cutaneous and uterine leiomyomatosis, hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cancer, and fumarate hydratase deficiency. Human Molecular Genetics. 2003 Jun 1;12(11):1241–52.
- 207. Wei MH, Toure O, Glenn GM, Pithukpakorn M, Neckers L, Stolle C, et al. Novel mutations in FH and expansion of the spectrum of phenotypes expressed in families with hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2006 Jan 1;43(1):18–27.
- 208. Lehtonen HJ. Hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell cancer: update on clinical and molecular characteristics. Familial Cancer. 2011 Jun 1;10(2):397–411.
- 209. Nagarajan P, Kenney B, Drost P, Galan A. An unusual case of sporadic hereditary leiomyomatosis and renal cell carcinoma syndrome. Cutis. 2015 Feb 1;95(2):E7-9.
- 210. Aoude LG, Wadt KAW, Pritchard AL, Hayward NK. Genetics of familial melanoma: 20 years after CDKN2A. Pigment Cell & Melanoma Research. 2015;28(2):148–60.
- 211. Potrony M, Badenas C, Aguilera P, Puig-Butille JA, Carrera C, Malvehy J, et al. Update in genetic susceptibility in melanoma. Ann Transl Med. 2015 Sep;3(15):210.
- 212. Psaty EL, Scope A, Halpern AC, Marghoob AA. Defining the patient at high risk for melanoma. International Journal of Dermatology. 2010;49(4):362–76.

- 213. Goldstein AM. Familial melanoma, pancreatic cancer and germline CDKN2A mutations. Human Mutation. 2004;23(6):630–630.
- 214. Eckerle Mize D, Bishop M, Resse E, Sluzevich J. Familial Atypical Multiple Mole Melanoma Syndrom. 2009 [cited 2024 Jun 18]; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK7030
- 215. Gandini S, Sera F, Cattaruzza MS, Pasquini P, Zanetti R, Masini C, et al. Meta-analysis of risk factors for cutaneous melanoma: III. Family history, actinic damage and phenotypic factors. European Journal of Cancer. 2005 Sep 1;41(14):2040–59.
- 216. Hansson J. Familial Cutaneous Melanoma. In: Diseases of DNA Repair [Internet]. New York, NY: Springer; 2010. (Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; vol. 685). Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-6448-9_13
- 217. Lynch HT, Shaw TG. Familial atypical multiple mole melanoma (FAMMM) syndrome: history, genetics, and heterogeneity. Familial Cancer. 2016 Jul 1;15(3):487–91.
- 218. Goldstein AM, Chan M, Harland M, Gillanders EM, Hayward NK, Avril MF, et al. High-risk Melanoma Susceptibility Genes and Pancreatic Cancer, Neural System Tumors, and Uveal Melanoma across GenoMEL. Cancer Research. 2006 Oct 17;66(20):9818–28.
- 219. Bartsch D, Langer P, Habbe N, Matthäi E, Chaloupka B, Sina M, et al. Clinical and genetic analysis of 18 pancreatic carcinoma/melanoma-prone families. Clinical Genetics. 2010;77(4):333–41.
- 220. Akhtar M, Al-Bozom IA, Al Hussain T. Papillary Renal Cell Carcinoma (PRCC): An Update. Advances in Anatomic Pathology. 2019 Mar;26(2):124.
- 221. Schmidt L, Junker K, Nakaigawa N, Kinjerski T, Weirich G, Miller M, et al. Novel mutations of the MET proto-oncogene in papillary renal carcinomas. Oncogene. 1999 Apr;18(14):2343–50.
- 222. Else T, Greenberg S, Fishbein L. Hereditary Paraganglioma-Pheochromocytoma Syndromes. In: Adam MP, Feldman J, Mirzaa GM, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJ, et al., editors. GeneReviews[®] [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993 [cited 2024 Jun 18]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1548/
- 223. Bukavina L, Bensalah K, Bray F, Carlo M, Challacombe B, Karam JA, et al. Epidemiology of Renal Cell Carcinoma: 2022 Update. European Urology. 2022 Nov 1;82(5):529–42.
- 224. Neumann HPH, Pawlu C, Pęczkowska M, Bausch B, McWhinney SR, Muresan M, et al. Distinct Clinical Features of Paraganglioma Syndromes Associated With SDHB and SDHD Gene Mutations. JAMA. 2004 Aug 25;292(8):943–51.
- 225. Neumann HPH, Erlic Z, Boedeker CC, Rybicki LA, Robledo M, Hermsen M, et al. Clinical Predictors for Germline Mutations in Head and Neck Paraganglioma Patients: Cost Reduction Strategy in Genetic Diagnostic Process as Fall-Out. Cancer Research. 2009 Apr 15;69(8):3650–6.
- 226. Mannelli M. Biochemistry, genetics and therapy of malignant pheochromocytomas. Annales d'Endocrinologie. 2009 Jun 1;70(3):166–7.
- 227. Erlic Z, Neumann HPH. When should genetic testing be obtained in a patient with phaeochromocytoma or paraganglioma? Clinical Endocrinology. 2009;70(3):354–7.

- 228. Badenhop RF, Jansen JC, Fagan PA, Lord RSA, Wang ZG, Foster WJ, et al. The prevalence of SDHB, SDHC, and SDHD mutations in patients with head and neck paraganglioma and association of mutations with clinical features. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2004 Jul 1;41(7):e99–e99.
- 229. Draper GJ, Sanders BM, Brownbill PA, Hawkins MM. Patterns of risk of hereditary retinoblastoma and applications to genetic counselling. Br J Cancer. 1992 Jul;66(1):211–9.
- 230. Burkhart DL, Sage J. Cellular mechanisms of tumour suppression by the retinoblastoma gene. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008 Sep;8(9):671–82.
- 231. Knudson AG. Mutation and Cancer: Statistical Study of Retinoblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1971 Apr;68(4):820–3.
- 232. Kivelä T. Trilateral Retinoblastoma: A Meta-Analysis of Hereditary Retinoblastoma Associated With Primary Ectopic Intracranial Retinoblastoma. JCO. 1999 Jun;17(6):1829–1829.
- 233. Kleinerman RA, Tucker MA, Abramson DH, Seddon JM, Tarone RE, Fraumeni JF Jr. Risk of Soft Tissue Sarcomas by Individual Subtype in Survivors of Hereditary Retinoblastoma. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2007 Jan 3;99(1):24–31.
- 234. Moll AC, Imhof SM, Bouter LM, Tan KEWP. Second primary tumors in patients with retinoblastoma a review of the literature. Ophthalmic Genetics. 1997 Jan 1;18(1):27–34.
- 235. Draper GJ, Sanders BM, Kingston JE. Second primary neoplasms in patients with retinoblastoma. Br J Cancer. 1986 May;53(5):661–71.
- 236. Wong FL, Boice JD Jr, Abramson DH, Tarone RE, Kleinerman RA, Stovall M, et al. Cancer Incidence After Retinoblastoma: Radiation Dose and Sarcoma Risk. JAMA. 1997 Oct 15;278(15):1262–7.
- 237. Yu CL, Tucker MA, Abramson DH, Furukawa K, Seddon JM, Stovall M, et al. Cause-Specific Mortality in Long-Term Survivors of Retinoblastoma. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2009 Apr 15;101(8):581–91.
- 238. Marees T, Moll AC, Imhof SM, de Boer MR, Ringens PJ, van Leeuwen FE. Risk of Second Malignancies in Survivors of Retinoblastoma: More Than 40 Years of Follow-up. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2008 Dec 17;100(24):1771–9.
- 239. Hawkins MM, Wilson LMK, Burton HS, Potok MHN, Winter DL, Marsden HB, et al. Radiotherapy, Alkylating Agents, and Risk of Bone Cancer After Childhood Cancer. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 1996 Mar 6;88(5):270–8.
- 240. Tucker Margaret A., D'Angio Giulio J., Boice John D., Strong Louise C., Li Frederick P., Stovall Marilyn, et al. Bone Sarcomas Linked to Radiotherapy and Chemotherapy in Children. New England Journal of Medicine. 1987 Sep 3;317(10):588–93.
- 241. Jenkinson HC, Winter DL, Marsden HB, Stovall MA, Stevens MCG, Stiller CA, et al. A study of soft tissue sarcomas after childhood cancer in Britain. Br J Cancer. 2007 Aug;97(5):695–9.
- 242. Kleinerman R, Tucker M, Tarone R, Abramson D, Seddon J, Stovall M, et al. Risk of New Cancers After Radiotherapy in Long-Term Survivors of Retinoblastoma: An Extended Follow-Up. Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2005 May 1;23:2272–9.
- 243. Brosens LA, Langeveld D, van Hattem WA, Giardiello FM, Offerhaus GJA. Juvenile polyposis syndrome. World J Gastroenterol. 2011 Nov 28;17(44):4839–44.

- 244. Larsen Haidle J, MacFarland SP, Howe JR. Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome. In: Adam MP, Feldman J, Mirzaa GM, Pagon RA, Wallace SE, Bean LJ, et al., editors. GeneReviews[®] [Internet]. Seattle (WA): University of Washington, Seattle; 1993 [cited 2024 Jun 18]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1469/
- 245. Howe JR, Roth S, Ringold JC, Summers RW, Järvinen HJ, Sistonen P, et al. Mutations in the SMAD4/DPC4 Gene in Juvenile Polyposis. Science. 1998 May 15;280(5366):1086–8.
- 246. Latchford AR, Neale K, Phillips RKS, Clark SK. Juvenile Polyposis Syndrome: A Study of Genotype, Phenotype, and Long-term Outcome. Diseases of the Colon & Rectum. 2012 Oct;55(10):1038.
- 247. Aretz S, Stienen D, Uhlhaas S, Stolte M, Entius MM, Loff S, et al. High proportion of large genomic deletions and a genotype–phenotype update in 80 unrelated families with juvenile polyposis syndrome. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2007 Nov 1;44(11):702–9.
- 248. Gallione CJ, Repetto GM, Legius E, Rustgi AK, Schelley SL, Tejpar S, et al. A combined syndrome of juvenile polyposis and hereditary haemorrhagic telangiectasia associated with mutations in MADH4 (SMAD4). The Lancet. 2004 Mar 13;363(9412):852–9.
- 249. Bahuau M, Vidaud D, Jenkins RB, Bièche I, Kimmel DW, Assouline B, et al. Germ-Line Deletion Involving the INK4 Locus in Familial Proneness to Melanoma and Nervous System Tumors1. Cancer Research. 1998 Jun 1;58(11):2298–303.
- 250. Kamb A, Shattuck-Eidens D, Eeles R, Liu Q, Gruis NA, Ding W, et al. Analysis of the p16 gene (CDKN2) as a candidate for the chromosome 9p melanoma susceptibility locus. Nat Genet. 1994 Sep;8(1):22–6.
- 251. Hayward NK. Genetics of melanoma predisposition. Oncogene. 2003 May;22(20):3053–62.
- 252. Chan AK, Han SJ, Choy W, Beleford D, Aghi MK, Berger MS, et al. Familial melanoma-astrocytoma syndrome: synchronous diffuse astrocytoma and pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma in a patient with germline CDKN2A/B deletion and a significant family history. Clin Neuropathol. 2017;36(5):213–21.
- 253. Sargen MR, Kim J, Potjer TP, Velthuizen ME, Martir-Negron AE, Odia Y, et al. Estimated Prevalence, Tumor Spectrum, and Neurofibromatosis Type 1–Like Phenotype of CDKN2A-Related Melanoma-Astrocytoma Syndrome. JAMA Dermatology. 2023 Oct 1;159(10):1112–8.
- 254. Brandi ML, Agarwal SK, Perrier ND, Lines KE, Valk GD, Thakker RV. Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1: Latest Insights. Endocrine Reviews. 2021 Apr 1;42(2):133–70.
- 255. Lemmens I, Van de Ven WJM, Kas K, Zhang CX, Giraud S, Wautot V, et al. Identification of the Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1 (MEN1) Gene. Human Molecular Genetics. 1997 Jul 1;6(7):1177–83.
- 256. Chandrasekharappa SC, Guru SC, Manickam P, Olufemi SE, Collins FS, Emmert-Buck MR, et al. Positional Cloning of the Gene for Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia-Type 1. Science. 1997 Apr 18;276(5311):404–7.
- 257. Odou MF, Cardot-Bauters C, Vantyghem MC, Carnaille B, Leteurtre E, Pigny P, et al. Contribution of genetic analysis in screening for MEN1 among patients with sporadic disease and one or more typical manifestation. Annales d'Endocrinologie. 2006 Dec 1;67(6):581–7.

- 258. Thakker RV, Newey PJ, Walls GV, Bilezikian J, Dralle H, Ebeling PR, et al. Clinical Practice Guidelines for Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1 (MEN1). The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2012 Sep 1;97(9):2990–3011.
- 259. McKeeby JL, Li X, Zhuang Z, Vortmeyer AO, Huang S, Pirner M, et al. Multiple Leiomyomas of the Esophagus, Lung, and Uterus in Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 1. The American Journal of Pathology. 2001 Sep 1;159(3):1121–7.
- 260. Cuevas-Ocampo AK, Bollen AW, Goode B, Pajtler KW, Chavez L, Sharma T, et al. Genetic confirmation that ependymoma can arise as part of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1) syndrome. Acta Neuropathol. 2017 Apr 1;133(4):661–3.
- 261. Marchand L, Decaussin-Petrucci M, Giraud S, Cotton F, Thivolet C, Simon C. Hibernoma and multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome: A non-fortuitous association? A case report and literature review. Annales d'Endocrinologie. 2017 Jul 1;78(3):194–7.
- 262. Giusti F, Cianferotti L, Boaretto F, Cetani F, Cioppi F, Colao A, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia syndrome type 1: institution, management, and data analysis of a nationwide multicenter patient database. Endocrine. 2017 Nov 1;58(2):349–59.
- 263. Carroll RW. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 (MEN1). Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2013;9(4):297–309.
- 264. Mathiesen JS, Effraimidis G, Rossing M, Rasmussen ÅK, Hoejberg L, Bastholt L, et al. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: A review. Seminars in Cancer Biology. 2022 Feb 1;79:163–79.
- 265. Moline J, Eng C. Multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2: An overview. Genetics in Medicine. 2011 Sep 1;13(9):755–64.
- 266. Lefebvre M, Foulkes WD. Pheochromocytoma and paraganglioma syndromes: genetics and management update. Curr Oncol. 2014 Feb;21(1):e8–17.
- 267. Eng C, Clayton D, Schuffenecker I, Lenoir G, Cote G, Gagel RF, et al. The Relationship Between Specific RET Proto-oncogene Mutations and Disease Phenotype in Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 2: International RET Mutation Consortium Analysis. JAMA. 1996 Nov 20;276(19):1575–9.
- 268. Richards ML. Thyroid Cancer Genetics: Multiple Endocrine Neoplasia Type 2, Non-Medullary Familial Thyroid Cancer, and Familial Syndromes Associated with Thyroid Cancer. Surgical Oncology Clinics of North America. 2009 Jan 1;18(1):39–52.
- 269. Neumann Hartmut P.H., Bausch Birke, McWhinney Sarah R., Bender Bernhard U., Gimm Oliver, Franke Gerlind, et al. Germ-Line Mutations in Nonsyndromic Pheochromocytoma. New England Journal of Medicine. 2002;346(19):1459–66.
- 270. Curia MC, Catalano T, Aceto GM. MUTYH: Not just polyposis. World J Clin Oncol. 2020 Jul 24;11(7):428–49.
- 271. Al-Tassan N, Chmiel NH, Maynard J, Fleming N, Livingston AL, Williams GT, et al. Inherited variants of MYH associated with somatic G:C→T:A mutations in colorectal tumors. Nat Genet. 2002 Feb;30(2):227–32.
- 272. Aretz S. The Differential Diagnosis and Surveillance of Hereditary Gastrointestinal Polyposis Syndromes. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2010 Mar;107(10):163–73.

- 273. Goodenberger M, Lindor NM. Lynch Syndrome and MYH-Associated Polyposis: Review and Testing Strategy. Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology. 2011 Jul;45(6):488.
- 274. Theodoratou E, Campbell H, Tenesa A, Houlston R, Webb E, Lubbe S, et al. A large-scale metaanalysis to refine colorectal cancer risk estimates associated with MUTYH variants. Br J Cancer. 2010 Dec;103(12):1875–84.
- 275. Cleary SP, Cotterchio M, Jenkins MA, Kim H, Bristow R, Green R, et al. Germline MutY Human Homologue Mutations and Colorectal Cancer: A Multisite Case-Control Study. Gastroenterology. 2009 Apr 1;136(4):1251–60.
- 276. Giardiello FM, Brensinger JD, Tersmette AC, Goodman SN, Petersen GM, Booker SV, et al. Very high risk of cancer in familial Peutz–Jeghers syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2000 Dec 1;119(6):1447–53.
- 277. Beggs AD, Latchford AR, Vasen HFA, Moslein G, Alonso A, Aretz S, et al. Peutz–Jeghers syndrome: a systematic review and recommendations for management. Gut. 2010 Jul 1;59(7):975–86.
- 278. Fraser JD, Briggs SE, St. Peter SD, De Petris G, Heppell J. Intussusception in the adult: an unsuspected case of Peutz–Jeghers syndrome with review of the literature. Familial Cancer. 2009 Jun 1;8(2):95–101.
- 279. Lynch HT, Lynch JF, Lynch PM, Attard T. Hereditary colorectal cancer syndromes: molecular genetics, genetic counseling, diagnosis and management. Familial Cancer. 2008 Mar 1;7(1):27–39.
- 280. Zbuk KM, Eng C. Hamartomatous polyposis syndromes. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007 Sep;4(9):492–502.
- 281. Schreibman IR, Baker M, Amos C, McGarrity TJ. The Hamartomatous Polyposis Syndromes: A Clinical and Molecular Review. Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology | ACG. 2005 Feb;100(2):476.
- 282. Gammon A, Jasperson K, Kohlmann W, Burt RW. Hamartomatous polyposis syndromes. Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology. 2009 Apr 1;23(2):219–31.
- 283. Chen HM, Fang JY. Genetics of the hamartomatous polyposis syndromes: a molecular review. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2009 Aug 1;24(8):865–74.
- 284. Varshney N, Kebede AA, Owusu-Dapaah H, Lather J, Kaushik M, Bhullar JS. A Review of Von Hippel-Lindau Syndrome. J Kidney Cancer VHL. 2017 Aug 2;4(3):20–9.
- 285. Maher ER. Von Hippel-Lindau disease. European Journal of Cancer. 1994 Jan 1;30(13):1987–90.
- 286. Poulsen M, Budtz-Jørgensen E, Bisgaard M. Surveillance in von Hippel-Lindau disease (vHL). Clinical Genetics. 2010;77(1):49–59.
- 287. Tibbs REJ, Bowles APJ, Raila FA, Fratkin JD, Hutchins JB. Should Endolymphatic Sac Tumors Be Considered Part of the Von Hippel-Lindau Complex? Pathology Case Report. Neurosurgery. 1997 Apr;40(4):848.
- 288. Megerian CA, Mckenna MJ, Nuss RC, Maniglia AJ, Ojemann RG, Pilch BZ, et al. Endolymphatic sac tumors: Histopathologic confirmation, clinical characterization, and implication in von hippellindau disease. The Laryngoscope. 1995;105(8):801–8.

- 289. Richard S, David P, Marsot-Dupuch K, Giraud S, Béroud C, Resche F. Central nervous system hemangioblastomas, endolymphatic sac tumors, and von Hippel-Lindau disease. Neurosurg Rev. 2000 Apr 1;23(1):1–22.
- 290. Singh AD, Shields JA, Shields CL. Solitary Retinal Capillary Hemangioma: Hereditary (von Hippel-Lindau Disease) or Nonhereditary? Archives of Ophthalmology. 2001 Feb 1;119(2):232–4.
- 291. Neumann HPH, Bender BU, Berger DP, Laubenberger J, Schultze-seemann W, Wetterauer U, et al. Prevalence, morphology and biology of renal cell carcinoma in von hippel-lindau disease compared to sporadic renal cell carcinoma. The Journal of Urology. 1998 Oct 1;160(4):1248–54.
- 292. de Kock L, Priest JR, Foulkes WD, Alexandrescu S. An update on the central nervous system manifestations of DICER1 syndrome. Acta Neuropathol. 2020 Apr 1;139(4):689–701.
- 293. Stewart DR, Best AF, Williams GM, Harney LA, Carr AG, Harris AK, et al. Neoplasm Risk Among Individuals With a Pathogenic Germline Variant in DICER1. J Clin Oncol. 2019 Mar 10;37(8):668– 76.
- 294. Solarski M, Rotondo F, Foulkes WD, Priest JR, Syro LV, Butz H, et al. DICER1 gene mutations in endocrine tumors. 2018 Mar 1 [cited 2024 Jun 19]; Available from: https://erc.bioscientifica.com/view/journals/erc/25/3/ERC-17-0509.xml
- 295. Foulkes WD, Priest JR, Duchaine TF. DICER1: mutations, microRNAs and mechanisms. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014 Oct;14(10):662–72.
- 296. Pugh TJ, Yu W, Yang J, Field AL, Ambrogio L, Carter SL, et al. Exome sequencing of pleuropulmonary blastoma reveals frequent biallelic loss of TP53 and two hits in DICER1 resulting in retention of 5p-derived miRNA hairpin loop sequences. Oncogene. 2014 Nov;33(45):5295–302.
- 297. Rakheja D, Chen KS, Liu Y, Shukla AA, Schmid V, Chang TC, et al. Somatic mutations in DROSHA and DICER1 impair microRNA biogenesis through distinct mechanisms in Wilms tumours. Nat Commun. 2014 Sep 5;5(1):4802.
- 298. Seki M, Yoshida K, Shiraishi Y, Shimamura T, Sato Y, Nishimura R, et al. Biallelic DICER1 Mutations in Sporadic Pleuropulmonary Blastoma. Cancer Research. 2014 May 14;74(10):2742–9.
- 299. Brenneman M, Field A, Yang J, Williams G, Doros L, Rossi C, et al. Temporal order of RNase IIIb and loss-of-function mutations during development determines phenotype in pleuropulmonary blastoma / DICER1 syndrome: a unique variant of the two-hit tumor suppression model [Internet]. F1000Research; 2018 [cited 2024 Jun 19]. Available from: https://f1000research.com/articles/4-214
- 300. Kock L de, Wang YC, Revil T, Badescu D, Rivera B, Sabbaghian N, et al. High-sensitivity sequencing reveals multi-organ somatic mosaicism causing DICER1 syndrome. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2016 Jan 1;53(1):43–52.
- 301. Chong AS, Fahiminiya S, Strother D, Priest J, Albrecht S, Rivera B, et al. Revisiting pleuropulmonary blastoma and atypical choroid plexus papilloma in a young child: DICER1 syndrome or not? Pediatric Blood & Cancer. 2018;65(10):e27294.
- 302. de Kock L, Rivera B, Revil T, Thorner P, Goudie C, Bouron-Dal Soglio D, et al. Sequencing of DICER1 in sarcomas identifies biallelic somatic DICER1 mutations in an adult-onset embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma. Br J Cancer. 2017 Jun;116(12):1621–6.

- 303. Schäffer AA. Digenic inheritance in medical genetics. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2013 Oct;50(10):641.
- 304. McGuigan A, Whitworth J, Andreou A, Hearn T, Tischkowitz M, Maher ER. Multilocus Inherited Neoplasia Allele Syndrome (MINAS): an update. Eur J Hum Genet. 2022 Mar;30(3):265–70.
- 305. Whitworth J, Skytte AB, Sunde L, Lim DH, Arends MJ, Happerfield L, et al. Multilocus Inherited Neoplasia Alleles Syndrome: A Case Series and Review. JAMA Oncology. 2016 Mar 1;2(3):373–9.
- 306. Kuhlen M, Borkhardt A. Trio sequencing in pediatric cancer and clinical implications. EMBO Molecular Medicine [Internet]. 2018 Apr [cited 2024 Jun 19];10(4). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5887902/
- 307. Smith A, Moran A, Boyd MC, Bulman M, Shenton A, Smith L, et al. Phenocopies in BRCA1 and BRCA2 families: evidence for modifier genes and implications for screening. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2007 Jan;44(1):10.
- 308. Polak P, Kim J, Braunstein LZ, Tiao G, Karlic R, Rosebrock D, et al. A mutational signature reveals alterations underlying deficient homologous recombination repair in breast cancer. Nature genetics. 2017 Oct;49(10):1476.
- 309. Jahn A, Rump A, Widmann TJ, Heining C, Horak P, Hutter B, et al. Comprehensive cancer predisposition testing within the prospective MASTER trial identifies hereditary cancer patients and supports treatment decisions for rare cancers. Annals of Oncology. 2022 Nov 1;33(11):1186– 99.
- 310. Schamschula E, Kinzel M, Wernstedt A, Oberhuber K, Gottschling H, Schnaiter S, et al. Teenage-Onset Colorectal Cancers in a Digenic Cancer Predisposition Syndrome Provide Clues for the Interaction between Mismatch Repair and Polymerase δ Proofreading Deficiency in Tumorigenesis. Biomolecules [Internet]. 2022 Oct [cited 2024 Jun 19];12(10). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC9599501/
- 311. Berrino E, Filippi R, Visintin C, Peirone S, Fenocchio E, Farinea G, et al. Collision of germline POLE and PMS2 variants in a young patient treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors. npj Precis Onc. 2022 Mar 8;6(1):1–9.
- 312. Michaeli O, Ladany H, Erez A, Ben Shachar S, Izraeli S, Lidzbarsky G, et al. Di-genic inheritance of germline POLE and PMS2 pathogenic variants causes a unique condition associated with pediatric cancer predisposition. Clinical Genetics. 2022;101(4):442–7.
- 313. Schubert SA, Ruano D, Tiersma Y, Drost M, Wind N de, Nielsen M, et al. Digenic inheritance of MSH6 and MUTYH variants in familial colorectal cancer. Genes, Chromosomes & Cancer. 2020 Dec;59(12):697.
- 314. Gu Y, Parker A, Wilson TM, Bai H, Chang DY, Lu AL. Human MutY Homolog, a DNA Glycosylase Involved in Base Excision Repair, Physically and Functionally Interacts with Mismatch Repair Proteins Human MutS Homolog 2/Human MutS Homolog 6 *. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2002 Mar 29;277(13):11135–42.
- 315. Morak M, Massdorf T, Sykora H, Kerscher M, Holinski-Feder E. First evidence for digenic inheritance in hereditary colorectal cancer by mutations in the base excision repair genes. European Journal of Cancer. 2011 May 1;47(7):1046–55.

- 316. Fostier W, Husain A, Namini S, Nik-Zainal S, Rajan N. CPC12 Coinheritance of BRCA2 and CYLD germline pathogenic variants associated with targetable metastatic malignant cylindroma. British Journal of Dermatology. 2023 Jun 1;188(Supplement_4):ljad113.026.
- 317. Le Page C, Rahimi K, Rodrigues M, Heinzelmann-Schwarz V, Recio N, Tommasi S, et al. Clinicopathological features of women with epithelial ovarian cancer and double heterozygosity for *BRCA1* and *BRCA2*: A systematic review and case report analysis. Gynecologic Oncology. 2020 Feb 1;156(2):377–86.
- 318. Vietri MT, Caliendo G, D'Elia G, Resse M, Casamassimi A, Minucci PB, et al. Five Italian Families with Two Mutations in BRCA Genes. Genes (Basel). 2020 Dec 3;11(12):1451.
- 319. Sokolenko AP, Bogdanova N, Kluzniak W, Preobrazhenskaya EV, Kuligina ES, Iyevleva AG, et al. Double heterozygotes among breast cancer patients analyzed for BRCA1, CHEK2, ATM, NBN/NBS1, and BLM germ-line mutations. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014 Jun 1;145(2):553–62.
- 320. Stolarova L, Jelinkova S, Storchova R, Machackova E, Zemankova P, Vocka M, et al. Identification of Germline Mutations in Melanoma Patients with Early Onset, Double Primary Tumors, or Family Cancer History by NGS Analysis of 217 Genes. Biomedicines. 2020 Oct;8(10):404.
- 321. Njoroge SW, Burgess KR, Cobleigh MA, Alnajar HH, Gattuso P, Usha L. Hereditary diffuse gastric cancer and lynch syndromes in a BRCA1/2 negative breast cancer patient. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2017 Nov 1;166(1):315–9.
- 322. Stradella A, Valle J del, Rofes P, Feliubadaló L, Garces ÈG, Velasco À, et al. Does multilocus inherited neoplasia alleles syndrome have severe clinical expression? Journal of Medical Genetics. 2019 Aug 1;56(8):521–5.
- 323. Nachtegael C, Gravel B, Dillen A, Smits G, Nowé A, Papadimitriou S, et al. Scaling up oligogenic diseases research with OLIDA: the Oligogenic Diseases Database. Database. 2022 Jan 1;2022:baac023.
- 324. Liu Y, Gusev A, Heng YJ, Alexandrov LB, Kraft P. Somatic mutational profiles and germline polygenic risk scores in human cancer. Genome Medicine. 2022 Feb 11;14(1):14.
- 325. Park JH, Gail MH, Weinberg CR, Carroll RJ, Chung CC, Wang Z, et al. Distribution of allele frequencies and effect sizes and their interrelationships for common genetic susceptibility variants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2011 Nov;108(44):18026–31.
- 326. Zhang Y, Qi G, Park JH, Chatterjee N. Estimation of complex effect-size distributions using summary-level statistics from genome-wide association studies across 32 complex traits. Nat Genet. 2018 Sep;50(9):1318–26.
- 327. Mavaddat N, Michailidou K, Lush M, Fachal L, Lee A, Tyrer JP, et al. Polygenic Risk Scores for Prediction of Breast Cancer and Breast Cancer Subtypes. Am J Hum Genet. 2019 Jan 3;104(1):21– 34.
- 328. Fritsche LG, Gruber SB, Wu Z, Schmidt EM, Zawistowski M, Moser SE, et al. Association of Polygenic Risk Scores for Multiple Cancers in a Phenome-wide Study: Results from The Michigan Genomics Initiative. The American Journal of Human Genetics. 2018 Jun 7;102(6):1048–61.

- 329. Graff RE, Cavazos TB, Thai KK, Kachuri L, Rashkin SR, Hoffman JD, et al. Cross-cancer evaluation of polygenic risk scores for 16 cancer types in two large cohorts. Nat Commun. 2021 Feb 12;12:970.
- 330. Cano-Gamez E, Trynka G. From GWAS to Function: Using Functional Genomics to Identify the Mechanisms Underlying Complex Diseases. Front Genet [Internet]. 2020 May 13 [cited 2024 May 5];11.
 Available
 https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/genetics/articles/10.3389/fgene.2020.00424/full
- 331. Mars N, Koskela JT, Ripatti P, Kiiskinen TTJ, Havulinna AS, Lindbohm JV, et al. Polygenic and clinical risk scores and their impact on age at onset and prediction of cardiometabolic diseases and

common cancers. Nat Med. 2020 Apr;26(4):549-57.

- 332. Maas P, Barrdahl M, Joshi AD, Auer PL, Gaudet MM, Milne RL, et al. Breast Cancer Risk From Modifiable and Nonmodifiable Risk Factors Among White Women in the United States. JAMA Oncol. 2016 Oct 1;2(10):1295–302.
- 333. Schumacher FR, Al Olama AA, Berndt SI, Benlloch S, Ahmed M, Saunders EJ, et al. Association analyses of more than 140,000 men identify 63 new prostate cancer susceptibility loci. Nat Genet. 2018 Jul;50(7):928–36.
- 334. Archambault AN, Su YR, Jeon J, Thomas M, Lin Y, Conti DV, et al. Cumulative Burden of Colorectal Cancer-Associated Genetic Variants is More Strongly Associated With Early-onset vs Late-onset Cancer. Gastroenterology. 2020 Apr;158(5):1274-1286.e12.
- 335. Trendowski MR, Lusk CM, Wenzlaff AS, Neslund-Dudas C, Gadgeel SM, Soubani AO, et al. Assessing a Polygenic Risk Score for Lung Cancer Susceptibility in Non-Hispanic White and Black Populations. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 2023 Nov 1;32(11):1558–63.
- 336. Permuth JB, Pirie A, Ann Chen Y, Lin HY, Reid BM, Chen Z, et al. Exome genotyping arrays to identify rare and low frequency variants associated with epithelial ovarian cancer risk. Hum Mol Genet. 2016 Aug 15;25(16):3600–12.
- 337. Barnes DR, Rookus MA, McGuffog L, Leslie G, Mooij TM, Dennis J, et al. Polygenic risk scores and breast and epithelial ovarian cancer risks for carriers of BRCA1 and BRCA2 pathogenic variants. Genet Med. 2020;22(10):1653–66.
- 338. Muranen TA, Greco D, Blomqvist C, Aittomäki K, Khan S, Hogervorst F, et al. Genetic modifiers of CHEK2*1100delC-associated breast cancer risk. Genet Med. 2017 May;19(5):599–603.
- 339. Allman R, Dite GS, Hopper JL, Gordon O, Starlard-Davenport A, Chlebowski R, et al. SNPs and breast cancer risk prediction for African American and Hispanic women. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2015;154(3):583–9.
- 340. Ho WK, Tan MM, Mavaddat N, Tai MC, Mariapun S, Li J, et al. European polygenic risk score for prediction of breast cancer shows similar performance in Asian women. Nat Commun. 2020 Jul 31;11(1):3833.
- 341. Fahed AC, Philippakis AA, Khera AV. The potential of polygenic scores to improve cost and efficiency of clinical trials. Nat Commun. 2022 May 25;13(1):2922.
- 342. Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SAJR, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. Nature. 2013 Aug 22;500(7463):415–21.

- 343. Alexandrov LB, Kim J, Haradhvala NJ, Huang MN, Tian Ng AW, Wu Y, et al. The repertoire of mutational signatures in human cancer. Nature. 2020 Feb;578(7793):94–101.
- 344. Alexandrov LB, Jones PH, Wedge DC, Sale JE, Campbell PJ, Nik-Zainal S, et al. Clock-like mutational processes in human somatic cells. Nat Genet. 2015 Dec;47(12):1402–7.
- 345. Auroy S, Avril MF, Chompret A, Pham D, Goldstein AM, Bianchi-Scarrà G, et al. Sporadic multiple primary melanoma cases: CDKN2A germline mutations with a founder effect. Genes, Chromosomes and Cancer. 2001;32(3):195–202.
- 346. Renaux-Petel M, Charbonnier F, Théry JC, Fermey P, Lienard G, Bou J, et al. Contribution of de novo and mosaic TP53 mutations to Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2018 Mar 1;55(3):173–80.
- 347. Golmard L, Delnatte C, Laugé A, Moncoutier V, Lefol C, Abidallah K, et al. Breast and ovarian cancer predisposition due to de novo BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. Oncogene. 2016 Mar;35(10):1324–7.
- 348. Antonucci I, Provenzano M, Sorino L, Rodrigues M, Palka G, Stuppia L. A new case of "de novo"
 BRCA1 mutation in a patient with early-onset breast cancer. Clin Case Rep. 2017 Jan 28;5(3):238–40.
- 349. Alhopuro P, Vainionpää R, Anttonen AK, Aittomäki K, Nevanlinna H, Pöyhönen M. Constitutional mosaicism for a BRCA2 mutation as a cause of early-onset breast cancer. Fam Cancer. 2020;19(4):307–10.
- 350. Whitworth J, Hoffman J, Chapman C, Ong KR, Lalloo F, Evans DG, et al. A clinical and genetic analysis of multiple primary cancer referrals to genetics services. Eur J Hum Genet. 2015 May;23(5):581–7.
- 351. Zhuang Z, Yang C, Lorenzo F, Merino M, Fojo T, Kebebew E, et al. Somatic HIF2α gain-of-function mutations in paraganglioma and somatostatinoma associated with polycythemia. N Engl J Med. 2012 Sep 6;367(10):922–30.
- 352. NHS UK. Oligogenic definition [Internet]. Genomics Education Programme. [cited 2025 Jan 5]. Available from: https://www.genomicseducation.hee.nhs.uk/glossary/oligogenic/
- 353. Elze L, van der Post RS, Vos JR, Mensenkamp AR, Pamidimarri Naga S, Hampstead JE, et al. Genomic instability in non–breast or ovarian malignancies of individuals with germline pathogenic variants in BRCA1/2. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2024 Jul 3;116(12):1904–13.
- 354. Kuhlen M, Hofmann TG, Golas MM. Puzzling phenomenon: adult-onset cancer predisposition and pediatric cancer. Trends in Cancer. 2024 Jun 1;10(6):481–5.
- 355. Phelan CM, Iqbal J, Lynch HT, Lubinski J, Gronwald J, Moller P, et al. Incidence of colorectal cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: results from a follow-up study. Br J Cancer. 2014 Jan 21;110(2):530–4.
- 356. Sopik V, Phelan C, Cybulski C, Narod SA. BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations and the risk for colorectal cancer. Clinical Genetics. 2015;87(5):411–8.
- 357. Cullinane CM, Creavin B, O'Connell EP, Kelly L, O'Sullivan MJ, Corrigan MA, et al. Risk of colorectal cancer associated with BRCA1 and/or BRCA2 mutation carriers: systematic review and meta-analysis. BJS (British Journal of Surgery). 2020;107(8):951–9.

- 358. Lee YC, Lee YL, Li CY. BRCA Genes and Related Cancers: A Meta-Analysis from Epidemiological Cohort Studies. Medicina. 2021 Sep;57(9):905.
- 359. Grinshpun A, Halpern N, Granit RZ, Hubert A, Hamburger T, Laitman Y, et al. Phenotypic characteristics of colorectal cancer in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers. Eur J Hum Genet. 2018 Mar;26(3):382–6.
- 360. Silvestri V, Leslie G, Barnes DR, Group and the C, Agnarsson BA, Aittomäki K, et al. Characterization of the Cancer Spectrum in Men With Germline BRCA1 and BRCA2 Pathogenic Variants: Results From the Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2 (CIMBA). JAMA Oncol. 2020 Aug 1;6(8):1218–30.
- 361. Rose M, Burgess JT, O'Byrne K, Richard DJ, Bolderson E. PARP Inhibitors: Clinical Relevance, Mechanisms of Action and Tumor Resistance. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology. 2020;8:879.
- 362. Lavie O, Narod S, Lejbkowicz F, Dishon S, Goldberg Y, Gemer O, et al. Double heterozygosity in the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in the Jewish population. Annals of Oncology. 2011 Apr 1;22(4):964–6.
- 363. Heidemann S, Fischer C, Engel C, Fischer B, Harder L, Schlegelberger B, et al. Double heterozygosity for mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 in German breast cancer patients: implications on test strategies and clinical management. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012 Aug 1;134(3):1229–39.
- 364. Hall MJ, Bernhisel R, Hughes E, Larson K, Rosenthal ET, Singh NA, et al. Germline pathogenic variants in the Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM) gene are associated with high and moderate risks for multiple cancers. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2021 Apr;14(4):433–40.
- 365. Levy-Lahad E, Friedman E. Cancer risks among BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. Br J Cancer. 2007 Jan 15;96(1):11–5.
- 366. Whitworth J, Smith PS, Martin JE, West H, Luchetti A, Rodger F, et al. Comprehensive Cancer-Predisposition Gene Testing in an Adult Multiple Primary Tumor Series Shows a Broad Range of Deleterious Variants and Atypical Tumor Phenotypes. The American Journal of Human Genetics. 2018 Jul 5;103(1):3–18.
- 367. Liu YL, Cadoo KA, Mukherjee S, Khurram A, Tkachuk K, Kemel Y, et al. Multiple Primary Cancers in Patients Undergoing Tumor-Normal Sequencing Define Novel Associations. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 2022 Feb 7;31(2):362–71.
- 368. Gaspar TB, Sá A, Lopes JM, Sobrinho-Simões M, Soares P, Vinagre J. Telomere Maintenance Mechanisms in Cancer. Genes. 2018 May;9(5):241.
- 369. Smedby KE, Foo JN, Skibola CF, Darabi H, Conde L, Hjalgrim H, et al. GWAS of Follicular Lymphoma Reveals Allelic Heterogeneity at 6p21.32 and Suggests Shared Genetic Susceptibility with Diffuse Large B-cell Lymphoma. PLOS Genetics. 2011 Apr 21;7(4):e1001378.
- 370. Karnes JH, Bastarache L, Shaffer CM, Gaudieri S, Xu Y, Glazer AM, et al. Phenome-wide scanning identifies multiple diseases and disease severity phenotypes associated with HLA variants. Science Translational Medicine. 2017 May 10;9(389):eaai8708.
- 371. Huppi K, Pitt JJ, Wahlberg BM, Caplen NJ. The 8q24 Gene Desert: An Oasis of Non-Coding Transcriptional Activity. Front Genet [Internet]. 2012 Apr 30 [cited 2024 Jun 20];3. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/genetics/articles/10.3389/fgene.2012.00069/full

- 372. Rashkin SR, Graff RE, Kachuri L, Thai KK, Alexeeff SE, Blatchins MA, et al. Pan-cancer study detects genetic risk variants and shared genetic basis in two large cohorts. Nat Commun. 2020 Sep 4;11(1):4423.
- 373. Lindström S, Finucane H, Bulik-Sullivan B, Schumacher FR, Amos CI, Hung RJ, et al. Quantifying the Genetic Correlation between Multiple Cancer Types. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention. 2017 Aug 31;26(9):1427–35.
- 374. Hoffmann TJ, Sakoda LC, Shen L, Jorgenson E, Habel LA, Liu J, et al. Imputation of the Rare HOXB13 G84E Mutation and Cancer Risk in a Large Population-Based Cohort. PLOS Genetics. 2015 Jan 28;11(1):e1004930.
- 375. Khera AV, Chaffin M, Aragam KG, Haas ME, Roselli C, Choi SH, et al. Genome-wide polygenic scores for common diseases identify individuals with risk equivalent to monogenic mutations. Nat Genet. 2018 Sep;50(9):1219–24.
- 376. Sussner KM, Jandorf L, Valdimarsdottir HB. Educational needs about cancer family history and genetic counseling for cancer risk among frontline healthcare clinicians in New York City. Genet Med. 2011 Sep;13(9):785–93.
- 377. Frezzo TM, Rubinstein WS, Dunham D, Ormond KE. The genetic family history as a risk assessment tool in internal medicine. Genet Med. 2003 Mar;5(2):84–91.
- 378. Riley BD, Culver JO, Skrzynia C, Senter LA, Peters JA, Costalas JW, et al. Essential Elements of Genetic Cancer Risk Assessment, Counseling, and Testing: Updated Recommendations of the National Society of Genetic Counselors. Journal of Genetic Counseling. 2012;21(2):151–61.
- 379. Murff HJ, Spigel DR, Syngal S. Does This Patient Have a Family History of Cancer?An Evidence-Based Analysis of the Accuracy of Family Cancer History. JAMA. 2004 Sep 22;292(12):1480–9.
- 380. Daly MB, Pal T, Maxwell KN, Churpek J, Kohlmann W, AlHilli Z, et al. NCCN Guidelines[®] Insights: Genetic/Familial High-Risk Assessment: Breast, Ovarian, and Pancreatic, Version 2.2024: Featured Updates to the NCCN Guidelines. Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network. 2023 Oct 1;21(10):1000–10.
- 381. Ritchie JB, Bellcross C, Allen CG, Frey L, Morrison H, Schiffman JD, et al. Evaluation and comparison of hereditary Cancer guidelines in the population. Hered Cancer Clin Pract. 2021 Jul 17;19:31.
- 382. Rana HQ, Gelman R, LaDuca H, McFarland R, Dalton E, Thompson J, et al. Differences in TP53 Mutation Carrier Phenotypes Emerge From Panel-Based Testing. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2018 Aug 1;110(8):863–70.
- 383. Lowstuter K, Espenschied CR, Sturgeon D, Ricker C, Karam R, LaDuca H, et al. Unexpected CDH1 Mutations Identified on Multigene Panels Pose Clinical Management Challenges. JCO Precis Oncol. 2017 Dec;(1):1–12.
- 384. Espenschied CR, LaDuca H, Li S, McFarland R, Gau CL, Hampel H. Multigene Panel Testing Provides a New Perspective on Lynch Syndrome. J Clin Oncol. 2017 Aug 1;35(22):2568–75.
- 385. Kurian AW, Hughes E, Handorf EA, Gutin A, Allen B, Hartman AR, et al. Breast and Ovarian Cancer Penetrance Estimates Derived From Germline Multiple-Gene Sequencing Results in Women. JCO Precis Oncol. 2017 Dec;(1):1–12.

- 386. Hu C, Hart SN, Polley EC, Gnanaolivu R, Shimelis H, Lee KY, et al. Association Between Inherited Germline Mutations in Cancer Predisposition Genes and Risk of Pancreatic Cancer. JAMA. 2018 Jun 19;319(23):2401–9.
- 387. Couch FJ, Shimelis H, Hu C, Hart SN, Polley EC, Na J, et al. Associations Between Cancer Predisposition Testing Panel Genes and Breast Cancer. JAMA Oncol. 2017 Sep 1;3(9):1190–6.
- 388. Antoniou Antonis C., Casadei Silvia, Heikkinen Tuomas, Barrowdale Daniel, Pylkäs Katri, Roberts Jonathan, et al. Breast-Cancer Risk in Families with Mutations in PALB2. New England Journal of Medicine. 2014;371(6):497–506.
- 389. Palles C, Cazier JB, Howarth KM, Domingo E, Jones AM, Broderick P, et al. Germline mutations in the proof-reading domains of POLE and POLD1 predispose to colorectal adenomas and carcinomas. Nat Genet. 2013 Feb;45(2):136–44.
- 390. Witkowski L, Carrot-Zhang J, Albrecht S, Fahiminiya S, Hamel N, Tomiak E, et al. Germline and somatic SMARCA4 mutations characterize small cell carcinoma of the ovary, hypercalcemic type. Nat Genet. 2014 May;46(5):438–43.
- 391. LaDuca H, Polley EC, Yussuf A, Hoang L, Gutierrez S, Hart SN, et al. A clinical guide to hereditary cancer panel testing: evaluation of gene-specific cancer associations and sensitivity of genetic testing criteria in a cohort of 165,000 high-risk patients. Genet Med. 2020;22(2):407–15.
- 392. Samadder NJ, Riegert-Johnson D, Boardman L, Rhodes D, Wick M, Okuno S, et al. Comparison of Universal Genetic Testing vs Guideline-Directed Targeted Testing for Patients With Hereditary Cancer Syndrome. JAMA Oncology. 2021 Feb 1;7(2):230–7.
- 393. Mandelker D, Zhang L, Kemel Y, Stadler ZK, Joseph V, Zehir A, et al. Mutation Detection in Patients With Advanced Cancer by Universal Sequencing of Cancer-Related Genes in Tumor and Normal DNA vs Guideline-Based Germline Testing. JAMA. 2017 Sep 5;318(9):825–35.
- 394. di Masi A. May a missense mutation be more deleterious than a truncating mutation? IUBMB Life. 2008;60(1):79–81.
- 395. Parsons MT, Hoya M de la, Richardson ME, Tudini E, Anderson M, Berkofsky-Fessler W, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for gene-specific ACMG/AMP variant classification from the ClinGen ENIGMA BRCA1 and BRCA2 Variant Curation Expert Panel. The American Journal of Human Genetics. 2024 Sep 5;111(9):2044–58.
- 396. Kensler TW, Spira A, Garber JE, Szabo E, Lee JJ, Dong Z, et al. Transforming Cancer Prevention through Precision Medicine and Immune-oncology. Cancer Prevention Research. 2016 Jan 6;9(1):2–10.

Annexes

Digenic Inheritance of Mutations in Homologous Recombination Genes in Cancer Patients. Supplementary data

DNA extraction methods

STARlet

Germline DNA was extracted from 200 µl of peripheral blood using the NucleoMag Blood kit (Macherey-Nagel) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The NucleoMag[®] Blood 200 µL procedure is based on reversible adsorption of nucleic acids to paramagnetic beads under appropriate buffer conditions.

Finally, highly purified DNA was eluted with low-salt Elution Buffer MBL5 (100 μ l) and directly used for downstream applications. The protocol was automated on a Starlet (Hamilton) robot.

QIAcube

Germline DNA was extracted from 200 μ l of peripheral blood using the QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kits (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The QIAamp DNA Blood Kit provided silicamembrane-based DNA purification. During the DNA purification procedure, DNA bound specifically to the QIAamp silica-gel membrane while contaminants passed through. PCR inhibitors, such as divalent cations and proteins, were completely removed in two efficient wash steps, leaving pure DNA to be eluted in water (100 μ l). The protocol was automated on a QiaCube (Qiagen) robot.

Genes ´ accession numbers

Gene	SureMASTR	Twist
BRCA2	NM_000059.3	NM_000059.4
BRCA1	NM_007294.3	NM_007294.4
ATM	NM_000051.3	NM_000051.4
СНЕК2	NM_007194.3	NM_007194.4

Software used

SeqPilot V4.3.1 (JSI, Ettenheim, GmbH, Germany) was used for Sanger and MLPA.

SeqPilot, module SeqNext v4.3 (JSI, Ettenheim, GmbH, Germany) was used for NGS with Agilent technologies.

ALISSA Interpret v5.4 (Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) was used for NGS with Twist Bioscience.

Table S1. DNA extraction.

	Patient 1		Patient 2	Patie	nt 3	Patient 4	Patient 4 Patient 5			Patient 6		
	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 1	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 1	Sample 1	Sample 2	Sample 1	Sample 2		
Type of sample	Blood	Blood	Blood	Blood	Blood	Blood	Blood	Blood	Blood	Blood		
DNA extraction	QIAcube	STARlet	QIAcube	STARlet	QIAcube	QIAcube	QIAcube	STARlet	STARlet	QIAcube		
method												
Spectroscopic	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop	NanoDrop		
analysis												
Purity (260/280	1.62	2.00	1.80	1.98	1.77	1.62	1.79	2.13	1.91	1.71		
ratio)												
Concentration	25.45	67.76	52.95	208.98	89.13	43.36	56.70	95.46	80.45	50.58		
(ng/ul)												
Sequencing kit	SureMASTR	Sanger	SureMASTR	SureMASTR	Sanger	SureMASTR	High-	Sanger	13-gene	Sanger		
	Hereditary		Hereditary	Hereditary		Hereditary	throughput		Breast			
	Cancer		Cancer	Cancer		Cancer	Breast		cancer panel			
	Agilent kit, 26		Agilent kit,	Agilent kit, 12		Agilent kit, 12	cancer panel		+ MLPA			
	genes		12 genes +	genes + MLPA		genes +	26 genes +					
			MLPA.			MLPA.	MLPA					
			Sanger			Sanger						
Panel	Agilent	-	Agilent	Agilent	-	Agilent	Twist	-	Twist	-		
manufacturer	technologies,		technologies	technologies,		technologies	Bioscience,		Bioscience,			
	Santa Clara,		, Santa	Santa Clara,		, Santa Clara,	San		San			
	CA, USA		Clara, CA,	CA, USA		CA, USA	Francisco,		Francisco,			
			USA				CA, USA)		CA, USA)			
Sequenced	BRCA1,	BRCA2,	BRCA1,	BRCA1,	BRCA2,	BRCA1,	BRCA1,	BRCA1,	BRCA1,	BRCA2,		
genes	BRCA2,	ATM	BRCA2,	BRCA2,	ATM	BRCA2,	BRCA2,	BRCA2	BRCA2,	CHEK2		

PALB2,	PALB2,	PALB2, TP53,	PALB2, TP53,	PALB2, TP53,	PALB2, TP53,
CHEK2,	TP53,	CHEK2,	CHEK2,	CHEK2,	CHEK2,
BARD1,	CHEK2,	MLH1, MSH2,	MLH1,	CDH1,	MLH1,
BRIP1,	MLH1,	MSH6, ATM,	MSH2,	STK11, PTEN,	MSH2,
RAD51C,	MSH2,	BRIP1,	MSH6, ATM,	MLH1,	MSH6, ATM,
RAD51D,	MSH6, ATM,	RAD51C and	BRIP1,	MSH2,	BRIP1,
TP53,	BRIP1,	RAD51D	RAD51C and	MSH6,	RAD51C,
MRE11A,	RAD51C and		RAD51D	МТҮН,	RAD51D,
RAD50, NBN,	RAD51D			EPCAM,	BARD1
FAM175A,				MEN1,	
ATM, STK11,				BRIP1,	
MEN1, PTEN,				RAD51C,	
CDH1,				RAD51D,	
MUTYH, BLM,				ATM, BARD1,	
XRCC2,				RAD50, BLM,	
MLH1,				FAM175A,	
MSH6, PMS2				MRE11A,	
and MSH2				NBN,	
and the 3'				XRCC2,	
UTR of				PMS2	
EPCAM					
	BRCA1,	BRCA1, -	BRCA1,	BRCA1, -	BRCA1, -
	BRCA2	BRCA2	BRCA2	BRCA2,	BRCA2,
				MLH1,	CHEK2
				MSH2, MSH6	c.1100del

MLPA

Amplicon or	Amplicon	-	Amplicon	Amplicon	-	Amplicon	Enrichment	-	enrichment	-
enrichment							method		method	
method										
Reference	hg19	hg19	hg19	hg19	hg19	hg19	hg19	hg19	hg19	hg19
genome										
Bioinformatic	Inhouse	-	Inhouse	Inhouse	-	Inhouse	Inhouse	-	Inhouse	-
pipeline	demultiplexi		demultiplexi	demultiplexin		demultiplexi	Humanomic		Humanomic	
	ng pipeline		ng pipeline	g pipeline		ng pipeline	s pipeline		s pipeline	

Table S2. Primer sequences used.

Patient	Gene	Exon	Forward primer sequence	Reverse primer sequence
Patient 1	BRCA2	11-05	AAGTGCCTGAAAACCAGATG	CAACAAAAGTGCCAGTAGTCA
Patient	ATM	58	GCTTCCCTGTCCAGACTGTT	CACTATCATCCCCCTGCAAC
Patient 2	BRCA2	11-05	AAGTGCCTGAAAACCAGATG	CAACAAAAGTGCCAGTAGTCA
Fatient 2	ATM	58	GCTTCCCTGTCCAGACTGTT	CACTATCATCCCCCTGCAAC
Dationt 2	BRCA2	11-08	TGAGACCATTGAGATCACAGC	TAGTCACAAGTTCCTCAACGCA
Fatients	ATM	51	TGCATTAATCTAGAGTACCCATTAG	GAAATCCTAGGCCTCCCA
Patient 4	BRCA2	11-07	TTGTCAGATTTAACTTTTTTGGAAG	CAACTGGGACACTTTCTTTCAG
Fatient 4	ATM	43	TCAAACTCCTGGGCTCAAGT	CAGTTGTTGTTTAGAATGAGGAGAGA
Pationt 5	BRCA1	10.3-4 (11-03)	GGGCTGGAAGTAAGGAAACAT	ACGCTCTTGTATTATCTGTGG
Fatient 5	BRCA2	18	CAGTGGAATTCTAGAGTCAC	GAAAGATCTCTGGACCTCC
Patient 6	BRCA2	7	GCAATTCAGTAAACGTTAAGTG	GTCAGTTACTAACACACTTATC
	CHEK2	4	GGAGAGCTGGTAATTTGGTCA	CGCCTCAGCCTCCCAAAG



Figure S1. Chromatograms of the variants identified in the patients.



F – forward primer, MUT – Mutant, R – reverse primer WT – wild type

Genetic evaluation of patients with multiple primary cancers. Supplementary data

	P1	P1	P3	P3	P3	Р3	P4	P6	P6	P6	P7	P7	
Signature	Seminoma	Thyroid cancer	Melanoma	Melanoma	Melanoma	Melanoma	Ovarian cancer	Thyroid cancer	Dermatofibroma	Dysplastic nevus	Breast cancer	Thyroid cancer	- Proposed etiology
SBS1 (%)	3.23	3.7	0	0.25	0	0.5	0.43	2.05	9.79	0	5.4	4.4	Clock-like
SBS5 (%)	1.96	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8.56	0	0	0	Clock-like
SBS4 (%)	3.39	0	18.8	13.4	1.7	19	21.7	4.48	0	24.9	2.4	3.2	Tobacco smoking
SBS7b (%)	1.75	2.77	6.01	4.54	3.4	3.6	6.76	1.65	3.79	7.25	0.1	0	UV light
SBS6 (%)	10.8	3.74	12	8.57	2.4	5.7	11.2	13	12.5	11.8	2.1	7.3	Defective DNA mismatch repair
SBS43 (%)	4.05	3	6.94	6.57	4	5.8	3.39	4.39	1	4.62	3.7	4.4	Defective DNA mismatch repair
SBS26 (%)	3.51	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.75	0	5.2	4.9	Defective DNA mismatch repair
SBS18 (%)	0	0	0	0	5.5	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	Damage by ROS
SBS30 (%)	3.35	2.15	0	0	0.2	1.3	0	0	0	0.44	7.8	5.3	Defective BER
CDC04 (04)	1 72	11 0	0.25	<u> </u>	1 /	17	0	2.06	0	0.27	0	17	Activity of activation-induced cytidine
30304 (%)	1.75	11.0	0.25	2.20	1.4	1.7	0	2.00	U	0.37	U	1.7	deaminase
SBS24 (%)	0	0	1.51	0.15	5.8	3.5	5.08	0	1.73	4.56	1.7	0	Aflatoxin exposure
SBS25 (%)	4.47	6.34	0.44	6.77	5.2	4.7	1.38	0	0	0.72	6.5	5.8	CT treatment
SBS31 (%)	5.13	3.82	3.74	4.81	0.9	1.4	0.54	6.29	1.67	1.05	2.2	5.4	Platinum CT treatment
SBS87 (%)	7.82	4.83	9.47	6.89	3.7	3.8	8.76	10.9	14.2	7.19	8	8.6	Thiopurine CT treatment

Supplementary Table I. Mutational signatures analysis of the tumors

BER – base excision repair, CT – chemotherapy, ROS – reactive oxygen species. Mutational signatures with values >5% are in bold.

Gene panel. Cancer-related genes

A1CF	ARHGEF10	BCL2	CALR	CD79B
ABI1	ARHGEF10L	BCL2L12	CAMTA1	CDC73
ABL1	ARHGEF12	BCL3	CANT1	CDH1
ABL2	ARID1A	BCL6	CARD11	CDH10
ACKR3	ARID1B	BCL7A	CARS	CDH11
ACSL3	ARID2	BCL9	CASP3	CDH17
ACSL6	ARNT	BCL9L	CASP8	CDK12
ACVR1	ASPSCR1	BCLAF1	CASP9	CDK4
ACVR2A	ASXL1	BCOR	CBFA2T3	CDK6
AFDN	ASXL2	BCORL1	CBFB	CDKN1A
AFF1	ATF1	BCR	CBL	CDKN1B
AFF3	ATIC	BIRC3	CBLB	CDKN2A
AFF4	ATM	BIRC6	CBLC	CDKN2C
АКАРЭ	ATP1A1	BLM	CCDC6	CDX2
AKT1	ATP2B3	BMP5	CCNB1IP1	CEBPA
AKT2	ATR	BMPR1A	CCNC	CEP89
АКТЗ	ATRX	BRAF	CCND1	CHCHD7
ALDH2	AXIN1	BRCA1	CCND2	CHD2
ALK	AXIN2	BRCA2	CCND3	CHD4
AMER1	B2M	BRD3	CCNE1	CHEK2
ANK1	BAP1	BRD4	CCR4	CHIC2
APC	BARD1	BRIP1	CCR7	CHST11
APOBEC3B	BAX	BTG1	CD209	CIC
AR	BAZ1A	ВТК	CD274	CIITA
ARAF	BCL10	BUB1B	CD28	CLIP1
ARHGAP26	BCL11A	C15orf65	CD74	CLP1
ARHGAP5	BCL11B	CACNA1D	CD79A	CLTC

CLTCL1	CYLD	ELF4	FAM131B	FLCN
CNBD1	CYP2C8	ELK4	FAM135B	FLI1
CNBP	CYSLTR2	ELL	FAM47C	FLNA
CNOT3	DAXX	ELN	FANCA	FLT3
CNTNAP2	DCAF12L2	EML4	FANCC	FLT4
CNTRL	DCC	EP300	FANCD2	FNBP1
COL1A1	DCTN1	EPAS1	FANCE	FOXA1
COL2A1	DDB2	ЕРНАЗ	FANCF	FOXL2
COL3A1	DDIT3	EPHA7	FANCG	FOXO1
COX6C	DDR2	EPS15	FAS	FOXO3
CPEB3	DDX10	ERBB2	FAT1	FOXO4
CREB1	DDX3X	ERBB3	FAT3	FOXP1
CREB3L1	DDX5	ERBB4	FAT4	FOXR1
CREB3L2	DDX6	ERC1	FBLN2	FSTL3
CREBBP	DEK	ERCC2	FBXO11	FUBP1
CRLF2	DGCR8	ERCC3	FBXW7	FUS
CRNKL1	DICER1	ERCC4	FCGR2B	GAS7
CRTC1	DNAJB1	ERCC5	FCRL4	GATA1
CRTC3	DNM2	ERG	FEN1	GATA2
CSF1R	DNMT3A	ESR1	FES	GATA3
CSF3R	DROSHA	ETNK1	FEV	GLI1
CSMD3	DUX4L1	ETV1	FGFR1	GMPS
CTCF	EBF1	ETV4	FGFR1OP	GNA11
CTNNA2	ECT2L	ETV5	FGFR2	GNAQ
CTNNB1	EED	ETV6	FGFR3	GNAS
CTNND1	EGFR	EWSR1	FGFR4	GOLGA5
CTNND2	EIF1AX	EXT1	FH	GOPC
CUL3	EIF3E	EXT2	FHIT	GPC3
CUX1	EIF4A2	EZH2	FIP1L1	GPC5
CXCR4	ELF3	EZR	FKBP9	GPHN

GRIN2A	IDH2	KEAP1	LSM14A	MLLT11
GRM3	IGF2BP2	KIAA1549	LYL1	MLLT3
H3F3A	IGH	KIF5B	LZTR1	MLLT6
H3F3B	IGK	KIT	MACC1	MN1
HERPUD1	IGL	KLF4	MAF	MNX1
HEY1	ІКВКВ	KLF6	MAFB	MPL
HIF1A	IKZF1	KLK2	MALAT1	MRTFA
HIP1	IL2	KMT2A	MALT1	MSH2
HIST1H3B	IL21R	KMT2C	MAML2	MSH6
HIST1H4I	IL6ST	KMT2D	MAP2K1	MSI2
HLA-A	IL7R	KNL1	MAP2K2	MSN
HLF	IRF4	KNSTRN	MAP2K4	MTCP1
HMGA1	IRS4	KRAS	MAP3K1	MTOR
HMGA2	ISX	KTN1	MAP3K13	MUC1
HMGN2P46	ITGAV	LARP4B	MAPK1	MUC16
HNF1A	ΙΤΚ	LASP1	MAX	MUC4
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1	ITK JAK1	LASP1 LATS1	MAX MB21D2	MUC4 MUTYH
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3	ITK JAK1 JAK2	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2	MAX MB21D2 MDM2	MUC4 MUTYH MYB
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYD88
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11 HOXC13	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A KAT6B	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1 LHFPL6	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12 MEN1	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYD88 MYH11
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11 HOXC13 HOXD11	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A KAT6B KAT7	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1 LHFPL6 LIFR	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12 MEN1 MET	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYD88 MYH11 MYH9
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11 HOXC13 HOXD11 HOXD13	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A KAT6B KAT7 KCNJ5	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1 LHFPL6 LIFR LMNA	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12 MEN1 MET MGMT	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYD88 MYH11 MYH9 MYO5A
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11 HOXC13 HOXD11 HOXD13 HRAS	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A KAT6B KAT7 KCNJ5 KDM5A	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1 LHFPL6 LIFR LMNA LMO1	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12 MEN1 MET MGMT MITF	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYD88 MYH11 MYH9 MYO5A MYOD1
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11 HOXC13 HOXD11 HOXD13 HRAS HSP90AA1	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A KAT6B KAT7 KCNJ5 KDM5A KDM5C	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1 LHFPL6 LIFR LMNA LMO1 LMO2	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12 MEN1 MET MGMT MITF MLF1	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYD88 MYH11 MYH9 MYO5A MYOD1 N4BP2
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11 HOXC13 HOXD11 HOXD13 HRAS HSP90AA1 HSP90AB1	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A KAT6B KAT7 KCNJ5 KDM5A KDM5C KDM6A	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1 LHFPL6 LIFR LMNA LMO1 LMO2 LPP	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12 MEN1 MET MGMT MITF MLF1 MLF1	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYD88 MYH11 MYH9 MYO5A MYOD1 N4BP2 NAB2
HNF1A HNRNPA2B1 HOOK3 HOXA11 HOXA13 HOXA13 HOXA9 HOXC11 HOXC13 HOXC13 HOXD11 HOXD13 HRAS HSP90AA1 HSP90AB1 ID3	ITK JAK1 JAK2 JAK3 JAZF1 JUN KAT6A KAT6B KAT7 KCNJ5 KDM5A KDM5A KDM5A KDM6A	LASP1 LATS1 LATS2 LCK LCP1 LEF1 LEPROTL1 LHFPL6 LIFR LMNA LMO1 LMO2 LPP LRIG3	MAX MB21D2 MDM2 MDM4 MDS2 MECOM MED12 MEN1 MET MGMT MITF MLF1 MLF1 MLH1 MLLT1	MUC4 MUTYH MYB MYC MYCL MYCN MYCN MYD88 MYH11 MYH9 MYO5A MYOD1 N4BP2 NAB2 NACA

NBN	NTRK3	PICALM	PRKCB	RECQL4
NCKIPSD	NUMA1	РІКЗСА	PRPF40B	REL
NCOA1	NUP214	РІКЗСВ	PRRX1	RET
NCOA2	NUP98	PIK3R1	PSIP1	RFWD3
NCOA4	NUTM1	PIM1	PTCH1	RGPD3
NCOR1	NUTM2B	PLAG1	PTEN	RGS7
NCOR2	NUTM2D	PLCG1	PTK6	RHOA
NDRG1	OLIG2	PML	PTPN11	RHOH
NF1	OMD	PMS1	PTPN13	RMI2
NF2	P2RY8	PMS2	PTPN6	RNF213
NFATC2	PABPC1	POLD1	PTPRB	RNF43
NFE2L2	PAFAH1B2	POLE	PTPRC	ROBO2
NFIB	PALB2	POLG	PTPRD	ROS1
NFKB2	PATZ1	POLQ	PTPRK	RPL10
NFKBIE	PAX3	POT1	PTPRT	RPL22
NIN	PAX5	POU2AF1	PWWP2A	RPL5
NKX2-1	PAX7	POU5F1	QKI	RPN1
NONO	PAX8	PPARG	RABEP1	RSPO2
NOTCH1	PBRM1	PPFIBP1	RAC1	RSPO3
NOTCH2	PBX1	PPM1D	RAD17	RUNX1
NPM1	PCBP1	PPP2R1A	RAD21	RUNX1T1
NR4A3	PCM1	PPP6C	RAD51B	S100A7
NRAS	PDCD1LG2	PRCC	RAF1	SALL4
NRG1	PDE4DIP	PRDM1	RALGDS	SBDS
NSD1	PDGFB	PRDM16	RANBP2	SDC4
NSD2	PDGFRA	PRDM2	RAP1GDS1	SDHA
NSD3	PDGFRB	PREX2	RARA	SDHAF2
NT5C2	PER1	PRF1	RB1	SDHB
NTHL1	PHF6	PRKACA	RBM10	SDHC
NTRK1	РНОХ2В	PRKAR1A	RBM15	SDHD

SEPT5	SND1	TAL2	TP63	WWTR1
SEPT6	SNX29	TBL1XR1	ТРМЗ	XPA
SEPT9	SOCS1	ТВХЗ	TPM4	XPC
SET	SOX2	TCEA1	TPR	XPO1
SETBP1	SOX21	TCF12	TRA	YWHAE
SETD1B	SPECC1	TCF3	TRAF7	ZBTB16
SETD2	SPEN	TCF7L2	TRB	ZCCHC8
SETDB1	SPOP	TCL1A	TRD	ZEB1
SF3B1	SRC	TEC	TRIM24	ZFHX3
SFPQ	SRGAP3	TENT5C	TRIM27	ZMYM2
SFRP4	SRSF2	TERT	TRIM33	<i>ZMYM</i> 3
SGK1	SRSF3	TET1	TRIP11	ZNF331
SH2B3	SS18	TET2	TRRAP	ZNF384
SH3GL1	SS18L1	TFE3	TSC1	ZNF429
SHTN1	SSX1	TFEB	TSC2	ZNF479
SIRPA	SSX2	TFG	TSHR	ZNF521
SIX1	SSX4	TFPT	U2AF1	ZNRF3
SIX2	STAG1	TFRC	UBR5	ZRSR2
SKI	STAG2	TGFBR2	USP44	ABRAXAS1
SLC34A2	STAT3	THRAP3	USP6	ACVRL1
SLC45A3	STAT5B	TLX1	USP8	AIP
SMAD2	STAT6	ТLXЗ	VAV1	AKT1
SMAD3	STIL	TMEM127	VHL	ALK
SMAD4	STK11	TMPRSS2	VTI1A	ALKBH2
SMARCA4	STRN	TNC	WAS	ALKBH3
SMARCB1	SUFU	TNFAIP3	WDCP	ANKRD26
SMARCD1	SUZ12	TNFRSF14	WIF1	APC
SMARCE1	SYK	TNFRSF17	WNK2	APEX1
SMC1A	TAF15	TOP1	WRN	APEX2
SMO	TAL1	TP53	WT1	APLF

ΑΡΤΧ	CHK1	ETV6	GTF2H1	MGMT
ATM	CLK2	EXO1	GTF2H2	MITF
ATR	CTNNA1	EXT1	GTF2H3	MLH1
ATRIP	CYLD	EXT2	GTF2H4	MLH3
AXIN2	DCLRE1A	EZH2	GTF2H5	MMS19
BAP1	DCLRE1B	FAAP20	H2AFX	MNAT1
BARD1	DCLRE1C	FAAP24	HELQ	MPG
BLM	DDB1	FAM111B	HLTF	MRE11
BMPR1A	DDB2	FAN1	HNF1A	MSH2
BRAF	DDX41	FANCA	HNF1B	MSH3
BRCA1	DICER1	FANCB	HOXB13	MSH4
BRCA2	DIS3L2	FANCC	HRAS	MSH5
BRIP1	DMC1	FANCD2	HUS1	MSH6
BUB1B	DKC1	FANCE	IKZF1	MUS81
CASR	DSS1	FANCF	KIF1B	MUTYH
CBL	DUT	FANCG	KIT	NBN
CCNH	EFL1	FANCI	KITLG	NABP2
CD70	EGFR	FANCL	KRAS	NEIL1
CDC73	ELANE	FANCM	LIG1	NEIL2
CDH1	EME1	FEN1	LIG3	NEIL3
CDK4	EME2	FH	LIG4	NF1
CDK7	ENDOV	FLCN	LZTR1	NF2
CDKN1B	EPCAM	GALNT12	MAP2K1	NHEJ1
CDKN1C	ERCC1	GATA2	MAP2K2	NRAS
CDKN2A	ERCC2	GDNF	MAX	NSD1
CEBPA	ERCC3	GEN1	MBD4	NSUN2
CEP57	ERCC4	SLX1A	MC1R	NTHL1
CETN2	ERCC5	SLX1B	MDC1	NUDT1
CHAF1A	ERCC6	GPC3	MEN1	OGG1
CHEK2	ERCC8	GREM1	MET	PALB2

PARP1	PRSS1	RHBDF2	SMARCE1	UBE2N
PARP2	PTCH1	RIF1	SMUG1	UNG
PARP3	PTCH2	RIT1	SOS1	UVSSA
PAX5	PTEN	RNF4	SOS2	VHL
PCNA	PTPN11	RNF8	SPO11	WRN
PDGFRA	RAD1	RNF43	SPRED1	WT1
PER1	RAD17	RNF168	SPRTN	XAB2
PHOX2B	RAD18	RPA1	SRP72	XPA
РІКЗСА	RAD23A	RPA2	STK11	ERCC3
PMS1	RAD23B	RPA3	SUFU	XPC
PMS2	RAD50	RPA4	TDG	ERCC2
PMS2L3	RAD51	RPS20	TDP1	DDB2
ΡΝΚΡ	RAD51B	RRAS	TDP2	ERCC4
POLB	RAD51C	RRM2B	TERC	ERCC5
POLD1	RAD51D	RUNX1	TERT	POLH
POLE	RAD52	SAMD9L	TGFBR2	XRCC1
POLG	RAD54L	SBDS	TINF2	XRCC2
POLH	RAD54B	SDHA	TMEM127	XRCC3
POLI	RAD9A	SDHAF2	TOPBP1	XRCC4
POLQ	RAF1	SDHB	TP53	XRCC5
POLK	RASA2	SDHC	TP53BP1	XRCC6
POLL	RB1	SDHD	TREX1	
POLM	RBBP8	SETMAR	TREX2	
POLN	RDM1	SHOC2	TRIP13	
POT1	RECQL	SHPRH	TSC1	
PPM1D	RECQL4	SLX4	TSC2	
PRF1	RECQL5	SMAD4	MPLKIP	
PRKAR1A	REST	SMARCA2	UBE2A	
PRKDC	RET	SMARCA4	UBE2B	
PRPF19	REV1	SMARCB1	UBE2V2	
Posters

Poster 1. Genetics of multiple primary cancers.

Presented at the Télévie seminar in 2022. U Liège, Liège, Belgium.

Presented at the GIGA-Cancer: Evaluation by the SAB in 2023. CHU Liege, Liège, Belgium.

Presented at the Cancer Genetics and Epigenetics Gordon Research Seminar in 2023. Lucca, Italy.

Presented at the Cancer Genetics and Epigenetics Gordon Research Conference in 2023. Lucca, Italy.

Poster 2. Genetics of multiple primary cancers. Presented at the European Society of Human Genetics conference in 2023. Glasgow, Scotland, UK.

Poster 3. Coinheritance of pathogenic variants in ATM and BRCA2 in families with multiple cancers: a case series.

Presented at the Télévie seminar in 2023. UCLouvain, Ottignies-Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium.

Presented at the Belgian Society of Human Genetics in 2023. Charleroi, Belgium.

Poster 4. Aggressive HRD-positive colorectal cancer related to a *BRCA1* germline mutation in young patients. Presented at GIGA-Cancer Day in 2021. ULiège, Liège, Belgium.



Poster 1. Genetics of multiple primary cancers

Poster 2. Genetics of multiple primary cancers



Introduction

Methods

Multiple primary neoplasms (MPN) are the occurrence of more than one synchronous or metachronous cancer in the same patient.

It has previously been observed that genetic susceptibility may be an important cause of MPN.¹

DNA repair pathways detect and repair genetic damage, therefore, various

cancer-related genes are included in them.

There's no clear association between mutations in various genes from the

mas, thyroid cancers, gynecological and central nervous system tumors.

same pathway and MPN predisposition.

Objective: Identification of novel genetic mechanisms associated with risk of tumour

development.

Results and discussion The mapping of the variants into their pathways showed a possible additive effect of these as the cause of the

associated with the disease

We included patients with ≥2 cancers diagnosed before 45 years and no mutations in cancer predisposition

The routine genetic assessment and testing with targeted next-generation

sequencing failed to establish a germline molecular genetic diagnosis

We used whole exome sequencing (WES) of germline and tumoral DNA,

and chromosomal microarray (CMA) on germline DNA to detect variants

genes

cance



Eleven patients were recruited. The patients presented a mean of 3 cancers including melanomas, semino

Table 1. Patient characteristic

	Sex	Age (years)	Cancer type and age at diagnosis	CMA results
P1	м	44	Melanoma at 18, left seminoma at 21, right seminoma a	tarr[hg19] 2q13x1
P2	F	43	Bilateral breast tumor at 23, melanoma	arr[hg19] 16p13.11x3
P3	F	38	Melanoma at 23, 24, 30, 34 and 35	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
P4	F	33	Medulloblastoma at 10, ovary tumor at 26	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
P5	м	42	Colorectal cancer at 37, melanoma	arr[hg19] (1-22)x2, (XY)x1
P6	F	36	Thyroid tumor at 26, melanoma at 28	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
P7	F	44	Breast tumor at 35, thyroid tumor at 36	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
P8	F	52	Breast tumor at 33, thyroid cancer at 38	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
P9	F	38	Schwannoma at 33, hamartoma at 35, leiomyoma at 35	arr[hg19] 8p22x3
P10	F	38	Melanoma at 31, thyroid cancer at 34	arr[hg19] (1-22, X)x2
P11	м	37	Seminoma at 24, bladder cancer at 33, kidney cancer at 34	arr[hg19] 2q13x4

WES of the germline DNA identified 1-3 variants possibly related to the disease in each patient.

Patient	Gene	Variant	Effect	Classification
P1	CHEK2	c1100delC (p.Thr367Metfs*15)	Nonsense	LPV
	EME2	c.964C>T (p.Gln322*)	Nonsense	VUS
	ATRIP	c.1637T>G (p.Leu546Trp)	Missense	VUS
P2	HNF1A	c.92G>A (p.Gly31Asp)	Missense	VUS
	TSC2	c.5383C>T (p.Arg1795Cys)	Missense	VUS
P3	ΑΤΜ	c.8988-1G>A	Splicing	PV
	APC	c.295C>T (p.Arg99Trp)	Missense	VUS
P4	-	-	-	-
P5	ERCC2	c.2260G>C (p.Glu754Gln)	Missense	VUS
P6	RASA2	c.865T>C (p.Tyr289His)	Missense	VUS
P7	RIF1	c.1475A>G (c.1475A>G)	Missense	VUS
P8	CHEK2	c.434G>A (p.Arg145Gln)	Missense	VUS
P9	NF1	c.6851C>T (p.Thr2263lle)	Missense	VUS
	POLD1	c.46A>G (p.Lys16Glu)	Missense	VUS
	SETD6	c.811C>G (p.His271Asp)	Missense	VUS
P10	ATM	c.2057T>A (p.Leu686His)	Missense	VUS
P11	MUTYH	c.536A>G (p.Tvr179Cvs)	Missense	PV

CRC - colorectal cancer, LPV - likely pathogenic variant, MSS - microsatellite stable, RCC - renal cell carcino-Reference transcripts: APC NM_000038.6, ATM NM_000051.3, ATRIP NM_130384.2, BRCA1 NM_007294.3,

Bibliography

1. Vogt A, Schmid S, Heinimann K, Frick H, Herrmann C, Cerny T, et al. Multiple primary tumours: challenges and approaches, a review. ESMO Open. 2017 May 2;2(2):e000172.

2. Helleday T, Petermann E, Lundin C, Hodgson B, Sharma RA. DNA repair pathways as targets for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 2008 Mar;8(3):193-204.

COI disclosure: the authors declare no conflict of interest



Fourteen somatic samples were available for sequencing. All the germline variants were also present in the somatic samples, no second hits were identified in the same genes



0 1-3 3-6 6-9 9-12 12-15 18-21 21-24

Conclusions: Investigations should not be limited to single gene studies in patients/families with multiple and/or early cancers

The genetic analyses should include large gene panels and CNV análisis.

Further studies are needed to investigate the respective role of genetic and epigenetic events in these patients.

Poster 3. Coinheritance of pathogenic variants in ATM and BRCA2 in families with multiple cancers: a

case series.



1. Vietri MT, et al. Five Italian Families with Two Mutations in The development of the cancers at an early age may be the result of a combined effect of the PVs in BRCA2 and BRCA Genes. 2020;11(12):1451. ATM genes. 2. Chatterjee N, et al. Mechanisms of DNA damage, Conclusion As BRCA2 and ATM interact in the HR pathway, an repair and mutagenesis. 2017;58(5):235-63. The risk of cancer in douadditive effect on HR deficiency could be expected. ble heterozygous patients 3. Hall MJ, et al. Germline pathogenic variants in the carrying PVs in the BRCA2 During cascade testing the assessment should not Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM) gene are associand ATM genes is very stop at a single PV. ated with high and moderate risks for multiple canhiah. cers. 2021;14(4):433-40. Genetic or non-genetic factors can influence can-4. Levy-Lahad E, Friedman E, Cancer risks among cer risk in variant carriers.

BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. 2007;96(1):11-5.



Poster 4. Aggressive HRD-positive colorectal cancer related to a *BRCA1* germline mutation in young patients